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Financial Highlights

2006 2005 2004

OPERATING DATA
Investment income $ 176,421 $ 73,302 $ 6,841
Rental revenue 2,402 1.219 -
Other income 19,392 13,564 310
Interest expense 98,299 3371 1,463
Other expenses 39,246 20,554 3,361
-I-HES};;%}%FH.continuing cperatians '''''' $ ) 33,7"60 $ 2327
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated joint ventures 2,960 1,489 —
Provision for income taxes 1.808 900 -
Net income available to common stockholders  § 55902 & 31371 §  2.052
Net income available to common stockholders

per share of common stock, basic $ 2.26 % 1.57 % 0I5
Net income available to common stackholders

per share of common stock, diluted % 215 % 1.51 % 015
FFO per share, basic % 259 1.82 $ 015
FFO per share, diluted $ 2.46 $ 1.76 % Q.15
Weighted average number of shares of common

stock outstanding, basic (in thousands) 24,722 20,027 13,348
Weighted average number of shares of common

stock outstanding, diluted (in thousands) 26,009 20,781 13,41
BALANCE SHEET DATA (% in thousands)
Loans and lending instruments, net $ 244151 $ 1,163,745 $ 395717
Commercial mortgage backed securities, net $ - $ - $ 10,898
Total assets $ 2776113 $ 1,469,810 $ 514,047
Repurchase agreements $ 277412 % 17,366 $ 238,885
Unsecured credit facility % 15,000 $ - $ -
Collateralized debt obligations $ 1,714,250 $ 810,500 $ -
Mortgage payable $ 94 525 % 41,000 % -
Total liabilities $ 2,305,453 $ 1,097,406 $ 245088
Stockholders' equity $ 460,660 $ 372,404 $ 268,959
SUPPLEMENTAL BALANCE SHEET DATA
Common shares outstanding, December 31, 25,878 22,803 18,813
STOCK PERFORMANCE DATA AS OF DECEMBER 31,
Initial public offering price per share $ - — % 15.00
Closing share price $ 3089 % 2278 $ 20.60
Dividends declared for the quarter ended $ 0.56 % 0.475 % Q15
Dividends deciared for the year ended

(annualized in 2004) % 2.08 % 1.495 3 0.60
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Gramercy Capital Corp.

‘generates superior risk-
lac:ljusted returns to our
shareholders by providing
best-in-class financing solu-
ltions and service to our
El)orrowers.
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Total return % to shareholders,

from August 1, 2004 to December 31, 2006
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S&P 500 REITS
NAREIT REAL ESTATE
NAREIT EQUITY REITS
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WE ARE PLEASED TO REPORT THAT IN 2006, OUR SECOND FULL YEAR
OF OPERATIONS, WE REGISTERED SOLID SUCCESS [N ALL MAJOR AREAS
OF OUR BUSINESS. We grew our investment portfolio by 81% to
over $2.2 billion, enhanced our business platform by adding
skilled real estate and asset management professionals in
New York and Los Angeles, and strengthened our capital
base by raising multiple forms of capital.

The result was to solidify our position as a leader among
national providers of commercial real estate finance, and to
again deliver the superior profitability and total return
shareholders expect from Gramercy Capital Corp. Qur
accomplishments result directly from Gramercy's ability to
translate a specific strategic vision into discipltined execu-
tion in constantly changing real estate and capital markets.

Performance

in 2006, Gramercy's total return to shareholders was 47%.
Total return since our initial public offering in August 2004
through year-end 2006 was 139% — among the highest in
our sector,

Gramercy's annualized dividend grew by $0.59 per share, or
39%. Our FFO payout ratio was 81%, consistent with
management’s objective to build equity organically and to
maintain the security and stability of dividend coverage.

Liquidity of our common stock improved during the year,
making it easier and more attractive for institutional and
private investors to own Gramercy shares. Our average daily
volume in 2006 surpassed 77,000 shares, up from an aver-
age of approximately 48,000 in 2005.

Accomplishments

Gramercy achieved record loan production volume of
$2.0 billion in 51 separate transactions, up more than 59%
over 2005. Our floating rate and fixed-rate lending portfo-
lio grew to over $2 billion in 76 different financings.

Net interest income grew to $78.1 million from $39.5 million
while our net interest margin improved to 270 basis points.
This was accomplished with virtually no change in our risk
exposure to underlying commercial real estate collateral.

Gramercy's weighted average last dollar of risk based on “as
is" appraised values was 67% at December 31, 2006 as com-
pared to 66% for 2005. As a cautionary measure,
we increased our loan loss reserve during the year to a
cumulative amount of $2.5 million, or 1 basis points of our
year-end loan balances.

We are very pleased to report that our credit discipline,
expressed through careful business selection, rigorous
loan underwriting and attentive asset management, has
produced an unblemished record of no credit losses.

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. 2006 Annual Report

Prepayments increased during the year, to $810.6 million
from $203.3 million in 2005, and the weighted average life
of our loan portfolic declined slightly, to 2.1 years from 2.3
years. Although prepayments require our direct origination
platform to replace existing loan investments, prepayments
help us recycle capital into new investments, reduce our
exposure to changes in underlying commercial real estate
fundamentals, and demonstrate our outstanding track
record in selecting borrowers/sponsors who achieve their
stated business plans — on-time and on-budget.

A strong capital base, ample liquidity, and market-leading
cost of funds are critical components of our success. We
raised capital during 2006 as growth, prudence and oppor-
tunity dictated.

In January 20086, we issued $50.0 million of 30-year trust
preferred securities at a lower cost of capital than in previ-
ous issuances.

Also in May 2006, we arranged with a syndicate of four
financial institutions a $100.0 million committed, unsecured
revolving credit facility that further improved our ability to
offer tailored, flexible financing solutions to our borrowers,
and to efficiently manage our liquidity and cost of funds.

In May, we issued $79.8 million of common stock on the
day Gramercy acheived its then all-time high share price
of $27.40,

In August, we closed our second $1.0 billion commercial
real estate CDQ at market-leading pricing and subordina-
tion levels. Gramercy's demonstrated success in combining
direct origination, effective asset management, and useful
investor reporting makes Gramercy CRE CDQ bonds a
favorite among fixed income investors. We now have
approximately $1.7 billion of long-term liabilities with a fixed
credit spread through 2010 and 201. Throughout the year,
$283.6 million of capital was recycled into our lending and
net lease investments through targeted sales of loans and a
majority interest in one net lease investment. These sales
generated gains totaling $9.7 million, an increase of 37% over
2005, but still less than 5% of total revenues.

We believe our corporate leverage — measured against
the value of the commercial real estate properties that
underlie our loan portfolio and net lease investment portfo-
lio — is among the lowest of our publicly-traded peers,
affording Gramercy's shareholders meaningful protection
against declining property values, and a very attractive risk-
adjusted return.




Market Outlook

Healthy real estate fundamentals and maturing capital mar-
kets for much of the past decade created unsurpassed con-
ditions for commercial property ownership and financing.
Qur 2005 shareholder letter foresaw a cresting market.
2006 brought increasing stress in the for-sale condominium
market, a segment which Gramercy largely avoided due to
our perception of a forming supply/demand imbalance. The
year was characterized by a growing wave of high-profile
single property purchases, and many large-scale public-to-
private transactions. More recently, a sharp correction in the
residential mortgage market (in which Gramercy has no
involvement) had a slight, but measurable, impact on the
capital markets in which we fund our business.

These factors have caused us to view the commercial prop-
erty markets with increasing caution. Disciplined oppor-
tunism, sophisticated experience in the real estate capital
markets, and strict adherence to our traditional approach to
property underwriting, transaction structuring, and credit
assessment are at the core of Gramercy’s sustained success.
We believe our team, our capital base, and our approach to
investments and asset management position us well to take
advantage of any opportunities presented by changing
market conditions.

Objectives for 2007

In the year ahead, Gramercy will look to extend its growth,
profitability, and shareholder value. We will pursue opportu-
pities, broaden our reach and strive for outperformance with
the discipline, efficiency, and focus for which we are known.
We intend to assert and expand our market leadership by:

+ Improving the efficiency of our léending and net lease
activity — deploying our enlarged direct origination
teams in New York and Los Angeles to better penetrate
existing borrower relationships, capture more refinanc-
ings of existing lpans, and extend our institutional bor-
rower base

+ Reducing the cost, and improving the flexibility, of our
borrowings

« Recycling existing capital, and tapping new sources
of equity capital, to fuel profitable growth in Gramercy's
lending and net lease investing activities, thus minimizing
the need to expand Gramercy's common equity base

» Enhancing our asset management platform to monitor
existing investments, support the introduction of new
lending products, and maintain credit discipline

+ Launching a real estate fixed income securities invest-
ment initiative to anchor a funds management platform,
extend the duration of our asset base, and enlarge our
presence in the real estate capital markets

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, FROM LEFT TO RIGHT.

Bob Foley
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Marc Holliday
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND PRESIDENT

Hugh Hall
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

Andrew W. Mathias
CHIEF INVESTMENT
OFFICER

« Selectively realizing gains in Gramercy's existing loan
and net lease investments, and originating new invest-
ments 10 capture opportunity in changing real estate and
capital markets

Conclusion

We are proud of our accomplishments to date. We are
committed to sustained improvement, and are convinced
that our platform will continue to generate growth, profits
and shareholder value from opportunities created by
changing market conditions.

We thank our borrowers, lenders, employees, board of
directors, and shareholders for their continuing support
of Gramercy's mission.

Sincerely,

H— YA

Marc Holliday Hugh Hall
CHieEr Executwe OFFICER CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
AND PRESIDENT

Andrew Levine
CompLIANCE OQFFICER/
CORPORATE SECRETARY

Gregory F. Hughes
CHier CReDIT OFFICER
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San Francisco's financial district

for an experienced local spon-

sor. Both permanent and subor-

dinate financing was provided

by Gramercy. To maximize its

returns, Gramercy sold the sen-

ior loan and retained the subor-

dinate investment for inclusion

in a subsequent CDO issuance.
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Creating Value l

== PRICE PER SHARE

D DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

. ASSETS (IN BILLIONS)

1Q05

3Q05 1Q06 2Q06 3G086 4Q06

Results | An occurrence or outcome that happens as

a consequence of action, circumstance or premise;

a quantity obtained by calculation; the conclusion.

Gramercy produces strong, consistent resuits
for borrowers, lenders and shareholders.
For borrowers, we deliver tailored financing
solutions with speed, certainty, efficient
underwriting and closing, and attentive post-

closing loan servicing and asset management.

For our lenders, we offer the security of a
well-diversified investment portfolio, rigorous
loan underwriting based on deep market
knowledge and conservative assumptions
regarding property performance and exit sce-
narios, a modest last-dollar risk that consis-
tently averages around 70% of the appraised

value of the commercial properties that
underlay our loans, and superior portfolio

management and investor reporting.

For shareholders, we translate our investment
portfolio’s superior risk-adjusted returns into
reliable growth in FFO, a growing and secure
dividend with a payout ratic ranging around
85%, and a total return through year-end
2006 of 139% since our August 2004
initial public offering. These results are the
direct result of our people, our platform, and
our capital structure.

5
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Case Study

The Betsy Ross Hotel
MIAMI BEACH, FLORIDA

* OCEAN DRIVE BOUTIQUE HOTEL
* 4.5 STAR (POST-RENOVATION}
+* 71 KEYS
+ $15.6 MILLION FIRST
MORTGAGE LOAN

Gramercy provided first mort-
gage interim financing to an
investor group with whom
senior managers at Gramercy
had previously transacted.
Gramercy utilized its in-house
knowledge of the Miami Beach
hotel market, and its substantial
experience underwriting, clos-
ing and servicing loans to other
successful boutigue hotel own-
ers, to provide flexible floating
rate financing. This financing is
enabling the borrower to com-
plete its plan to refurbish and
reposition The Betsy Ross Hotel,

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. 2006 Annual Report
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Form of Investment | $ In MiLLions
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Opportunity | An appropriate or favorable occasion;

a situation or condition favorable for attainment of

a goal; a prospect for advancement or success.

Gramercy moves decisively to exploit oppor-
tunities in all parts of its business. Imbalances
between real estate fundamentals and capita!
flows often create profitable opportunities to
lend, invest in net lease properties, and raise

capital.

Gramercy was a first-mover in providing first
mortgage acquisition financing to well-
capitalized investors who purchased Class A
office space in the San Francisco Bay area
during the early stages of a demand-driven
recovery which is now well into its third

year. We raised new, cost-efficient capital

domestically and overseas by combining our
substantial capital markets experience and
relationships with new financing structures
and techniques. We executed the first com-
mercial real estate CDO comprised primarily
of first mortgage whole loans, which pro-
duced long-term, low-cost debt capital with
which to finance our diverse loan portfolio. In
response to continued declines in capitaliza-
tion rates in the net lease investor market, we
recorded a substantial gain by selling a 75%
interest in cne of our net lease investments
while retaining a 25% interest for future
upside potential.

1
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>to Diversify Assets.

Case Study e -
Mayacama Golf Club LR | RN -_ .
SONOMA, CALIFORNIA : " &\\§\$&:\\§\‘:\§\\G&\\‘Q\§§m

> . ‘\.." \-S:\". ) a = = -
+ ELITE 675 ACRE CALIFORNIA - i

WINE COUNTRY RETREAT
* $22.0 MILLION COMBINED FIRST
MORTGAGE LOAN

In conjunction with a strategic
lending partner, Gramercy pro-
vided interim first mortgage
financing to an established
resort developer to fund the
completion of Sonoma County’s
most stunning private member-
ship club with a Jack Nicklaus
golf course, ftalianate clubhouse
and wine cellar, and high-end
casitas for residential use by club
members. This financing enabled
our borrower to complete resort
amenities, market club mem-
berships, and construct addi-
tional casitas for sale to club

members on a fractional basis.

8
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Property Type I $ In MiLLIONS
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Diversification of Assets | The act or practice of invest-

ing in a variety of useful and desirable resources

having exchange value, so that a change in value in

any one will not negatively affect any other.

Gramercy manages risk in its investment port-
folio through diversification by geography,
property type, placement in a transaction’s
capital stack, and borrower. We employ our
network of relationships with current and
previous borrowers, co-investors, strategic
lending partners, and other institutional
investors to extend the reach of our direct
origination and asset management profession-
als, housed in New York and Los Angeles, into
targeted markets throughout the United
States. Our relationship with SL Green affords
us a significant competitive advantage sourcing

and evaluating office transactions in multiple

geographic markets. We carefully monitor
trends in new construction, rents, operating
expenses, capital allowances, vacancy
rates and absorption to prioritize property
types and geographic markets in which
Gramercy wishes to increase, or decrease,

existing and new investment activity. We

recycle capital and rebalance our portfolio

through selective sales of loans to a global
network of investors. We manage funding
and financing risk by tapping new sources of
capital, including CDOs and unsecured lines of
credit, and extending and varying the maturi-
ty of our liabilities.

9
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>to Expand Our Reach.

Case Study

Woodies Building
WASHINGTON, DC

* 10-STORY, CLASS A OFFICE
& RETAIL BUILDING
+ CREDIT TENANCY
+ 485,000 SQUARE FEET
* $172.1 MILLION FIRST MORTGAGE

Gramercy directly provided first
mortgage interim financing to
a relationship borrower that

2

enabled it to complete its leas-
ing plan and tenant build-out

i,
/
[/

for this unique conversion of the

<

former Woodward and Lathrop
flagship department store into
a striking Class A office building
in Washington, DC’s East End
submarket, Once fully-leased,

]
j}

the borrower opted to convert
its interim loan into a fixed-rate
permanent mortgage loan, which
Gramercy originated and subse-
quently sold to a fixed income
investor for a substantial earn-
ings gain.

10
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Reach | To stretch out or put forth; to go as far as;

to succeed in communicating; to aggregate or

amount to; to affect or make an impression on; to be

extensive in influence or effect.

Gramercy cultivates its extensive network
of borrower relationships, and extends the
geographic breadth of its loan portfolio, with
a steadily growing team of experienced direct
loan originators based in offices in New York

and Los Angeles.

We access new, cost-efficient sources of cap-
ital, domestically and overseas, by combining

our substantial capital markets experience

and relationships with new financing struc-
tures and techniques.

We utilize the in-house property, construc-
tion, leasing, legal, and operational resources
of Gramercy and SL Green Realty Corp. to
enhance the performance, and reduce the
risk, of our investment portfolio.

n
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Gramercy Capital Corp.
Qur Team.

Team | Gramercy’s success with
borrowers, fixed income investors,
and shareholders results from a
team-oriented approach. We rely

on experienced, creative, and ener- Senior Management

FRGM LEFT TO RIGHT:

getic professionals with proven
Hugh Hall Shawn Townsend

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER DiReCTOR, CAPITAL MARKETS

track records in direct origination

Bob Foley Lawrence Bizjak

Of |OanS and net Iease InveSt- CHIEF FinaNCIaL OFFICER DirecTCOR, ORIGINATIONS
ments, capital markets and risk Matt DiLiberto Jim Hritz
CONTROLLER DIReCTOR, ORIGINATIONS

management, and loan servicing.

Michael Kavourias
SENIOR TRANSACTION COUNSEL

Capital‘Markets/Risk Management Loan Servicing

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: FRGM LEFT TO RIGHT:

Aaron Bass Jared Yavers John Graham Andrew Falk

ANALYST ASSCCIATE ANALYST DirRECTOR, ASSET MANAGEMENT
Bob Wirth Ben Haefele Jeremy Bier Ladd Thorne

VICE PRESIDENT ASSOCIATE ASSOCIATE ANALYST

Shawn Townsend
DIRECTOR, CAPITAL MARKETS

12
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

GENERAL

Gramercy Capital Corp. (the "Company” or “Gramercy”)

is a commercial real estate specialty finance company that
focuses on the direct origination and acquisition of whole
loans, subordinate interests in whole loans, mezzanine
loans, preferred equity, and net lease investments involving
commercial properties throughout the United States. When
evaluating transactions, we assess our risk-adjusted return
and target transactions with yields that seek to provide
excess returns for the risks being taken. We have elected to
be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, under the
Internal Revenue Code and generally will not be subject to
federal income taxes to the extent we distribute our income
to our stockholders.

Gramercy was formed in April 2004 as a Maryland corporation
and we completed our initial public offering in August 2004.
Substantially all of Gramercy's operations are conducted
through GKK Capital LP, a Delaware limited partnership, or
our Operating Partnership. Gramercy, as the sole general
partner of, and currently the holder of 100% of the common
units of, our Operating Partnership, has responsibility and
discretion in the management and control of cur Operating
Partnership, and the limited partners of our Operating
Partnership, in such capacity, have no authority to transact
business for, or participate in the management activities of,
our Qperating Partnership. Accordingly, we consolidate the
accounts of our Operating Partnership.

We are externally managed and advised by GKK Manager
LLC, or our Manager, a majority-owned subsidiary of SL
Green Realty Corp. (NYSE: SLG), ar SL Green. At December
31, 20086, SL Green also owned approximately 25% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock.

As of December 31, 2006, we held loans and other lending
investments of approximately $2.2 billion net of fees, discounts,
and unfunded commitments with an average spread to LIBOR
of 384 basis points for our floating rate investments, and

an average yield of 10.04% for our fixed rate investments.
As of December 31, 2006, we also held interests in four credit
tenant lease, or CTL, investments comprised of a 49.75%
tenancy-in-common, or TIC, interest in 55 Corporate Drive in
Bridgewater, New Jersey, and three joint venture investments.

Our corporate offices are located in midtown Manhattan at
420 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York 10170, We

do not currently have any employees, nor do we anticipate
hiring any employees in the near term. Our executive officers
are all employed by our Manager or SL Green. We can be
contacted at (212) 297-1000. We maintain a website at
www.gramercycapitalcorp.com. On our website, you can

obtain, free of charge, a copy of our annual report on Forrn
10-K, quarteriy reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13¢a) or 15(d} of the Securities Excharge
Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as practicable after we

file such material electreonically with, or furnish it to, the
Securities and Exchange Commission. We have also made
available on our website our audit committee charter,
compensation committee charter, nominating and corporate
governance committee charter, code of business conduct
and ethics and corporate governance principles.

Unless the context requires otherwise, all references to “we," “our”
and "us” in this annual report means Gramercy Capita! Corp,,

a Maryland corporation, and one or more of its subsidiaries,
including GKK Capital LP, a Delaware limited partnership.

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Substantially all of our assets are held by, and all of our
operations are conducted through, our Operating Partnership.
We are the sole general partner and sole owner of the Class A
limited partner interests of cur Operating Partnership. At
December 31, 2006, the majority of the Class B limited
partnership interests were owned by our Manager and

SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P. Interests were also held
by certain officers and employees of SL Green Realty Corp.,
including some of whom are our executive officers, which
interests are subject to performance thresholds. To provide
an incentive to enhance the value of our common stock, the
holders of the Class B limited partner interests of our
Operating Partnership are entitled te an incentive return
equal to 25% of the amount by which funds from operations,
or FFO, plus certain accounting gains and losses (as defined
in the partnership agreement of cur Operating Partnership
which was amended and restated in April 2006) exceed the
product of our weighted average stockholders equity (as
defined in the amended and restated partnership agreernent
of our Cperating Partnership) multiplied by 9.5% (divided by
4 to adjust for quarterly calculations).

As of December 31, 2006, the majority of the interests in our
Manager were held by SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P.
Interests were also held by certain officers and employees of
SL Green Realty Corp., some of whom are our executive officers,
which interests are subject to performance thresholds. We
pay to our Manager a base management fee equal to one
and three-quarters of one percent (1.75%) of our stockhclders’
equity (as defined in the amended and restated management
agreement with our Manager) inclusive of the trust preferred
securities issued in May 2005, August 2005 and January
2006. In addition, we are obligated to reimburse our Manager
for its costs incurred under an asset servicing agreement
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between our Manager and an affiliate of SL Green Operating
Partnership, L.P. and a separate outsourcing agreement
between our Manager and SL Green Operating Partnership,
L.P. The asset servicing agreement, which was amended and
restated in April 2006, provides for an annual fee payable

to SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P. by us of 0.05% of the
book value of all credit tenant lease assets and non-investment
grade bonds and 0.15% of the book value of ail other assets.
The asset servicing fee is reduced by SL Green Operating
Partnership, L.P. for fees paid directly to outside servicers by
us. The outsourcing agreement currently provides for an
annual fee payable by us, which fee is currently $1.3 million
per year, increasing 3% annually over the prior year on the
anniversary date of the outsourcing agreement in August

of each year. The asset servicing and outsourcing agreements
allow us to leverage the experience, resources and relationships
SL Green has established.

Qur collateralized debt obligations, or CDQOs, were ¢losed in
July 2005 and August 2006, The CDO that closed in 2005
was issued through two indirect subsidiaries, Gramercy Real
Estate CDO 2005-1 Ltd., or the 2005 Issuer, and Gramercy
Real Estate CDO 2005-1 LLC, or the 2005 Co-Issuer. The
CDO that closed in 2006 was also issued through two indirect
subsidiaries, Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2006-1 Ltd., or the
2006 Issuer, and Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2006-1LLC,

or the 2006 Co-Issuer. The 2005 Issuer, 2006 Issuer, 2005
Co-issuer and 2006 Co-Issuer are subsidiaries of our private
REIT, Gramercy Investment Trust. Qur Operating Partnership
holds all shares of common stock and controls all of

the management and operations of the private REIT. At
December 31, 2006, the private REIT and all subsidiaries of
the private REIT were consolidated inte our financial results.

In connection with the closing of our first CDO in July 2005,
the Issuer, Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2005-1 Ltd., entered
into a collateral management agreement with our Manager.
Pursuant to the collateral management agreement, our
Manager has agreed to provide certain advisory and
administrative services in relation to the collateral debt
securities and other eligible investments securing the CDO
notes. The collateral management agreement provides for

a senior collateral management fee, payable quarterly in
accordance with the priority of payments as set forth in the
indenture, equal to 0.15% per annum of the net outstanding
portfolio balance, and a subordinate collateral management
fee, payable quarterly in accordance with the priority of
payments as set forth in the indenture, equal to 0.25%

per annum of the net outstanding peortfolio balance. Net
outstanding portfolio balance is the sum of the (i) aggregate
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principal balance of the coliateral debt securities, excluding
defaulted securities, (ii) aggregate principal balance of all
principal proceeds held as ¢cash and eligible investments'

in certain accounts, and (iii) with respect to the defaulted
securities, the calculation amount of such defaulted securities.
As compensation for the performance of its obligations

as collateral manager under the first CDO, our Board ‘

of Directors has allocated to our Manager the subordinate
collateral management fee paid on securities not held by us.
At December 31, 2006, we owned all of the non-investment
grade bonds, preferred equity and equity in both CDQOs.
The senior collateral management fee and balance of t}he
subordinate collateral management fee is allocated to us!

Collateral manager fees paid on our CDO that closed in |
August 2006 are governed by the amended and restated
management agreement as a “transitional managed”

CDO, as defined in the amended and restated management
agreement, consisting primarily of debt investments secdred
by non-stabilized real estate. The amended and restated |
management agreement provides that in connection with
formations of collateralized debt obligations or other
securitization vehicles after the execution of the amendeq
and restated management agreement, if a collateral manager
is retained, our Manager or an affiliate will be the collateral
manager and will receive the following fees: (i) 0.25% per!
annum of the book value of the assets owned for “transitional
managed” CDOs, (it} 0.15% per annum of the book value oil‘
the assets owned for “non-transitional managed” CDOs, (i)
0.10% per annum of the book value of the assets owned for
static CDCs that own primarily non-investment grade bon:ds.
and (iv) 0.05% per annum of the book value of the assets'
owned for static CDOs that own primarily investment grade
bonds; limited in each instance by the fees that are paid :
to the collateral manager. The balance of the fees paid by the
CDOs for collateral management services are paid to us. [

BUSINESS AND GROWTH STRATEGIES

We invest in a diversified portfolio of real estate loans and
securities, including permanent loans, bridge loans, subordi-
nate interests in whole loans, mezzanine loans, distressed |
debt, mertgage-backed securities, or MBS, preferred equit!y,
and net lease investments involving commercial properties
throughout the United States. When evaluating transactior‘}s,
we assess our risk-adjusted return and target transactions
with yields that seek to provide excess returns for the risks
being taken. ‘

We generate income principally from the spread between
the yields on our assets and the cost of cur borrowing and
hedging activities. We leverage our investments to enhancé




returns to stockholders equity. We finance, or may finance

in the future, assets through a variety of techniques, including
repurchase agreements, secured and unsecured credit facilities,
CDOs, unsecured junior subordinated corporate debt,
issuances of commercial mortgage-backed securities, or
CMBS, and other structured financings. In addition, we match
fund interest rates with like-kind debt (i.e., fixed-rate assets
are financed with fixed-rate debt, and floating rate assets are
financed with floating rate debt), through the use of hedges
such as interest rate swaps, caps, or through a combination

of these strategies. This allows us to reduce the impact of
changing interest rates on our cash flow and earnings. We
actively manage our positions, using our credit, structuring
and asset management skills to enhance returns. We intend

to grow our business using prudent levels of debt financing,
syndication of loan interests and structured financing when
feasible, rather than relying solely on equity capital, in order
to increase earnings per share.

Our ability to manage the real estate risk underwritten by our
Manager is a critical component of our success, We actively
manage and maintain the credit quality of our portfolio by
using our management team’s expertise in structuring and
repositioning investments to improve the quality and yield on
managed investments. When investing in higher leverage
transactions, we use guidelines and standards developed and
employed by senior management of our Manager and SL
Green, including rigorous underwriting of collateral perform-
ance and valuation, a review of the creditworthiness of the
equity investors, additional forms of collateral and strategies
to effect repayment. if defaults occur, we will employ SL
Green's strong asset management skills to mitigate the sever-
ity of any losses and seek to optimize the recovery from
assets in the event that we foreclose upon them, In New
York, Washington, D.C. and elsewhere as appropriate, SL
Green will manage these assets and has the right to purchase
properties in metropolitan New York and Washington, D.C.
that we acquire in foreclosure. In other gecgraphic markets,
we often use long-standing relationships of senior manage-
ment or SL Green with local operators or investors to
enhance our ability to underwrite transactions or mitigate
defaulits when making or managing investments.

We seek to control the negotiation and structure of the debt
transactions in which we invest, which enhances our ability to
mitigate our losses, to control the negoetiation and drafting of
loan documents that afford us appropriate rights and control
over our collateral, and to have the right to control the debt
that is senior to our position. We believe that this level of
control allows us to achieve attractive risk-adjusted returns
within a real estate debt capital structure. We generally avoid

investments where we cannot secure adequate control rights,
unless we believe the default risk is very low. Our flexibility to
invest in all or any part of a debt capital structure enables us
to participate in many transactions and to retain only the
investments that meet our investment parameters.

We believe that our ability to provide a wide range of financ-
ing products and our ability to customize financing struc-
tures to meet borrowers’ needs differentiates us from our
competitors. We can provide real estate financing solutions
throughout the entire capital structure from the most senior
capital positions through subordinate interests to equity
participations. Our senior management team has substantial
experience in responding to unique borrower needs by
crafting financial products that are tailored to meet the
business plan of a property owner.

We focus on certain types of investments where we believe
we have a competitive advantage and that offer appropriate
risk adjusted returns. For properties that we believe have sta-
ble values or where we have specific asset management
capabilities to mitigate losses, we will target higher leverage
investments. If we conclude that a property to be financed
will have more volatile values or cash flows under a variety of
market conditions, we target a less leveraged investment. In
such transactions we may seek a second-loss position. We
also target the origination of larger financings, including
whole loans, to afford us the opportunity to syndicate and
securitize our investments, create retained instruments with
above-market returns, and realize gains on the sale of these
positions. We originate investments in direct transactions
with borrowers, we co-originate with or acquire existing
assets from third parties, primarily financial institutions, and
we occasionally co-invest with SL Green and its affiliates.

Our targeted investments include the following:

Permanent Loans—We originate fixed-rate permanen:
whole loans with terms of up to 15 years. We may sepa-
rate certain of these loans into tranches, which can be
securitized and resold. When we do so, we occasionally
retain that component of the permanent loan that we:
believe has the most advantageous risk-adjusted returns.
The retained interest can be the senior interest, a subordi-
nate interest, a mezzanine loan or a preferred equity
interest created in connection with such permanent lnan
origination. We expect the stated maturity of ocur permanent
loan investments to range from five years to 15 years. We
may sell these investments prior to maturity.

Bridge Loans—We offer floating rate bridge whele loans
to borrowers who are seeking debt capital with a final
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term to maturity of not more than five years to be used in
the acquisition, construction or redevelopment of a
property. Typically, the borrower has identified a property
in a favorable market that it believes to be poorly managed
or undervalued. Bridge financing enables the borrower to
employ short-term financing while improving the
operating performance and physical aspects of the property
and avoid burdening it with restrictive long-term debt.
The bridge loans we originate are predominantly secured
by first mortgage liens on the property and are expected
to provide interest rates ranging from 125 to 400 basis
peoints over applicable index rate indexes. We expect the
stated maturity of our bridge loans to range from two
years to five years, and we frequently hold these invest-
ments to maturity.

We believe our bridge loans will lead to additional financing
opportunities in the future, as bridge facilities are often

a first step toward permanent financing or a sale of the
underlying real estate. We generally view securitization as
a financing rather than a trading activity. We have, and will
continue to, pool together smaller bridge loans and

retain the resulting non-investment grade interests (and
interest-only certificates, if any) resulting from these
securitizations, which to-date have taken the form of CDOs.
To increase our volume, enhance financing efficiencies,
and expand our national presence, we may seek joint
ventures, mergers or other arrangements with regional

or product-specific loan originators.

Subordinate Interests in Whole Loans—We purchase
from third parties, and may retain from whole loans

we ¢riginate and co-originate and securitize or sell,
subordinate interests in whole loans. Subordinate interests
are participation interests in mortgage notes or loans
secured by a lien subordinated to a senior interest in the
same loan. The subordination is generally evidenced by a
co-lender or participation agreement between the holders
of the related senior interest and the subordinate interest,
In some instances, the subordinate interest lender may
additionally require a security interest in the stock

or partnership interests of the borrower as part of the
transaction. When we ariginate whole loans, we may
divide them, frequently securitizing or selling the senior
interest and keeping a subordinate interest for investment,
We believe the subordinate interest market will continue
to grow with the expansion of the commercial mortgage
securitization market.

Subordinate interests in whole loans typically bear interest
at a rate of 200 to 600 basis points over the applicable
interest rate index and have loan-to-value ratios between
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65% and 85%. Subordinate interest lenders have the same
obligations, collateral and borrower as the senior interest
lender, but typically are subordinated in recovery upoﬁ a
default. Subordinate interests in whole loans share certain
credit characteristics with second mortgages, in that both
are subject to greater credit risk with respect to the
underlying mortgage collateral than the corresponding
senior interest. '

Subordinate interests created from bridge loans generally
will have terms matching those of the whole loan of which
they are a part, typically two to five years. Subordinate;
interests created from whole loans generally will have !
terms of five years to fifteen years. We expect to hold |
subordinate interests in whole loans to their maturity.

When we acquire subordinate interests in whole loans |
from third parties, we may earn income on the investment,
in addition to the interest payable on the subordinate -
piece, in the form of fees charged to the borrower under
that note (currently approximately 0.25% to 1% of the note
amount) or by receiving principal payments in excess of
the discounted price (below par value) we paid to ach[:ire
the note. When we originate subordinate interests out of
whole loans and then sell the senior interest, we allocate
our basis in the whole loan among the two (or more)
components to reflect the fair market value of the new
instruments. We may realize a profit on sale if our aIIocéted
value is below the sale price. Our ownership of a subordi-
nate interest with controlling class rights, which typically
means we have the ability to determine when, and in what
manner, to exercise the rights and remedies afforded the
holder of the senior interest, may, in the event the financing
fails to perform according to its terms, cause us to elec:t
to pursue our remedies as owner of the subordinate interest,
which may include foreclosure on, or modification of, the
note, In some cases, usually restricted to situations where
the appraised value of the collateral for the debt falls ‘
below agreed levels relative to the total cutstanding debt,
the owner of the senior interest may be able to foreclose
or modify the note against our wishes as holder of the '
subordinate interest. As a result, our economic and business
interests may diverge from the interests of the holders of
the senior interest. These divergent interests among the
holders of each investment may result in conflicts of interest.
;

Mezzanine Loans—We criginate mezzanine loans that are
senior to the borrower's equity in, and subordinate to a
mortgage loan on, a property. These loans are secured by
pledges of ownership interests, typically in whole but |
occasionally in part (but usually with effective sole control
over all the ownership interests}, in entities that directly or




indirectly own the real property. In addition, we may
require other collateral to secure mezzanine loans, including
letters of credit, personal guarantees, or collateral unrelated
to the property.

We typically structure cur mezzanine loans to receive a
stated coupon (benchmarked usually against LIBOR, or
occasionally against a Treasury index or a swap index}).
We may in certain, select instances structure our mezza-
nine loans to receive a stated coupon plus a percentage
of gross revenues and a percentage of the increase in the
fair market value of the property securing the loan,
payable upon maturity, refinancing or sale of the property.

These investments typically have terms from two to ten
years and typically bear interest at a rate of 400 to 800
basis points over the applicable interest rate index. Some
transactions entail the issuance of more than one tranche
or class of mezzanine debt. Mezzanine loans usually have
loan-to-value ratios between 65% and 90%. Mezzanine
loans frequently have maturities that match the maturity
of the related mortgage loan but may have shorter or
longer terms. We expect to hold these investrments to
maturity.

Distressed Debt—We may also invest in distressed debt,
most often sub- and non-performing real estate loans
acquired from financial institutions. We make these invest-
ments when we believe our underwriting, credit, financing
and asset management experience enable us to generate
above-average risk-adjusted returns by resolving these
distressed loans expeditiously through refinancings, nego-
tiated repayments with borrowers or foreclosure and sub-
sequent sale of the underlying property. A sub-performing
loan is a loan with a very high loan-to-value ratio, with a
low debt service coverage ratio, and which is likely to
default at maturity because the property securing the
loan cannot support a refinancing of the loan’s entire
unpaid principal balance. A non-performing loan is a loan
that is in default of its covenants, is past due in interest
payments, or is past its final maturity date and has not
been repaid. Sub- and non-performing loans are typically
purchased at a discount to the note balance. Qur invest-
ment return results from a combination of current cash
flow from the note or underlying property, plus any even-
tual recovery of loan principal.

We expect the maturity of our distressed debt invest-
ments to range from several months to up to ten years.
Such investments will usually be held until resolution,
which may entail a bankruptcy and foreclosure process,
which can require months or years to complete.

Mortgage-Backed Securities—We occasionally acquire
mortgage MBS that are created when commercial or resi-
dential loans are pooled and securitized. These securities
may be issued by government sponsored agencies or
other entities, and may or may not be rated investment
grade by rating agencies. We may also originate MBS
from pools of commercial loans we assemble, in which
event we expect to retain the more junior interests.

CMBS are secured by or evidenced by ownership interests
in a single commercial mortgage loan or a pool of mort-
gage loans secured by commercial properties. Residential
mortgage-backed securities, or RMBS, are backed by
pools of home mortgages. We expect a majority of our
mortgage-backed securities investments to be rated by at
least one rating agency.

CMBS are generally pass-through certificates that repre-
sent beneficial ownership interests in common law trusts
whose assets consist of defined portfolios of one or more
commercial mortgage loans. They are typically issued in
multiple tranches whereby the more senior classes are
entitled to priority distributions from the trust's income to
make specified interest and principal payments on such
tranches. Losses and other shortfalls from expected
amounts to be received on the mortgage pool are borne
by the most subordinate classes, which receive paymants
only after the more senior classes have received all princi-
pal and/or interest to which they are entitled.

The credit quality of MBS depends on the credit quality of
the underlying mortgage loans, which is a function of fac-
tors such as:

+ the principal amount of lcans relative to the value of
the related properties;

+ the mortgage loan terms (e.g. amortization);
+ market assessment and geographic location;

» construction quality and economic utility of the prop-
erty; and

+ the creditworthiness of the borrowers,

To date, we have focused not on new issues but on “Story
Securities” available in the secondary market where we
are able to analyze and underwrite the underlying assets.
“Story Securities” are seasoned securities with identifiable
credit risks (such as large defaulted or sub-performing
loans or a negative development with respect to the
sponsor of a large loan) that we believe may require complex
financial analysis to fully understand the issues and which
fixed income money managers cannot efficiently underwrite,
or which make them unattractive to a significant nurnber

[
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of fixed income investors. We seek capital appreciation,
in addition to interest income, by buying these securities
at yields that are greater than securities with comparable
risk and selling them when the credit risk improves.

We expect the stated maturity of our MBS investments to
range from several months to up to 15 years for CMBS,
and up to 40 years for RMBS. Such securities do not have
stated maturities but rather receive principal payments
from the underlying investments. We expect to hold
CMBS to maturity and may sell RMBS prior to maturity.

Preferred Equity—We originate preferred equity investments
in entities that directly or indirectly own commercial real
estate. Preferred equity is not secured, but holders have
priority relative to common equity holders on cash flow
distributions and proceeds from capital events. In addition,
preferred holders can often enhance their position and
protect their equity position with covenants that limit the
entity’s activities and grant us the exclusive right to control
the property after an event of default. Occasionally, the
first mortgage on a property prohibits additional liens and
a preferred equity structure provides an attractive financing
alternative. With preferred equity investments, we may
become a special limited partner or member in the ownership
entity and may be entitled to take certain actions, or
cause a liquidation, upon a default, Preferred equity typically
is more highly leveraged, with loan-to-value ratios of 85%

to more than 90%. We expect our preferred equity to
have mandatory redemption dates (that is, maturity !
dates) that range from three years to five years, and we
expect to hold these investments to maturity.

Other Real Estate-Related Investments—We may also n!]ake
investments in other types of commercial or multi-family
real estate assets. These may include acquisitions of real
property and debt issued by REITs or other real estate,
companies. We have authority to issue our common stock
or other equity or debt securities in exchange for assets.
Subject to gross income and asset tests necessary for
REIT qualification, we may also invest in securities of other
REITs, or other entities engaged in real estate activitieé

or securities of other issuers, including for the purpose‘of
exercising control over such entities. |

Some of these investments may be equity interests in
properties with no stated maturity or redemption date, or
long-term leasehold interests with expiration dates as Ibng
as 40 years beyond the date of our investment. We '
expect to hold these investments for between several |
months and up to ten years, depending upon the risk pro‘file
of the investment and our investment rationale. The timing
of our sale of these investments, or of their repayment,
will frequently be tied to certain events involving the
underlying property, such as leases to new tenants or a
refinancing on superior terms,

The aggregate carrying values, allocated by product type and weighted average coupons of our loans and other lending invest-
ments as of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 were as follows:

Floating Rate:

Allocation by Fixed Rate: Average Spread ojver
Carrying Value™ |nvestment Type Average Yield LIBOR®™

(3 IN THOUSANDS) 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
T

Whole loans, floating rate $ 1,372,316 $ 561,388 63% 46% — - 327 bps 325 Bps

Whole loans, fixed rate 42,376 94,448 2% 8% 11.69% 10.67% - —
Subordinate interests in whole 5

loans, floating rate 236,308 362,983 1% 30% — - 445 bps 443 st

Subordinate interests in whaole

loans, fixed rate 48,769 37,104 2% 3% 8.54% 8.80% - |~

Mezzanine loans, floating rate 226,675 82,793 10% 7% - - 665 bps 858 bps

Mezzanine toans, fixed rate 216,216 43,352 0% 4% 9.92% 851% - —

Preferred equity, floating rate - 11,795 — 1% - - 900 bps 900 bps

Preferred equity, fixed rate 44224 11,882 2% 1% 10.68% 10.27% - —

Total / Weighted average $ 2,186,884 $ 1,205,745 100%  100% 10.04% 8.78% 384 bps 417 bps

(1) Debt investments are presented after scheduled amortization payments and prepayments, and are net of unamortized

fees, discounts, asset sales and unfunded commitments.

(2) Spreads over an index other than LIBOR have been adjusted to a LIBOR based equivalent.
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We monitor our portfolio periodically and prior to each
acquisition to confirm that we continue to qualify for the
exemption from registration provided by Section 3(c)(5XC) and
3(c)(B) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended,
or the Investment Company Act. Qualifying for the Section
35X C) exemption requires that at least 55% of our portfolio
be comprised of "qualifying assets,” and a total of at least
80% of our portfolio be comprised of “real estate-related
assets,” a category that includes qualifying assets.

We generally expect mortgage loans, whole pool MBS, our
CTLs and certain distressed debt securities to be gualifying
assets. The treatment of distressed debt securities as quali-
fying assets is based on the characteristics of the particular
type of loan, including its foreclosure rights. Junior (first
loss) interests in MBS pools may constitute qualifying assets
under Section 3(c)X5)(C), provided that we have the unilateral
right to foreclose, directly or indirectly, on the mortgages in
the pool and that we may act as the controlling class or
directing holder of the pool. Similarly, subordinate interests
in whole loans may constitute qualifying assets under
Section I(cHSXC), provided that we have the unilateral right
to foreclose, directly or indirectly, on the mortgage and that
we may act as the controlling class or directing holder of the
note. We generally do not treat mezzanine loans and preferred
equity investments as qualifying assets. In addition to making
investments in qualifying assets, we also make investments
so that at least 80% of our portfolio is comprised of real
estate-related assets. We expect that all of these classes of
investments will be considered real estate-related assets
under the Investment Company Act for purposes of the 80%
investment threshold. Qualification for the 3(¢)(5X(C) and
3(cH(B) exemptions will limit our ability to make certain
investments. To the extent that the staff of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or the SEC, provides more specific
guidance regarding the treatment of assets as qualifying
assets or real estate-related assets, we may be required to
adjust our investment strategy accordingly. Any additional
guidance from the staff of the SEC could provide additional
flexibility to us, or it could further inhibit our ability to pursue
the investment strategy we have chosen.

On occasicon, we utilize a special servicer, which in some
instances may be an affiliate of us or may be the rated special
servicer affiliate of SL Green, to manage, modify and resolve
loans and other investments that fail to perform under

the terms of the loan agreement, note, indenture, or other
governing documents. We will typically negotiate for the right
to appoint a special servicer as part of the origination or
purchase of an investment. Special servicers are most frequently
employed in connection with whole loans, subordinate interests

in whole loans and first-loss classes of CMBS. The rights of
the special servicer, which are typically subject to a servicing
standard that requires the special servicer to pursue remedies
that maximize the recovery of investment principal, typically
include, among other things, the right to foreclose upon the
loan collateral after an event of default.

Cur rights, including foreclosure rights we hold, are found in
the agreements among the lenders or holders of notes, such
as intercreditor or participation agreements. Where we hold
unilateral foreclosure rights, those rights generally become
exercisable upon the occurrence of an event of default, such
as nonpayment of the debt. In certain circumstances we may
lose our foreclosure rights, For example, where the
appraised value of the collateral for the debt falls below
agreed levels relative to the total outstanding debt, we may
lose our foreclosure rights, which are then exercisable by the
holder of more senior debt. Generally, we do not expect SL
Green or its affiliates to hold these types of senior debt
where we hold a more junior instrument. If we were to lose
our foreclosure rights, the Investment Company Act status
of the particular investment could change.

While we intend to hold our investments to maturity, we may
sell an investment prior to its stated maturity for reasons of
risk management, liquidity, changing investment objectives,
or regulatory reguirements.

FINANCING STRATEGY

We use debt financing in various forms in an effort to
increase the size of our portfolio and potential returns to our
stockholders. Access to low-cost capital is crucial to our
business, since we earn income based on the spread
between the yield on our investments and the cost of our
borrowings.

Our financing strategy focuses on the use of match-funded
financing structures. This means that we seek to match the
maturities of our financial obligations with the maturities of
our investments to minimize the risk that we have to refinance
our liabilities prior to the maturities of our assets, and to
reduce the impact of changing interest rates on our cash
flow and earnings. In addition, we match fund interest rates
with like-kind debt (i.e., fixed-rate assets are financed with
fixed-rate debt, and floating rate assets are financed with
floating rate debt), through the use of hedges such as interest
rate swaps, caps, or through a combination of these strategies.
This allows us to reduce the impact on our cash flow and
earnings of changing interest rates. At December 31, 2006,
approximately 84% of our investments, when measured by
carrying value, were floating rate instruments based on LIBOR.
The remaining 16% of our investments carried fixed rates of
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interest, although we have entered into swap contracts that
convert substantially all of the floating rate financing expenses
against these assets to fixed rate expenses to eliminate basis
risk. Our investments had a weighted average remaining term
to initial maturity of 2.1 years.

We use shart-term financing in the form of our repurchase
agreements, unsecured revolving credit facilities and bridge
financings in conjunction with or prior to the implementation
of longer-term match-funded financing. At December 31,
2006, we had approximately $277.4 million outstanding
under our repurchase facitities with Wachovia Capital
Markets, LLC, or Wachovia, and Goldman Sachs Mortgage
Company, or Goldman. An event of default can be triggered
on our repurchase facilities if, among other things, GKK
Manager LLC is terminated as our Manager.

For longer-term funding, we utilize securitization structures,
including CDQs, as well as other match-funded financing
structures. CDOs are multiple class debt securities, or bonds,
secured by pools of assets, such as MBS, bridge loans,
permanent loans, subordinate interests in whole loans,
mezzanine loans and REIT debt. In a CDO the assets are
pledged to a trustee for the benefit of the holders of the
bonds. The bonds may be rated by one or more rating
agencies. One or more classes of the bonds are marketed to
a wide variety of fixed income investors, which enables

the CDO sponsor to achieve a relatively low cost of long-term
financing. We believe that CDOs are a suitable long-term
financing vehicle for our investments because they will enable
us to maintain our strategy of funding substantially all of

our assets and related liabilities using the same, or similar,
LIBOR benchmark, lock-in a long-term cost of funds tied

to LIBOR, and reduce the risk that we have to refinance our
liabilities prior to the maturities of our investments. On

July 14, 2005, we issued $1.0 billion of CDOs, and on

August 24, 2006 we issued an additional $1.0 billion of CDOs.
The CDOQ issued in 2005 consists of $810.5 million of investment
grade notes, $84.5 million of non-investment grade notes,
and $105 million of preferred shares. The CDO issued in 2006
consists of $903.75 million of investment grade notes, $38.75
million of non-investment grade notes, and $57.5 million

of preferred shares. We retained all non-investment grade
securities, the preferred shares and the common shares in
the 2005 tssuer and the 2006 Issuer.

Woe use different levels of leverage depending on the specific
risk-return characteristics of each investment type. Usually,
the level of financial leverage emploved varies inversely with
the loan-to-value ratio of the underlying debt investment
being financed. For example, we generally use more leverage
with whole loans than mezzanine loans. We anticipate our
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overall leverage will be 70% to 85% of the carrying value jof
our assets; but our actual leverage depends on our mix of
assets. As of December 31, 2006, our leverage as a percentage
of total balance sheet assets was 76%, excluding the trust
preferred securities, which are discussed in more detail |
below. The average advance rate against investment asse-:ts
pledged under our repurchase facilities with Wachovia and
Goldman was 70%.

'
Our charter and bylaws do not limit the amount of indebted-
ness we can incur. Qur current policy is to leverage up to,
80% of the carrying value of our assets. Qur board of directors
has discretion to deviate from or change our indebtedness
policy at any time. However, we seek to maintain an adeqdate
capital base to protect against various business environments
in which our financing and hedging costs might exceed the
interest income from our investments, These conditions could
occur, for example, due to credit losses or when, due to
interest rate fluctuations, interest income on our investment
lags behind interest rate increases on our borrowings, |
which are predominantly variable rate. We use leverage for
the sole purpose of financing our portfolio and not for thé
purpose of speculating on changes in interest rates.

|
In addition, we continuously evaluate other sources of long-term

debt and hybrid debt/equity capital, including perpetual '
preferred equity and trust preferred equity, which may be
available to us on competitive market pricing and terms. |

ORIGINATION, UNDERWRITING AND

ASSET MANAGEMENT

QOur Manager and SL Green provide all of our critical inves"t-
ment selection, asset management, servicing and portfolio

management and reporting functions from loan origination
to disposition. Our origination and underwriting is based .

on careful review and preparation, and generally proceeds

as follows: !

« All investments are analyzed for consistency with
investment parameters developed by our Manager and‘I
adopted by our board of directors;

» All transactions considered for funding are presented at a
weekly pipeline meeting attended by our Manager’s senior
executive officers; and |

+ All financing applications, conditional commitments and
submissions to the credit committee must be approved by

b

a managing director of cur Manager. )

i
The affirmative vote of all members of a credit committee

consisting of all senior officers of our Manager plus our chief
executive officer is necessary to approve all transactions 0\;/6!‘
$3 million. Qur chief investment officer may approve invest-
ments of less than $3 million. The investment committee of




our board of directors must unanimously approve all transac-
tions involving investments of (i) $35 million or more with
respect to whole loans, (ii) $30 million or maore with respect
to subordinate interests in whole loans, and (iii) $20 million
or over with respect to mezzanine loans, preferred equity.
and CTLs, The full board of directors must approve invest-
ments (i) over $75 miillion with respect to whole loans, (ii)
over $65 million with respect to subordinate interests in
whole loans, (iii) over $55 million with respect to mezzanine
loans, and (iv) over $50 millicn with respect to preferred
equity and CTLs. Qur Manager will have full discretion to
make investrments on our behalf under (i) $35 million with
respect to whole loans, (i) $30 million with respect to subor-
dinate interests in whole loans, and (iii) $20 million with
respect to mezzanine loans, preferred equity and CTLs.
Approval limits are based on the investment amount less any
origination fees, discounts or other up-front fees we receive
in connection with the investment.

The stages of the investment process are described in more
detail below,

Qrigination

Our Manager is primarily responsible for originating all of our
assets. Our Manager utilizes an extensive national network of
relationships with property owners, developers, mortgage
loan brokers, commercial and investment banks and institu-
tional investors. This network has been developed by the
senior managers of our Manager and senior executives of SL
Green over aimost 20 years. We originate investments in
direct transactions with borrowers, we co-originate with or
acquire existing assets from third parties, primarily financial
institutions, and we may occasionally co-invest with SL Green
and its affiliates. We continue to grow our national platform
through the creation of strategic partnerships, expansion of
our origination teams, and our offices in New York, New York
and Los Angeles, California. Once potential investment
opportunities have been identified, our Manager determines
which financing products best meet the borrower’s needs,
Qur Manager works to optimize pricing and structure and
create a favorable transaction for us while meeting our
borrower's needs. After identifying a suitable structure,

our Manager works with the borrower to prepare a loan
application and an initial review of the investment before
committing underwriting resources. Once a loan is identified
as suitable, it is underwritten by our Manager's team of
experienced underwriters.

Underwriting

Once a potential investment has been identified, our
Manager's underwriters perform comprehensive financial,
structural, operational and legal due diligence to assess the
risks of the investment. Our Manager's underwriters analyze

the loan application package and conduct follow-up due
diligence on each borrower as part of the underwriting
process. Our Manager's underwriters generally review the
following criteria as part of the underwriting process:

the historic, in-place and projected property revenues
and expenses;

the potential for near-term revenue growth and opportunity
for expense reduction and increased operating efficiencies;

on higher leverage loans secured by leased properties,
accountants may be engaged to audit operating expense
recovery income;

the property’s location and its attributes;

the valuation of the property based upon financia!
projections prepared by our Manager's underwriters
and confirmed by an independent “as is” and/or “as
stabilized” appraisal;

market assessment, including, review of tenant lease files,
surveys of property sales and leasing comparables based
on conversations with local property owners, leasing
brokers, investment sales brokers and other [ocal market
participants, and an analysis of area economic and
demographic trends, and a review of an acceptable
mortgagee's title policy;

market rents, and in the case of certain high-leverage
loans, leasing projections for major vacant spaces and
near-term vacancies, frequently prepared by commercial
leasing brokers with local knowledge, and confirmed by
discussion with other owners (often our borrowers) of
competitive commercial properties in the same sub-market;

structural and environmental review of the property,
including review of engineering and environmental reports
and a site inspection, to determine future maintenance
and capital expenditure requirements;

the requirements for any reserves, including those for
immediate repairs or rehabilitation, replacement reserves,
tenant improvement and leasing commission costs, real
estate taxes and property, casualty and liability insurance;

the “Underwritten Net Cash Flow" for a property, which is
a set of calculations and adjustments prepared for the
underwriting process to assist in evaluating a property’s
cash flows. The Underwritten Net Cash Flow is generally
the estimated stabilized annual revenue derived from the
use and operation of the property (consisting primarily of
rental income and reimbursement of expenses where
applicable) after an allowance for vacancies, concessions
and credit losses, less estimated stabilized annual expenses;

credit quality of the borrower through background checks
and review of financial strength and real estate operating
experience; and

n
GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. 2C06 Annual Report
I




+ the loan documents, to ensure that we have the necessary
protections, rights and remedies,

Key factors that are considered in credit decisions include,
but are not limited to, debt service coverage, loan-to-value
ratios and property and financial operating performance.
Consideration is also given to other factors such as the
experience, financial strength, reputation, and investment
track record of the borrower, additional forms of collateral
and identified likely strategies to effect repayment. Our
Manager will continue to refine its underwriting criteria based
upon actual loan portfolio experience and as market
conditions and investor requirements evolve. Once diligence is
completed and our Manager has reviewed the Underwritten
Net Cash Flow, sponsorship and the deal structure, our
Manager determines the level in the capital structure at
which an investment will be made, the pricing for such an
investment, and the required legal and structural protections.

Servicing and Asset Management

SL Green services substantially all of our assets through a
sub-contract with our Manager, The loan servicing platform is
designed to provide timely, responsive customer service as
well as accurate and timely information for account follow-up,
financial reporting, collateral and portfolio risk management
and management review. In addition, the servicing operations
include enforcement of the loan documents and standard
asset management functions, including monitoring of property
performance and condition and market analysis. The asset
management group monitors the investments to identify any
potential underperformance of the asset and work with the
borrower to remedy the situation in an expeditious manner in
order to mitigate any effects of underperformance, The asset
manager is responsible for understanding the borrower’s
business plan with respect to each collateral property and
monitoring performance measured against that plan. We
differentiate ourselves by leveraging our Manager's real estate
knowledge and proactive approach to asset management by
providing approvals and processing requests on a timely and
efficient basis. We believe that asset management is a vital
component of the borrower-lender relationship because it
enables us to be responsive, timely, anticipate changes to a
borrower’s financing requirements, and generally develop a
strong relationship that leads to repeat business.

OPERATING POLICIES

Investment and Borrowing Guidelines
We operate pursuant to the following general guidelines for
our investments and borrowings:

« no investments are made that would cause us to fail to
qualify as a REIT;

* no investments are made that would cause us to
be regulated as an investment company under the
Investment Company Act;

substantially all assets are financed through securitization,
syndication and secured borrowings, and assets intended
for inclusion in traditional securitization transactions WI||
be hedged against movements in the applicable swap
yield through customary techniques;

* hedging is generally done through the bank providing
the related repurchase facility on market terms, or through
other dealers. We engage an outside advisory firm to[
assist in executing and monitoring hedges, advising |
management on the appropriateness of such hedges, and
establishing the appropriate tax and accounting treatrment

of our hedges; and L

« we will not co-invest with SL Green or any of its affiliates
uniess the terms of such transaction are approved by a
majority of our independent directors.

These investment guidelines may be changed by our board
of directors without the approval of our stockholders.

ORIGINATION AGREEMENT
We have an origination agreement with SL Green pursuant to
which SL Green and any of its subsidiairies will not originéte.
acquire or participate in fixed income investments in the
United States, subject to certain conditions and exclusions
described below. Fixed income investments include debt ,
obligations or interests in debt obligations bearing a fixed-rate
of return and collateralized by real property or interests

in real property. SL Green has also agreed not to acquire,
originate or participate in preferred equity investments w!‘\ich
bear a fixed rate of return related primarily to real property
or interests in real property in the United States, unless we
have determined not to pursue that opportunity. '

Under the agreement, SL Green has the following rights: :

(a) to retain any fixed income investments and/or pre-
ferred equity investments it owned or committed tc’I
own as of April 19, 2006 and any fixed income inves;t—
ments and/or preferred equity investments owned or
committed to be owned, as of the date of a business
combination, change of controi or other similar tranfs-
action, by companies that are acquired by SL Green or
with the respect to which SL Green engages in such a
transaction, provided, however, that SL Green shall not
acquire companies or businesses engaged primarily in
Gramercy's primary business activities; !

(k) to originate, acquire or participate in fixed income t

investments and/or preferred equity investrments in

connection with the sale, recapitalization or restructuring
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(however characterized) of any fixed income investment,
preferred equity investment or interest in real property
which SL Green owns at any given time;

(c) to ariginate, acquire or participate in fixed income
and/or preferred equity investments that provide a
rate of return tied to the or measured by cash flow,
appreciation or both of the underlying real property
or interests in real property;

(d) to originate, acquire or participate in any distressed
debt, where there is a payment default, an acceleration,
bankruptcy or foreclosure, when a default is highly
likely because the loan-to-value ratio is over 100% or
when the debt service exceeds the available cash flow
from the underlying collateral or of the borrower both
on a current and projected basis; and

(e) to modify, amend, supplement, extend, refinance or
restructure any portion of the investments in item (a),
(b), (©) or (d) above including, but not limited to,
changes in principal, additional investment, rate of
return, maturity or redemption date, lien priority, collat-
eral, return priority, guarantor and/or borrower.

We have agreed that we will not:

» acquire real property or interests in real property
located in metropolitan New York and Washington, D.C.
(except by foreclosure or similar conveyance resulting
from a fixed income investment);

+ griginate, acquire or participate in any investments
described in {c) above or distressed debt, in each case
where more than 75% of the value of the underlying
collateral is real property or interests in real property
located in metropolitan New York or Washington, D.C,;
and

» originate, acquire or participate in any investments
described in item (b) or (e) above.

We have also agreed that, when we acquire direct or indirect
ownership interests in property in metropolitan New York or
Washington D.C. by foreclosure or similar conveyance, SL
Green will have the right to purchase the property at a price
equal to our unpaid asset balance on the date we foreclosed
or acquired the asset, plus unpaid interest at the last stated
contract {(non-default) rate and, to the extent payable by the
borrower under the initial documentation evidencing the
property, legal costs incurred by us directly related to the
conveyance and the fee, if any, due upon the repayment or
prepayment of the investment which is commonly referred to
as an “exit fee" (but not including default interest, late
charges, prepayment penalties, extension fees or other
premiums of any kind) through the date of SL Green's purchase.

We refer to this amount as “Par Value." if we seek to selt the
asset and receive a bona fide third party offer to acquire the
asset for cash that we desire to accept, SL Green may
purchase the asset at the lower of the Par Value or the third
party's offer price. If the asset is not sold within one year, SL
Green has the right to purchase the property at its appraised
value. The appraised value will be determined as follows: we
will select an appraiser and SL Green will select an appraiser,
who will each appraise the property. These two appraisers
jointly will select a third appraiser, who will then choose one
of the two appraisals as the final appraised value. These
rights may make it more difficult to sell such assets because
third parties may not want to incur the expense and effort to
bid on assets when they perceive that SL Green may acquire
them at the lower of the same terms proposed by the third
party or Par Value, As a result, we may not receive the same
value on the sale of such assets as we might receive from an
independent third party submitting an offer through a com-
petitive bidding process.

SL Green has a right of first offer to acquire any distressed
debt which we decide to sell.

If any time SL Green plans to seli to a third party any fixed
income investment or preferred equity investment, we will
have the right to purchase the offered investment within 10
business days on the terms and conditions offered by tha
third party. If SL Green is required to obtain any other party's
consent in connection with the sale of any investment, our
right of first offer will be subject to such consent. If we
choose not to exercise our right to purchase the offered
investment, SL Green has the right to sell it to a third party
within 6 months at not less than 99% of the price offered to
us. If the investment is not sold within 6 months, it will again
be subject to our right of first offer.

In the event the Management Agreement is terminated for
cause by us or if neither SL Green nor any of its affiliates
shall be the managing member of our Manager, then the non-
compete provisions in the origination agreement will survive
such termination for a period of one year with respect anly
to potential investments by us as to which our Manager has
commenced due diligence,

HEDGING ACTIVITIES

We use derivative instruments, including forwards, futures,
swaps and options, in our risk management strategy to fimit
the effects of changes in interest rates on our operations,
Our primary hedging strategy consists of entering into interest
rate swap contracts. Additionally, we may in certain select
instances choose to hedge our exposure to fluctuations in
CMBS credit spreads by purchasing swaps written against a

13

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP, 2006 Annual Report
i




broad-based CMBS index. The value of our forwards, futures
and swaps may fiuctuate over time in response to changing
market conditions, and will tend to change inversely with the
value of the risk in our liabilities that we intend to hedge.
Hedges are sometimes ineffective because the correlation
between changes in value of the underlying investment and
the derivative instrument is less than was expected when the
hedging transaction was undertaken. Since most of our
hedging activity covers the period between origination or
purchase of loans and their eventual sale or securitization,
unmatched losses in our hedging program will tend to occur
when the planned securitization fails to occur, or if the
hedge proves to be ineffective. We continuocusly monitor

the effectiveness of our hedging strategies and adjust our
strategies as appropriate. These transactions may include
interest rate swaps, the purchase or sale of interest rate
collars, caps or floors, options, other hedging instruments
and such other hedging instruments as may be developed

in the future and which we determine are suitable to achieve
our hedging objectives.

We have retained the services of an outside financial services
firm with expertise in the use of derivative instruments to
advise us on our overall hedging strategy, to effect hedging
trades, and to provide the appropriate designation and
accounting of all hedging activities from a GAAP and tax
accounting and reporting perspective.

These instruments are used to hedge as much of the interest
rate risk as our Manager determines is in the best interest of
our stockholders, given the cost of such hedges and the
need to maintain our status as a REIT. To the extent that we
enter into a hedging contract to reduce interest rate risk on
indebtedness incurred to acquire or carry real estate assets,
any income that we derive from the contract is qualifying
income for purposes of the REIT 95% gross income test, but
not for the 75% gross income test. Our Manager can elect to
have us bear a leve! of interest rate risk that could otherwise
be hedged when it believes, based on all relevant facts, that
bearing such risk is advisable.

DISPOSITION POLICIES

Qur Manager evaluates our assets on a regular basis to
determine if they continue to satisfy our investment criteria.
Subject to certain restrictions applicable to REITs, our
Manager may cause us to sell our investments opportunisti-
cally and use the proceeds of any such sale for debt reduc-
tion, additional acquisitions or working capital purposes.

EQUITY CAPITAL POLICIES
Subject to applicable law, our board of directors has the
authority, without further stockholder approval, to issue
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additional authorized common stock and preferred stock! or
otherwise raise capital, including through the issuance of‘
senior securities, in any manner and on the terms and for‘ the
consideration it deems appropriate. ;

We may, under certain circumstances, repurchase our
common stock in private transactions with our stockholders
if those purchases are approved by our board of directors,
Qur board of directors has no present intention of causing us
to repurchase any shares, and any action would only be -
taken in conformity with applicable federal and state Iaws‘!
and the applicable requirements for qualifying as a REIT, for
s0 long as our board of directors concludes that we should
remain a REIT, '

OTHER POLICIES

We operate in a manner that will not subject us to regulaﬁion
under the Investment Company Act. We may invest in [
the securities of other issuers for the purpose of exercising
control over such issuers. We do not underwrite the securities
of other issuers. |

FUTURE REVISIONS IN POLICIES AND STRATEGiEIS
Qur beard of directors has the power to modify or waive our
investment guidelines, policies and strategies. Among othfs.-r
factors, developments in the market that either affect the,
policies and strategies mentioned herein or that change our
assessment of the market may cause our board of directors
to revise our investment guidelines, policies and strategiesl.
However, if such modification or waiver involves the relationship
of, or any transaction between, us and our Manager or any
affiliate of our Manager, the approval of a majority of our |
independent directors is also required. We may not, howe{.rer,
amend our charter to change the requirement that a maiority
of our board of directors consist of independent directors:or
the requirement that a majority of our independent directc:xs
approve related party transactions without the approval of
two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by our stockholders.

COMPETITION !

Qur net income depends, in [arge part, on our ability to
originate investments with spreads over our borrowing cos;t.
In originating these investments, we compete with other !
mortgage REITs, specialty finance companies, savings and:
loan associations, banks, mortgage bankers, insurance
companies, mutual funds, institutional investors, investment
banking firms, other lenders, governmental bodies and otl’{er
entities, which may have greater financial resources and
lower costs of capital available to them than we have. In |
addition, there are numerous mortgage REITs with asset
acquisition objectives similar to ours, and others may be
organized in the future, which may increase competition for
i




the available investments suitable for us. Competitive
variables include market presence and visibility, size of loans
offered and underwriting standards.

To the extent that a competitor is willing to risk larger
amounts of capital in a particular transaction or to employ
more liberal underwriting standards when evaluating
potential loans than we are, our origination volume and
profit margins for our investment portfolio could be adversely
affected. Qur competitors may also be willing to accept
lower returns on their investments and may succeed in
originating or acquiring the assets that we have targeted for
origination or acquisition. Although we believe that we are
well positioned to compete effectively in each facet of our
business, there is considerable competition in our market
sector and there can be no assurance that we will compete
effectively or that we will not encounter further increased
cornpetition in the future that could limit our ability to
conduct our business effectively.

INDUSTRY SEGMENTS

Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 131, or
"SFAS No. 131" establishes standards for the way that public
entities report information about operating segments in their
annual financial statements. We are a REIT focused primarily
on originating and acquiring ioans and securities related to
real estate and currently operate in only one segment.

EMPLOYEES

We do not currently have any employees, nor do we antici-
pate hiring any employees in the near term, Qur executive
officers and other staff are all employed by our Manager or
SL Green and leased by us pursuant to the management
agreement with our Manager and the cutsourcing agreement
with SL Green.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Under various federal, state and local environmental laws,
ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner of
real estate (including, in certain circumstances, a secured
lender that succeeds to ownership or control of a property)
may become liable for the costs of removal or remediation of
certain hazardous or toxic substances at, on, under or in its
property. Those laws typically impose cleanup responsibility
and liability without regard to whether the owner or control
party knew of or was responsible for the release or presence
of such hazardous or toxic substances. The costs of investi-
gation, remediation or removal of those substances may be
substantial. The owner or control party of a site may be
subject to common law claims by third parties based on dam-
ages and costs resulting from environmentat contamination
emanating from a site. Certain environmental laws also

impose liability in connection with the handling of or exposure
to asbestos-containing materials, pursuant to which third
parties may seek recovery from owners of real properties

for personal injuries associated with asbestos-containing
materials. Absent succeeding to ownership or control of real
property, a secured lender is not likely to be subject to any
of these forms of environmental liability. We are not currently
aware of any environmental issues which could materially
affect the Company.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

RISKS RELATED TO OUR MANAGEMENT
AND OUR RELATIONSHIP WITH SL GREEN

We are dependent on our Manager and its key employees
and may not find a suitable replacement if our Manager
terminates the management agreement or the key
personnel are no longer available to us.

We have no direct employees. We are completely reliant on
our Manager, which has significant discretion as to the imple-
mentation of our operating policies and strategies. We have
entered into a management agreement with our Manager
that terminates in December 2009, subject to automatic,
onea-year renewals. We are subject to the risk that our
Manager will terminate the management agreement and that
no suitable replacement will be found to manage us. We
believe that our success depends to a significant extent upon
the experience of our Manager's executive officers, whose
continued service is not guaranteed. If our Manager terminates
the management agreement, we may not be able to execute
our business plan.

There are conflicts of interest in our relationship with our
Manager, which could result in decisions that are not in the
best interest of holders of our securities.

We are subject to potential conflicts of interest arising out of
our relationship with SL Green and our Manager. Several of
SL Green’s executive officers are also directors and executive
officers of our Manager and us. Specifically, our chairman
and each of our executive officers also serve as officers of
our Manager or SL Green, As a result, the management
agreement was not negotiated at arm’s-length and its terms,
including fees payable, may not be as favorable to us as if it
had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.

In addition, our Manager and our executives may have
conflicts between their duties to us and their duties to, and
interests in, SL Green and/or ocur Manager. Our Manager is
nct required to devote a specific amount of time to our
operations. There may alsc be conflicts in allocating
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investments which are suitable both for us and SL Green.

SL Green has agreed generally that it will not acquire fixed
income or preferred equity investments during the term of the
management agreement. However, there are several exceptions,
including debt instruments with equity characteristics,
distressed debt and refinancings of existing SL Green debt
investments. As a result, SL Green may compete with us with
respect to certain investments which we may want to
acquire, and as a result we may either not be presented with
the opportunity or have to compete with SL Green to acquire
these investments. Our Manager and our executive officers
may choose to allocate favorable investments to SL Green
instead of to us.

We pay our Manager substantial base management fees
regardiess of the performance of our portfolio. SL Green,
our Manager and certain other parties, including certain of
our officers, also own Class B limited partner interests in our
operating partnership, which entitles them to receive quarterly
distributions based on financial performance. In evaluating
investments and other management strategies, this may lead
our Manager to place emphasis on the maximization of revenues
at the expense of other criteria, such as preservation of
capital. iInvestments with higher vield potential are generally
riskier or more speculative. This could result in increased risk
to the value of our invested portfolio.

Termination of or failure to renew the management agreement
without cause requires us to pay substantial amounts of
termination fees and redeem the Class B limited partner
interests. If the management agreement is terminated or not
renewed other than for cause, we will be required to pay a
termination fee equal to two times the higher of the total
annual fees paid in either of the two calendar years prior to
the termination, unless we become self-managed, in which
event this amount will be reduced by 50%. We are also
required to redeem the Class B limited partner interests upon
termination of the management agreement. These provisions
may increase the effective cost to us of terminating or failing
to renew the management agreement, thereby adversely
affecting our ability to terminate or not renew the management
agreement without cause.

Our assets that we acquire by foreclosure or similar
conveyance may be subject to purchase rights or rights

of first offer in favor of SL Green, which could reduce

their marketability or value.

Pursuant to our origination agreement with SL Green, we
have granted Sl Green purchase rights with respect to certain
of our assets. When we acquire a direct or indirect ownership
interest in real property or interests in real property located
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in metropolitan New York or Washington, D.C. by foreclo%ure
or similar conveyance or transfer, SL Green has the right to
purchase such ownership interest at a price equal to the sum
of (i) our unpaid principal bailance on the date we foreclqsed
on or acquired the asset, (fi) unpaid interest through the date
of SL Green's purchase and (i) legal costs incurred by |
us directly related to the conveyance of the property and‘}
the exit fee due upon prepayment or repayment, both toi
the extent payable by the borrower under the initial loan
documentation. We refer to this amount as the "par value”,
If we seek to sell the asset and receive a bona fide offer tlo
acquire the asset for cash that we desire to accept, SL Green
may purchase the asset at the lower of the par value and!the
third party’s offer price. }

¥

Similarly, our agreements with SL Green in connection witjh
our investments in the South Building located at One |
Madison Avenue and 55 Corporate Drive contain a buy-séll
provision that can be triggered by us in the event we and SL
Green are unable to agree upon a major decision that WOl'.!ld
materially impair the value of the assets. Such major decisions
involve the sale or refinancing of the assets, any extensions
or medifications to the net leases with the tenant therein lc>r

any material capital expenditures.

These rights may make it more difficult to sell such assets
because third parties may not want to incur the expense and
effort to bid on assets when they perceive that SL Green may
acquire them at the lower of the same terms proposed by,
the third party or par value. As a result, we may not receive
the same value on the sale of such assets as we might
receive from an independent third party submitting an offer
through a competitive bidding process. \

Our financial condition and resuits of operations depen'd
on our ability to manage future growth effectively.

Our ability to achieve our investment objective depends on
our ability to grow, which depends, in turn, on our Manager's
ability to identify and invest in debt investments or other
securities that meet our investment criteria. Accomplishing
this result on a cost-effective basis is largely a function of‘;
our Manager’s structuring of the investment process, its !
ability to provide competent, attentive and efficient servictes
te us and our access to financing on acceptable terms. Th%e
senior management team of cur Manager has substantial |
responsibilities under the management agreement. We can
offer no assurance that the senior management team of our
Manager or any of the other employees of our Manager witII
contribute to our growth. Any failure to manage our future
growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on[

our business, financial condition and results of operations.’




Qur board of directors has approved very broad investment
guidelines for our Manager and does not approve each
investment decision made by our Manager.

Qur Manager is authorized to follow very broad investment
guideiines. Cur directors review our investment guidelines
and our investment portfolio annually and as often as they
deem necessary. However, our board of directors does not
review each proposed investment. The investment committee
of our board of directors must unanimously approve all
transactions invelving investments of (i} $35 million or more
with respect to whole foans, (i) $30 million or more with
respect to subordinate interests in whole loans, and (iii) $20
million or over with respect to mezzanine loans, preferred
equity, and CTLs. The full board of directors must approve
investments (i) over $75 million with respect to whole loans,
(ii) over $65 million with respect to subordinate interests in
whole loans, (iii) over $55 million with respect to mezzanine
loans, and (iv) over $50 million with respect to preferred
equity and CTLs. Our Manager will have full discretion to
make investments on our behalf under (i) $35 million with
respect to whole loans, (i) $30 million with respect to
subordinate interests in whole loans, and (iii) $20 million with
respect to mezzanine loans, preferred equity and CTLs. Our
chief investment officer may approve investments of less
than $3 million. Approval limits are based on the investment
amount less any origination fees, discounts or other up-front
fees we receive in connection with the investment. In addition,
in conducting periodic reviews, the directors rely primarily

on information provided to them by our Manager. Cur Manager
has great latitude within the broad parameters of our
investment guidelines in determining the types of assets it may
decide are proper investments for us. Decisions made

and investments entered into by our Manager may not fully
reflect the stockholder’s best interests.

We may change our investment and operational policies
without stockholder consent.

We may change our investment and operational policies,
including our policies with respect to investments, acquisi-
tions, growth, operations, indebtedness, capitalization and
distributions, at any time without the consent of our stock-
holders, which could result in our making investments that
are different from, and possibly riskier than, the types of
investments described in this filing. A change in our investment
strategy may increase our exposure to interest rate risk,
default risk and real estate market fluctuations, all of which
could adversely affect our ability to make distributions,

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

Maintenance of our Investment Company Act exemption
imposes limits on our operations.

We have conducted our operations and intend to continue tc
conduct our operations so as not to become regulated as an
investment company under the Investment Company Act. We
believe that there are a number of exemptions under the
Investment Company Act that may be applicable to us. For
example, Section 3{c)(5XC) exempts from the definition of
“investment company” any person who is “primarily engaged
in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages
and other liens on and interests in real estate.” Additionally,
Section 3(c)(6) exempts from the definition of “investment
company” any company primarily engaged, directly or
through majority-owned subsidiaries, in the business of
purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens
on and interests in real estate. Further, Rule 3a-1 under the
Investment Company Act exempts from the definition of
“investment company” a company if no more than 45% of
the value of its assets (exclusive of U.S. Government securities
and cash items) consists of, and no more than 45% of its net
income after taxes for the past four quarters is derived from,
securities other than U.S. Government securities, securities
issued by employees’ securities companies, securities issued
by certain majority-owned subsidiaries of such company and
securities issued by certain companies that are controlled
primarily by such company, provided, that certain other
requirermnents are met. The assets that we have acquired and
may acquire in the future, therefore, are limited by the
provisions of the Investment Company Act and the exemptions
on which we rely. In addition, we could, among other things,
be required either (a) to change the manner in which we
conduct our operations to aveid being required to register as
an investment company or (b) to register as an investment
company, either of which could have an adverse effect on
our business and our ability to pay dividends.

To maintain our qualification for an exemption from registra-
tion under the investment Company Act pursuant to Section
3(C)(5XC) and 3(c)(6) at least 55% of our portfolio, or the
assets of our majority-owned subsidiaries, must be cor-
prised of gualifying assets under Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the
Investment Company Act, and 80% of our portfolio, or the
assets of our majority-owned subsidiaries, must be corn-
prised of qualifying assets and real estate-related asseis
under Section 3(c)(5)X(C) of the Investment Company Act. In
addition, we may not issue redeemable securities. To comply
with these regulations, we may from time to time buy RMBS
and other qualifying assets. We generally expect that mortgage
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loans, whole pool MBS, CTLs and certain distressed debt
securities to be qualifying assets under the Section
3(c)(SXC) and 3(c)(6) exemptions from the Investment
Company Act. The treatment of distressed debt securities as
qualifying assets is, and will be, based on the characteristics
of the particular type of loan, including its foreclosure rights,
Junior (first loss) interests in MBS pools may constitute
qualifying assets under Section 3(c)(5)(C) provided that we
have the unilateral right to foreclose, directly or indirectly,

on the mortgages in the poo! and that we may act as the
controlling class or directing holder of the pool. Similarly,
subordinate interests in whole leans may constitute qualifying
assets under Section 3(c)(5XC) provided that we have the
unilateral right to foreclose, directly or indirectly, on the
mortgage and that we may act as the controlling class or
directing holder of the note. We generally do not treat
mezzanine loans and preferred equity investments as qualifying
assets. Although we monitor our portfolio periodically and
prior to each origination or acquisition of a new asset or
disposition of an existing asset, there can be no assurance that
we will be able to maintain this exemption from registration.
Further, we may not be able to invest in sufficient qualifying
and/or real estate-related assets and future revisions or
interpretations of the Investment Company Act may cause us
to lose our exernption or force us to re-evaluate our portfolio
and our business strategy. Such changes may prevent us from
operating our business successfully. To the extent that the
staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC,
provides more specific guidance regarding the treatment of
assets as qualifying assets or real estate-related assets, we
may be required to adjust our investment strategy accordingly.
Any additional guidance from the staff of the SEC could
provide additiona! flexibility to us, or it could further inhibit

our ability to pursue the investment strategy we have chosen.

As part of its duties under the management agreement, our
Manager periodically evaluates our assets, and also evaluates
prior to an acquisition or origination the structure of each
prospective investment, to determine whether our Manager
believes the investment will be a gualifying asset for purposes
of maintaining our exemption from registration under the
Investment Company Act, and we consult with counsel to
verify such determination. If we are obligated to register

as an investment company, we would have to comply with

a variety of substantive requirements under the Investment
Company Act, including limitations on capital structure,
restrictions on specified investments; prohibitions on
transactions with affiliates, changes in the composition of
the board of directors and compliance with reporting,

record keeping, voting, proxy disclosure and other rules

and regulations that would significantly change our operations.
In addition, the terms of cur management agreement would
need to be substantially revised or such agreement would
need to be terminated. If the management agreement is !
terminated, we will, among other things, be in default under
our repurchase facilities and financial institutions will havq
the right to terminate those facilities and their obligation to
advance funds to us to finance our future investments, In !
addition, we may not be able to identify a replacement
manager on favorable terms or at all.

We utilize a significant amount of debt to finance our
portfolio, which may subject us to an increased risk of |
loss, adversely affecting the return on our investments
and reducing cash available for distribution.

We utilize a significant amount of debt to finance our
operations, which can compound losses and reduce the cash
available for distributions to our stockholders. We generally
teverage our portfolic through the use of bank credit facilities,
repurchase agreements, securitizations, including the
issuance of CDOs and other borrowings. The leverage we |
employ varies depending on our ability to obtain financing',
the loan-to-value and debt service coverage ratios of our |
assets, the yield on our assets, the targeted leveraged retuin
we expect from our portfolio and our ability to meet ongoing
covenants related to our asset mix and financiat performanlce.
Substantially all of our assets are pledged, or subject to a
negative pledge, as collateral for our secured borrowings

or to support our unsecured borrowings. Our return on |
our investments and cash available for distribution to our
stockholders may be reduced to the extent that changes in
market conditicns cause the cost of our financing to increase
relative to the income that we can derive from the assets we
acquire. For example, we have purchased and expect to
purchase in the future, subordinate classes of bonds in cur
CDOs, which represent leveraged investments in the collaterfal
debt securities and other underlying assets. The use of
leverage through such CDOs create the risk for the holdersl
of the subordinate classes of bonds of increased exposure to
losses on a leveraged basis as a result of defaults with
respect to such collateral debt securities. As a result, the
occurrence of defaults with respect to only a small portion !
of the collateral debt securities could result in the complete’
loss of the investment of the holders of the subordinate
classes of bonds.

|

|
Qur debt service payments, including payments in connectio:n
with any CDOs, reduce the net income available for distribution's.
Mareover, we may not be able to meet our debt service
obligations and, to the extent that we cannot, we risk the loss
of some or all of our assets to foreclosure or sale to satisfy |
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our debt obligations, Under our repurchase agreements, our
lenders take title to our assets and may have an ability to
liguidate our assets through an expedited process. Currently,
neither our charter nor our bylaws impaose any limitations on
the extent to which we may leverage our assets.

If GKK Manager LLC ceases to be our manager pursuant
to the management agreement, financial institutions
providing our repurchase facilities may not provide future
financing to us.

The financial institutions that finance our investments pursuant
to our repurchase agreements require that GKK Manager LLC
remain our Manager pursuant to the management agreement.
If GKK Manager LLC ceases to be our Manager, it is an
event of default and the financial institutions under these
facilities have the right to terminate the facilities and their
obligation to advance funds to us to finance our future
investments. If GKK Manager LLC ceases to be our Manager
for any reason and we are unable to obtain financing under
these or replacement credit and repurchase facilities, our
growth may be limited.

Our repurchase agreements and our CDO financing
agreements may limit our ability to make investments.

In order to borrow money to make investments under our
repurchase agreements, our lenders, Wachovia and Goldman
have the right to review the potential investment for which
we are seeking financing. We may be unable to obtain the
consent of our lenders to make investments that we believe
are favorable to our company. In the event that Wachovia or
Goldman do not consent to the inclusion of the potential
asset in the repurchase facility, we may be unable to obtain
alternate financing for that investment. Cur lender’s consent
rights with respect to our repurchase agreements may limit
our ability to execute our business plan.

Each CDO financing that we engage in will contain certain
eligibility criteria with respect to the collateral that we seek
to acquire and sell to the CDO issuer. If the collateral does
not meet the eligibility criteria for eligible collateral as set
forth in the transaction documents of such CDO transaction,
we may not be able to acquire and sell such collateral to the
CDO issuer. The inability of the collateral to meet eligibility
requirements with respect to our CDOs may limit our ability
to execute our business plan.

We may hot be able to issue CDO securities on attractive
terms, which may require us to seek more costly financing
for our investments or to liquidate assets.

Conditions in the capital markets may make the issuance of a
CDO less attractive to us even in instances when we have a
sufficient pool of eligible collateral. If we are unable to issue a

CDO to finance these assets, or if doing so is not economical,
we may be required to seek other forms of potentially less
attractive financing or otherwise to liquidate the collateral.

We may not be able to access financing sources on
favorable terms, or at ail, which could adversely affect

our ability to execute our business plan and our ability

to distribute dividends.

We finance our assets over the long-term through a variety
of means, including repurchase agreements, credit facilities,
CDOs and other structured financings. We have also financed
our investments through the issuance of $150 million of trust
preferred securities, Qur ability to execute this strategy
depends on various conditions in the markets for financing in
this manner which are beyond our control, including lack of
liquidity and wider credit spreads. We cannot assure the
stockholders that these markets will remain an efficient
source of long-term financing for our assets. if our strategy is
not viable, we will have to find al.ternative forms of long-term
financing for our assets, as secured revolving credit facilities
and repurchase facilities may not accommodate long-term
financing. This could subject us to more recourse indebted-
ness and the risk that debt service on less efficient forms

of financing would require a larger portion of our cash flows,
thereby reducing cash available for distribution to our
stockholders, funds available for operations as wetll as for
future business opportunities.

in addition, we depend upon the availability of adequate
financing sources and capital for our operations. As a REIT,
we are required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable
income, determined without regard to the deduction for
dividends paid and excluding net capital gain, to our
stockholders and are therefore not able to retain our earnings
for new investments. However, our taxable REIT subsidiaries
are able to retain {and likely will retain) earnings for investment
in new capital, subject to maintaining our qualification as a
REIT. We cannot assure the stockholders that any, or sufficient,
funding or capital will be available to us in the future on
terms that are acceptable to us.

Furthermore, if the minimum dividend distribution required
to maintain our REIT qualification becomes large relative to
our cash flow due to our taxable income exceeding our cash
flow from operations, then we could be forced to borrow
funds, sell assets or raise capital on unfavorable terms, if we
are able to at all, in order to maintain our REIT qualification.
In the event that we cannot obtain sufficient funding on
acceptable terms, there may be a negative impact on

the market price of our common shares and our ability to
distribute dividends.
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Lack of diversification in number of investments increases
our dependence on individual investments.

if we acquire larger loans or property interests, our portfolio

will be concentrated in a smaller number of assets, increasing
the risk of loss to stockholders if a default or other

problem arises.

Interest rate fluctuations could reduce our ability to
generate income on our investments.

The vield on our investments in real estate securities and
loans is sensitive to changes in prevailing interest rates and
changes in prepayment rates. Changes in interest rates can
affect our net interest income, which is the difference
between the interest income we earn on our interest-earning
investments and the interest expense we incur in financing
these investments. We tend to price loans at a spread to
either United States Treasury obligations, swaps or LIBOR.
A decrease in these indexes will lower the yield on our
investments. Conversely, if these indexes rise materially,
borrowers may be unable to borrow the higher-leverage
loans that we target.

In a period of rising interest rates, our interest expense
could increase while the interest we earn on our fixed-rate
assets would not change, which would adversely affect
our profitability.

Qur operating results depend in large part on differences
between the income from our assets, net of credit losses, and
financing costs. In most cases, for any period during which
our assets are not match-funded, the income from such
assets will respond more slowly to interest rate fluctuations
than the cost of our borrowings. Consequently, changes in
interest rates, particularly short-term interest rates, may
significantly influence our net income. increases in these
rates will tend to decrease our net income and market value
of our assets. Interest rate fluctuations resulting in our
interest expense exceeding our interest income would result
in operating losses for us and may limit or eliminate our
ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

If credit spreads widen before we obtain long-term
financing for our assets, the value of our assets may suffer.
We price our assets based on our assumptions about future
credit spreads for financing of those assets. We have
obtained, and will obtain in the future, longer term financing
for our assets using structured financing techniques. Such
issuances entail interest rates set at a spread over a certain
benchmark, such as the yield on United States Treasury
obligations, swaps or LIBOR. If the spread that investors are
paying on our current structured finance vehicie and will pay
on future structured finance vehicles we may engage in cver
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the benchmark widens and the rates we are charging or, will
charge on our securitized assets are not increased accordingly,
this may reduce our income or cause losses.

The repurchase agreements and credit facilities that \1ve
use to finance our investments may require us to provide
additional collateral. |

We use credit facilities and repurchase agreements to finance
some of our debt investments, primarily on an interim basis.
If the market value of the loans pledged or sold by us t? a
funding source decline in value, we may be required by the
lending institution to provide additional collateral or pay
down a portion of the funds advanced. We may not hav:e

the funds available to pay down our debt, which could r;esult
in defaults. Posting additional collateral to support cur |
repurchase and credit facilities will reduce our liquidity .=%md
fimit our ability to leverage our assets. In the event we d'o not
have sufficient liquidity to meet such requirements, Iendling
institutions can accelerate our indebtedness, increase inlterest
rates and terminate our ability to borrow. Such a situati?n
would likely result in a rapid deterioration of our financial
condition and possibly necessitate a filing for pn:>|:i=.-ctionI
under the United States Bankruptcy Code. i

Further, facility providers may require us to maintain a cefrtain
amount of cash uninvested or set aside unlevered assets
sufficient to maintain a specified liquidity position which \}vould
allow us to satisfy our collateral obligations. As a result, |we
may not be able to leverage our assets as fully as we wtl)uld
choose, which could reduce our return on assets. In the |ewent
that we are unable to meet these collateral obligations, Iour
financial condition could deteriorate rapidly. |
Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive coven!ants
relating to our operations.

When we obtain financing, lenders impose restrictions an us
that affect our ability to incur additional debt, our capa:bility
to make distributions to stockholders and our flexibility to
determine our operating policies. Loan documents we execute
contain negative covenants that limit, among other thing';s,
our ability to repurchase stock, distribute more than a cértain
amount of our funds from operations, and employ Ieverége
beyond certain amounts.

The use of CDO financings with coverage tests may h:ave a
negative impact on our operating results and cash flows.
We have purchased, and expect to purchase in the future,
subordinate classes of bonds issued by certain of our !
subsidiaries in our CDO financings. The terms of the CD:O
securities issued by us include and will include coverage
tests, including over-collateralization tests, used primarily to
determine whether and to what extent principal and intt:erest




proceeds on the underlying collateral debt securities and
other assets may be used to pay principal of and interest on
the subordinate c¢lasses of bonds in the CDQ. In the event
the coverage tests are not satisfied, interest and principal
that would otherwise be payable on the subordinate classes
may be re-directed to pay principal on the senior bond
classes. Therefore, failure to satisfy the coverage tests

could adversely affect our operating results and cash flows.
Although these coverage tests are currently being met, we
cannot assure you that the coverage tests will continue to be
satisfied in the future.

Certain coverage tests (based ¢on delinquency levels or other
criteria) may also restrict our ability to receive net income
from assets pledged to secure the CDOs. We cannot assure
you, in advance of completing negotiations with the rating
agencies or other key transaction parties on any future
CDQs, the actual terms of the delinquency tests, over-collat-
eralization terms, cash flow release mechanisms or other
significant factors regarding the calculation of net income to
us, Failure to obtain favorable terms with regard to these
matters may materially and adversely affect the availability
of net income to us. If our assets fail to perform as anticipated,
our over-collateralization or other credit enhancement
expense associated with our CDQOs will increase.

If we issue senior securities we will be exposed to
additional restrictive covenants and limitations on our
operating flexibility, which could adversely affect our
ability to pay dividends.

If we decide to issue senior securities in the future, it is likely
that they will be governed by an indenture or other instrument
containing covenants restricting our operating flexibility.
Holders of senior securities may be granted specific rights,
including but not limited to: the right to hold a perfected
security interest in certain of our assets, the right to accelerate
payments due under the indenture, rights to restrict dividend
payments, and rights to require approval to sell assets.
Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable securities that
we issue in the future may have rights, preferences and
privileges more favorable than those of our common stock,
We, and indirectly our stockholders, will bear the cost of
issuing and servicing such securities.

We may not be able to renew the total return swaps

that we enter into, which could adversely impact our
leveraging strategy.

Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we leverage
certain of our investments through the use of total return
swaps. We may wish to renew many of the swaps, which are
for specified terms, as they mature. However, there is a limited

number of providers of such swaps, and there is no assurance
the initial swap providers will choose to renew the swaps,
and—if they do not renew—that we would be able to obtain
suitable replacement providers. Providers may cheoose not to
renew our total return swaps for a number of reasons, including:

+ increases in the provider’s cost of funding;
» insufficient volume of business with a particular provider;

« adesire by our company to invest in a type of swap thet
the provider does not view as economically attractive due
to changes in interest rates or other market factors; or

« the inability of our company and a provider to agree
on terms.

Furthermore, our ability to invest in total return swaps, other
than through a taxable REIT subsidiary, or TRS, may be
severely limited by the REIT qualification requirements
because total return swaps are not qualifying assets and do
not produce qualifying income for purposes of the REIT
asset and income tests.

We may be required to repurchase loans that we have sold
or to indemnify holders of our CDOs.

If any of the ioans we originate or acquire and sell or securi-
tize do not comply with representations and warranties that
we make about certain characteristics of the loans, the
borrowers and the underlying properties, we may be required
to repurchase those ioans (including from a trust vehicle
used to facilitate a structured financing of the assets through
CDOs) or replace them with substitute loans. In addition, in
the case of loans that we have sold instead of retained, we
may be required to indemnify persons for losses or expenses
incurred as a result of a breach of a representation or
warranty. Repurchased loans typically require a significant
allocation of working capital to carry on our books, and

our ability to borrow against such assets is limited. Any
significant repurchases or indemnification payments could
materially and adversely affect our financial condition and
operating results.

Our hedging transactions may limit our gains or result

in losses.

Subiject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we use
derivative instruments, including forwards, futures, swaps and
options, in our risk management strategy to limit the effects
of changes in interest rates on our operations. Qur primary
hedging strategy consists of entering into interest rate swap
contracts. Additionally, we, in certain select instances choose
to hedge our exposure to fluctuations in CMBS credit
spreads by purchasing swaps written against a broad-based
CMBS index. The value of our forwards, futures and swaps
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may fluctuate over time in response to changing market
conditions, and will tend to change inversely with the value
of the risk in our liabilities that we intend to hedge. Hedges
are sometimes ineffective because the correlation between
changes in value of the underlying investment and the
derivative instrument is less than was expected when the
hedging transaction was undertaken. Since a portion of our
hedging activity is intended to cover the period between
origination or purchase of loans and their eventual sale or
securitization, unmatched iosses in our hedging program can
occur when the planned securitization fails to occur, or if the
hedge proves to be ineffective.

Our hedging transactions, which are intended to limit losses,
may actually limit gains and increase our exposure to losses.
The use of derivatives to hedge our liabilities carries certain
risks, including the risk that losses on a hedge position will
reduce the cash available for distribution to stockholders and
that these losses may exceed the amount invested in such
instruments. A hedge may not be effective in eliminating all
of the risks inherent in any particular position and could
result in higher interest rates than we would otherwise have.
In addition, there will be many market risks against which we
may net be able to hedge effectively. Moreover, ne hedging
activity can completely insulate us from the risks associated
with changes in interest rates, and our qualification as a REIT
may limit our ability to effectively hedge our interest rate
exposure. Our profitability may be adversely affected during
any period as a result of the use of derivatives.

We are subject to significant competition and we may not
compete successfully.

We have significant competition with respect to our acquisi-
tion and origination of assets with many other companies,
including other REITs, insurance companies, commercial
banks, private investment funds, hedge funds, specialty
finance companies and other investors. Some competitors
may have a lower cost of funds and access to funding
sources that are not available to us. In addition, some of our
competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk
assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider
variety of investments and establish more relationships than
us. We cannot assure you that the competitive pressures we
face will not have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Also, as a result
of this competition, we may not be able to take advantage of
attractive investment opportunities from time to time, and
we can offer no assurance that we will be able to identify
and make investments that are consistent with our
investment objective.

|
|
|

|
Rapid changes in the values of our MBS and other real
estate related investments may make it more difficult! for
us to maintain our qualification as a REIT or exemption
from the Investment Company Act. |
If the market value or income potential of our MBS and Iother
real estate-related investrments declines as a resulit of |
increased interest rates, prepayment rates or ather factors,
we may need to increase our real estate investments am::i
income and/or liquidate our non-qualifying assets in ordler to
maintain our REIT gualification or exemption from the |
fnvestment Company Act. If the decline in real estate asset
values and/or income ¢ccurs quickly, this may be especi:aliy
difficult to accomplish. This difficulty may be exacerbated by
the iltiquid nature of many of cur non-real estate asset5.|We
may have to make investment decisions that we otherwise
would not make absent the REIT and Investment Comp:—lmy
Act considerations. !

If we fail to achieve adequate operating cash flow, ou'r
ability to make distributions will be adversely affecteél.

As a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 30% of o%.ur
REIT taxable income to our stockholders, determined without
regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excludin'g net
capital galn. Qur ability to make and sustain cash distrib'u—
tions is based on many factors, including the return on czlur
investments, operating expense levels and certain restricltions
imposed by Maryland law. Some of the factors are beyorlwd
our control and a change in any such factor could affect our
ability to pay future dividends. No assurance can be giv%n as

to our ability to pay distributions. |

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war ma'y
affect the market for our common stock, the industry :in
which we conduct our operations and our profitability;.
Terrorist attacks may harm our results of operaticns and’ the
stockholder’s investment. We cannot assure the stockholders
that there will not be further terrorist attacks against thel- Uus.
or U.S. businesses. These attacks or armed conflicts may
directly impact the property underlying our asset-based
securities or the securities markets in general. Losses resulting
from these types of events are uninsurable, }

More generally, any of these events could cause consumler
confidence and spending to decrease or result in increas;ed
volatility in the U.S. and worldwide financial markets andI
economy. Adverse economic conditions could harm the value
of the property underlying our asset-backed securities olr the
securities markets in general which could harm our operating
results and revenues and may result in the volatility of th!e

value of our securities. I
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We are highly dependent on information systems and
third parties, and systems failures could significantly
disrupt our business, which may, in turn, negatively affect
the market price of our common stock and our ability

to pay dividends.

Our business is highly dependent on communications and
information systems. Any failure or interruption of our
systems could cause delays or other problems in our securities
trading activities, including mortgage-backed securities
trading activities, which could have a material adverse effect
on our operating results and negatively affect the market
price of our common stock and our ability to pay dividends.

RISKS RELATED TO CUR INVESTMENTS

Some of our portfolio investments may be recorded at fair
value as determined in good faith by our Manager and, as
a result, there will be uncertainty as to the value of

these investments.

Some of our portfolio investments may be in the form of
securities that are not publicly traded. The fair value of
securities and other investments that are not publicly traded
may not be readily determinable. We value these investments
quarterly at fair value as determined in good faith by our
Manager. Because such valuations are inherently uncertain,
may fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based
on estimates, our determinations of fair value may differ
materially from the values that would have been used if a
ready market for these securities existed. The value of

our common stock could be adversely affected if our
determinations regarding the fair value of these investments
were materially higher than the values that we ultimately
realize upon their disposal. At December 31, 20086, we held
no such investments.

We may not realize gains or income from our investments.
We seek to generate both current income and capital
appreciation. However, the securities we invest in may not
appreciate in value and, in fact, may decline in value, and

the debt securities we invest in may default on interest
and/or principal payments. Accordingly, we may not be able
to realize gains or income from our investments. Any gains
that we do realize may not be sufficient to offset any other
losses we experience. Any income that we realize may not be
sufficient to offset our expenses,

A prolonged economic slowdown, a lengthy or severe
recession, or declining real estate values could harm

our operations.

We believe the risks associated with our business are more
severe during periods of economic slowdown or recession if

these periods are accompanied by declining real estate
values. Declining real estate values will likely reduce our level
of new mortgage loan originations, since borrowers often use
increases in the value of their existing properties to support
the purchase or investment in additional properties. Borrowars
may also be less able to pay principal and interest on our
loans if the real estate economy weakens. Further, declining
real estate values significantly increase the likelihood that we
will incur losses on our loans in the event of default because
the value of our collateral may be insufficient to cover our
cost on the loan. Any sustained period of increased payment
delinquencies, foreclosures or losses could adversely affect
hoth our net interest income from loans in our portfolio as
well as our ability to originate, sell and securitize loans, which
would significantly harm our revenues, results of operations,
financial condition, business prospects and our ability to
make distributions to the stockholders.

We may be adversely affected by unfavorable economic
changes in geographic areas where our properties

are concentrated.

Adverse conditions in the areas where the properties under-
lying our investments are located (including business laycffs
or downsizing, industry slowdowns, changing demographics
and other factors) and local real estate conditions (such as
oversupply of, or reduced demand for, office and industrial
properties) may have an adverse effect on the value of our
properties. A material decling in the demand or the ability of
tenants to pay rent for office and industrial space in these
geographic areas may result in a material decline in our cash
available for distribution.

Joint investments could be adversely affected by our

lack of sole decision-making authority and reliance upon
a co-venturer's financial condition.

We co-invest with third parties through partnerships, joirt
ventures, co-tenancies or other entities, acquiring non-
controlling interests in, or sharing responsibility for managing
the affairs of, a property, partnership, joint venture, co-tenancy
or other entity. Therefore, we will not be in a position to
exercise sole decision-making authority regarding that property,
partnership, joint venture or other entity. Investments in
partnerships, joint ventures, or other entities may involve risks
not present were a third party not involved, including the
possibility that our partners, co-tenants or co-venturers
might become bankrupt or otherwise fail to fund their share
of required capital contributions. Additionally, cur partners
or co-venturers might at any time have economic or other
business interests or goals which are inconsistent with our
business interests or goals. These investments may also have

B
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the potential risk of impasses on decisions such as a sale,
because neither we nor the partner, co-tenant or co-venturer
would have full control over the partnership or joint venture.
Consequently, actions by such partner, co-tenant or co-venturer
might result in subjecting properties owned by the partnership
or joint venture to additional risk. In addition, we may in specific
circumstances be liable for the actions of our third-party
partners, co-tenants or co-venturers.

We may in the future enter into joint venture agreements
that contain terms in faver of our partners that may have an
adverse effect on the value of our investments in the joint
ventures. For example, we may be entitled under a particular
joint venture agreement to an economic share in the profits
of the joint venture that is smaller than our ownership
percentage in the joint venture, our partner may be entitled
to a specified portion of the profits of the joint venture
before we are entitled te any portion of such profits and our
partner may have rights to buy our interest in the joint ven-
ture, to force us to buy the partner's interest in the joint
venture or to compel the sale of the property owned by such
joint venture. These rights may permit our partner in a
particular joint venture to obtain a greater benefit from the
value or profits of the joint venture than us, which may have
an adverse effect on the value of our investment in the joint
venture and on our financial condition and results of
operations,

Liability relating to environmental matters may impact the
value of the properties that we may acquire or underlying
our investments.

Under varicus U.S. federal, state and local laws, an owner or
operator of real property may become liable for the costs of
removal of certain hazardous substances released on its
property. These laws often impose liability without regard to
whether the owner or operator knew of, or, was responsible
for, the release of such hazardous substances.

If we acquire properties directly, there may be environmental
problems associated with the property which we were
unaware of at the time of acquisition. The presence of
hazardous substances may adversely affect an owner's ability
to seli real estate or borrow using real estate as collateral. To
the extent that an owner of a property underlying one of our
debt investments becomes liable for removal costs, the
ability of the owner to make debt payments to us may be
reduced. This, in turn, may adversely affect the value of the
relevant mortgage asset held by us and our ability to make
distributions to stockholders.

If we acquire any properties, the presence of hazardous
substances on a property may adversely affect our ability to

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. 2006 Annual Report

sell the property and we may incur substantial remediation
costs, thus harming our financial condition. In addition, |
although our leases, if any, will generally require our tenants
to operate in compliance with all applicable laws and to:
indemnify us against any environmental liabilities arising from
a tenant’s activities on the property, we nonetheless would
be subject to strict liability by virtue of our ownership '
interest for environmental liabilities created by such tenants,
and we cannoct ensure the stockholders that any tenants we
might have would satisfy their indemnification obligations
under the applicable sales agreement or lease. The discovery
of material environmental liabilities attached to such properties
could have a material adverse effect on our results of i
operations and financial condition and our ability to makze
distributions to our stockholders.

Hedging instruments often are not traded on regulatet‘.:l
exchanges, guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing
house, or regulated by any U.S. or foreign governmental
authorities and involve risks and costs. |
The cost of using hedging instruments increases as the
period covered by the instrument increases and during periods
of rising and volatile interest rates. We may increase our
hedging activity and thus increase our hedging costs during
periods when interest rates are volatile or rising and hedging
costs have increased. :
In addition, hedging instruments involve risk since they often
are not traded on regulated exchanges, guaranteed by an
exchange or its clearing house, or regulated by any U.S. ar
foreign governmental autherities. Consequently, there are no
requirements with respect to record keeping, financial l
responsibility or segregation of customer funds and positions.
Furthermore, the enforceability of agreements underlying
derivative transactions may depend on compliance with |
applicable statutory and commodity and other regulatory
requirements and, depending on the identity of the counter-
party, applicable international requirements. The business!‘
failure of a hedging counterparty with whom we enter into a
hedging transaction will most likely result in a default. |
Default by a party with whom we enter into a hedging trans-
action may result in the loss of unrealized profits and force
us to cover our resale commitments, if any, at the then |
current market price. Although generally we will seek to |
reserve the right to terminate our hedging positions, it maJy
not always be possible to dispose of or close out a hedging
position without the consent of the hedging counterparty,!
and we may not be able to enter into an offsetting contract
in order to cover our risk. We cannot be assured that a quLIJid
secondary market will exist for hedging instruments purchased
or sold, and we may be required to maintain a position until
exercise or expiration, which could result in losses. |




Prepayments can adversely affect the yields on our
investments.

The yield of our assets may be affected by the rate of
prepayments differing from our projections. Prepayments

on debt instruments, where permitted under the debt
documents, are influenced by changes in current interest
rates and a variety of economic, geographic and other
factors beyond our control, and consequentty, such prepayment
rates cannot be predicted with certainty. In periods of declining
interest rates, prepayments on mortgage at similar vields,
and loans generally increase. If we are unable to invest the
proceeds of such prepayments received, the yield on our
portfolio will decline. In addition, we may acquire assets at a
discount or premium and if the asset does not repay when
expected, our anticipated yield may be impacted. Under certain
interest rate and prepayment scenarios we may fail to recoup
fully our cost of acquisition of certain investments.

The loans we invest in and the commercial mortgage loans
underlying the CMBS we invest in are subject to risks of
delinquency and foreclosure.

Commercial mortgage loans are secured by commercial or
muiti-family property and are subject to risks of delinquency
and foreclosure. These risks of loss are greater than
similar risks associated with loans made on the security of
single-family residential property. The ability of a borrower
to pay principal and interest on a loan secured by an
income-producing property typically is dependent primarily
upon the successful operation of the property rather than
upon the existence of independent income or assets of the
borrower. If the net operating income of the property is
reduced, the borrower’s ability to repay the loan may be
impaired. Net operating income of an income-producing
property can be affected by a number of conditions beyond
our control, including:

* tenant mix;

» success of tenant businesses;

* property management decisions;

« property location and condition;

« competition from comparabte types of properties;

+ changes in laws that increase operating expense or limit
rents that may be charged;

* any need to address environmental contamination at the
property;
+ the occurrence of any uninsured casualty at the property;

« changes in national, regional or local economic conditions
and/or specific industry segments;

+ declines in regional or local real estate values;

+ declines in regional or local rental or occupancy rates;

+ increases in interest rates, real estate tax rates and other
operating expenses; and

changes in governmental rules, requlations and fiscal
policies, including environmental legislation, acts of God,
terrorism, social unrest and civil disturbances,

Any of these factors could have an adverse affect on the
ability of the borrower to make payments of principal and
interest in a timely fashion, or at all, on the moertgage loans in
which we invest and could adversely affect the cash flows we
intend to receive from these investments.

In the event of any default under a mortgage loan held
directly by us, we will bear the risk of loss of principal to the
extent of any deficiency between the value of the collateral
and the principal and accrued interest on the mortgage loan,
which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow
from operations and our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders. In the event of the bankruptcy of a mortgage
loan borrower, the mortgage loan to the borrower will be
deemed to be secured only to the extent of the value of the
underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as deter-
mined by the bankruptcy court), and the lien securing the
mortgage loan will be subject to the avoidance powers of the
bankruptcy trustee or debtor-in-possession to the extent the
lien is unenforceable under state law. Foreclosure of a
mortgage loan can be an expensive and lengthy process which
could have a substantial negative effect on our anticipated
return on the foreclosed mortgage loan.

CMBS evidence interests in or are secured by a single
commercial mortgage loan or a pool of commercial mortgage
loans. Residential MBS evidence interests in or are securecl
by a pool of single-family residential mortgage loans.
Accordingly, multi-property MBS we invest in are subject to
all of the risks of the underlying mortgage loans.

The subordinate interests in whole loans in which

we invest may be subject to additional risks relating

to the privately negotiated structure and terms of the
transaction, which may result in losses to us.

A subordinate interest in a whole loan is a mortgage loan
typically (i) secured by a whole loan on a single large
commercial property or group of related properties and
(ii) subordinated to a senior interest secured by the same
whole loan on the same collateral. As a result, if a borrower
defaults, there may not be sufficient funds remaining for
subordinate interest owners after payment to the senior
interest owners. Subordinate interests reflect similar credit
risks to comparably rated CMBS. However, since each
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transaction is privately negotiated, subordinate interests can
vary in their structural characteristics and risks. For example,
the rights of holders of subordinate interests to control the
process following a borrower default may be limited in certain
investments. We cannot predict the terms of each subordinate
investment. Further, subordinate interests typically are
secured by a single property, and so reflect the increased
risks associated with a single property compared to a pool of
properties. Subordinate interests also are less liquid than
CMBS, thus we may be unable to dispose of underperforming
or non-performing investments. The higher risks associated
with our subordinate position in these investments could
subject us to increased risk of losses.

Investment in non-conforming and non-investment grade
loans may involve increased risk of loss.

We acquire or originate and may continue to acquire or
originate in the future certain loans that do not conform to
conventional loan criteria applied by traditional lenders and
are not rated or are rated as non-investment grade (for
example, for investments rated by Moody's Investors Service,
ratings lower than Baa3, and for Standard & Poor’s, BBB- or
below). The non-investment grade ratings for these loans
typically result from the overali leverage of the loans, the lack
of a strong operating history for the properties underlying
the locans, the borrowers’ credit history, the properties’
underlying cash flow or other factors. As a result, these loans
have a higher risk of default and loss than conventional
loans. Any loss we incur may reduce distributions to our
stockholders. There are no limits on the percentage of unrated
or non-investment grade assets we may hold in our portfolio.

Investments in mezzanine loans involve greater risks

of loss than senior loans secured by income

producing properties.

Investments in mezzanine loans are secured by a pledge of
the ownership interests in the entity that directly or indirectly
owns the property. These types of investments involve a
higher degree of risk than a senior mortgage loan because
the investment may become unsecured as a result of fore-
closure by the senior lender. In the event of a bankruptcy of
the entity providing the pledge of its ownership interests as
security, we may not have full recourse, to the assets of the
property owning entity, or the assets of the entity may not
be sufficient to satisfy our mezzanine loan. If a borrower
defaults on our mezzanine loan or debt senior to our loan, or
in the event of a borrower bankruptcy, our mezzanine loan
wili be satisfied only after the senior debt is paid in full. As a
result, we may not recover some or all of our investment,
which could result in fosses. In addition, mezzanine loans may
have higher loan to value ratios than conventional mortgage
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loans, resulting in less equity in the property and increasing
the risk of loss of principal. ‘r

Bridge loans involve a greater risk of loss than traditiotnal
mortgage loans. i

We provide bridge loans secured by first lien mortgages' on
a property to borrowers who are typically seeking short;term
capital to be used in an acquisition or renovation of real!
estate. The borrower has usually identified an undervalufad
asset that has been under-managed or is located in a recov-
ering market. If the market in which the asset is located fails
to recover according 1o the borrower's projections, or if the
borrower fails to improve the quality of the asset's manage-
ment or the value of the asset, the borrower may not reg:eive
a sufficient return on the asset to satisfy the bridge loan, and
we may not recover some or all of our investment.

In addition, owners usually borrow funds under a conventional
mortgage loan to repay a bridge loan. We may thereforé be
dependent on a borrower’s ability to obtain permanent |
financing to repay our bridge loan, which could depend 'on
market conditions and other factors, Bridge loans are alsp
subject to risks of borrower defaults, bankruptcies, fraud,
losses and special hazard losses that are not covered by
standard hazard insurance. In the event of any default under
bridge loans held by us, we bear the risk of loss of principal
and non-payment of interest and fees to the extent of any
deficiency between the value of the mortgage collateralland
the principal amount of the bridge loan. To the extent we
suffer such losses with respect to our investments in brigge
loans, the value of our company and the price of our common

stock may be adversely affected.
!

Preferred equity investments involve a greater risk of :Ioss
than traditional debt financing. i
Preferred equity investments are subordinate to debt financing
and are not secured. Should the issuer default on our invest?nent,
we would only be able to proceed against the entity that
issued the preferred equity in accordance with the terms of
the preferred security, and not any property owned by the
entity. Furthermore, in the event of bankruptcy or foreclosure,
we would only be able to recoup our investment after any
lenders to the entity are paid. As a result, we may not recover
some or all of our investment, which could result in losses.

Our investments in subordinate loans and subordinated
CMBS are subject to losses.

We acquire subordinated loans and may invest in subordinated
CMBS. In the event a borrower defaults on a loan and Ia‘cks
sufficient assets to satisfy our loan, we may suffer a Ioss‘

of principal or interest. In the event a borrower declares

bankruptcy, we may not have full recourse to the assetsiof

|




the borrower, or the assets of the borrower may not be
sufficient to satisfy the loan. In addition, certain of our loans
may be subordinate to other debt of the borrower. If a
borrower defaults on our loan or on debt senior to our loan,
or in the event of a borrower bankruptcy, our loan will be
satisfied only after the senior debt is paid in full. Where debt
senior to our loan exists, the presence of intercreditor
arrangements may limit our ability to amend our loan
documents, assign our loans, accept prepayments, exercise our
remedies (through “standstill periods”) and control decisions
made in bankruptcy proceedings relating to borrowers.

In general, 10sses on a mortgage loan included in a securiti-
zation will be borne first by the equity holder of the property,
then by a cash reserve fund or letter of credit, if any, and
then by the “first loss” subordinated security holder. In the
event of default and the exhaustion of any equity support,
reserve fund, letter of credit and any classes of securities
junior to those in which we invest, we will not be able to
recover all of our investment in the securities we purchase.
Likewise, we may not be able to recover some or all of our
investment in certain subordinated loans in which we obtain
interests. In addition, if the underlying mortgage portfolio
has been overvalued by the originator, or if the values
subsequently decline and, as a result, less collateral is
available to satisfy interest and principal payments due on
the retated MBS, the securities in which we invest may
effectively become the “first loss” position behind the more
senior securities, which may result in significant losses to us,

An economic downturn could increase the risk of loss on our
investrments in subordinated MBS. The prices of lower credit-
quality securities, such as the subordinated MBS in which we
may invest, are generally less sensitive to interest rate
changes than mare highly rated investments, but are more
sensitive to adverse economic downturns or individual prop-
erty developments. An economic downturn or a projection of
an economic downturn could cause a decline in the price of
lower credit quality securities because the ability of obligors
of mortgages underlying MBS to make principal and interest
payments may be impaired. In such event, existing credit
support to a securitized structure may be insufficient to
protect us against loss of our principal on these securities.

Qur investments in debt securities are subject to specific
risks relating to the particular issuer of the securities

and to the general risks of investing in subordinated

real estate securities.

Qur investrments in debt securities invelve special risks. REITs
generally are required to invest substantially in real estate or
real estate-related assets and are subject to the inherent risks
associated with real estate-related investments discussed in

this filing. Our investments in debt are subject to the risks
described above with respect to mortgage loans and MBS
and similar risks, including:

+ risks of delinguency and foreclosure, and risks of loss in
the event thereof;

the dependence upon the successful operation of and net
income from real property;

risks generally incident to interests in real property; and

« risks that may be presented by the type and use of a
particular commercial property.

Debt securities may be unsecured and may also be
subordinated to other obligations of the issuer. We may also
invest in debt securities that are rated below investment
grade. As a result, investments in debt securities are also
subject to risks of:

« limited liguidity in the secondary trading market;

+ substantial market price volatility resulting from changes
in prevailing interest rates;

+ subordination to the prior claims of banks and other
senior lenders to the issuer;

« the operation of mandatory sinking fund or call/redemption
provisions during periods of declining interest rates that
could cause the issuer to reinvest premature redemption
proceeds in lower vielding assets;

+ the possibility that earnings of the debt security issuer
may be insufficient to meet its debt service; and

« the declining creditworthiness and potential for insolvency
of the issuer of such debt securities during periods of
rising interest rates and economic downturn.

These risks may adversely affect the value of cutstanding
debt securities and the ability of the issuers thereof to repay
principal and interest.

Our real estate investments are subject to risks particular
to real property.

We own assets secured by real estate and may own real
estate directly. Real estate investments are subject to risks
particular to real property.

+ acts of God, including earthquakes floods and other
natural disasters, which may result in uninsured fosses;

+ acts of war or terrorism, including the consequences
of terrorist attacks, such as those that occurred on
September 1, 2001;

+ adverse changes in national and local economic and
market conditions;
changes in governmental laws and regulations, fiscal
policies and zoning ordinances and the related costs
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of compliance with laws and regulations, fiscal policies
and ordinances;

» costs of remediation and liabilities associated with
environmental conditions such as indoor mold; and

« the potential for uninsured or under-insured property losses.

If any of these or similar events occur, it may reduce our
return from an affected property or investment and reduce
or eliminate our ability to make distributions to stockholders.

Our real estate investments may be illiquid, which could
restrict our ability to respond rapidly to changes in
economic conditions.

The real estate and real estate-related assets in which we
invest are generally illiquid. In addition, the instruments

that we purchase in connection with privateiy negotiated
transactions are not registered under the relevant securities
laws, resulting in a prohibition against their transfer, sale,
pledge or other disposition except in a transaction that is
exempt from the registration requirements of, or is ctherwise
in accordance with, those laws. A majority of the MBS and
debt instruments that we purchase are purchased in private,
unregistered transactions. As a result, the majority of our
investrments in securities are subject to restrictions on resale
or otherwise have no established trading market. As a result,
our ability to sell under-performing assets in our portfolio or
respond to changes in economic and other conditions may
be relatively limited.

Investments in CTL properties may generate losses.

The value of our investments and the income from our
investments in CTL properties may be significantly adversely
affected by a number of factors, inciuding;

* national, state and local economic climates;

+ real estate conditions, such as an oversupply of or a
reduction in demand for real estate space in the area;

«  the perceptions of tenants and prospective tenants of the
convenience, attractiveness and safety of our properties;

» competition from comparable properties;
+ the occupancy rate of our properties;
* the ability to coliect on a timely basis ali rent from tenants;

+ the effects of any bankruptcies or insclvencies of major
tenants;

+  the expense of re-leasing space;

+ changes in interest rates and in the availability, cost and
terms of mortgage funding;

* the impact of present or future environmental legislation
and compliance with environmental laws;

+ cost of compliance with the American with Disabilities Act
af 1990;
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« adverse changes in governmental rules and fiscal poli;cies;

+ civi} unrest; |
!

» acts of nature, including earthquakes, hurricanes and}
other natural disasters (which may result in uninsured
losses),

+ acts of terrorism or war; !
t
* adverse changes in zoning laws; and !
|

+ other factors which are beyond our control.

|

We may enter into derivative contracts that could expose
us to contingent liabilities in the future.

Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, part of
our investment strategy involves entering into derivative
contracts that could require us to fund cash payments in:the
future under certain circumstances, e.g., the early termin'ation
of the derivative agreement caused by an event of default or
other early termination event, or the decision by a counter-
party to request margin securities it is contractually owe:d
under the terms of the derivative contract. The amount due
would be equal to the unrealized loss of the open swap
pasitions with the respective counterparty and could also
include other fees and charges. These economic losses vs.:ill
be reflected in our financial results of operations, and our
ability to fund these obligations will depend on the liquidity
of gur assets and access to capital at the time, and the

need to fund these obligations could adversely impact our
financial condition.

Qur due diligence may not reveal all of a borrower’s
liabilities and may not reveal other weaknesses in

its business. |
Before investing in @ company or making a loan to a borrc:;wer,
we assess the strength and skills of such entity’s management
and other factors that we believe are material to the
performance of the investment. In making the assessment
and otherwise conducting custamary due diligence, we rély
on the resources available to us and, in some cases, an
investigation by third parties. This process is particularty |
subjective with respect to newly organized entities because
there may be little or no information publicly available about
the entities. There can be no assurance that our due diligence
processes will uncover all relevant facts or that any investment
will be successful.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR ORGANIZATION 5
AND STRUCTURE

|
The concentration of our ownership may adversely affect

the ability of investors to influence our policies. I

5L Green owns approximately 25% of the cutstanding shares
of our common stock. In addition, SL Green has the right to
purchase 25% of the shares in any future offering of common




stock. Accordingly, SL Green has significant influence over us.

The ownership level of SL Green may discourage or prevent
others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the
difficulty of consummating any offer, including potential
acquisitions that might involve a premium price for our
common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our
stockholders. This concentration of ownership may result

in decisions affecting us that may not serve the best interest
of all stockholders.

Maryland takeover statutes may prevent a change of control
of our company, which could depress our stock price.
Under Maryland law, “business combinations” between a
Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder or an
affiliate of an interested stockholder are prohibited for five
years after the most recent date on which the interested
stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These
business combinations include a merger, consolidation, share
exchange, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an
asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity
securities. An interested stockholder is defined as:

+ any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the
voting power of the corporation’s shares; or

« an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any
time within the two-year period prior to the date in
question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of
the voting power of the then outstanding voting stock
of the corporation.

A person is not an interested stockholder under the statute
if the board of directors approves in advance the transaction
by which he otherwise would have become an interested
stockholder.

After the five-year prohibition, any business combination
between the Maryland corporation and an interested stock-
holder generally must be recommended by the board of
directors of the corporation and approved by the affirmative
vote of at [east:

« B80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of out-
standing shares of voting stock of the corporation; and

+  two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of
voting stock of the carporation other than shares held by
the interested stockholder with whom or with whose
affiliate the business combination is to be effected or held
by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder.

The business combination statute may discourage others
from trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty
of consummating any offer, including potential acquisitions
that might involve a premium price for our common stock or
otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.

We have opted out of these provisions of the Maryland
General Corporation Law, or the MGCL, with respect to

its business combination provisions and its control share
provisions by resolution of our board of directors and a
provision in our bylaws, respectively. However, in the future
our board of directors may reverse its decision by resolution
and elect to opt in to the MGCL's business combination
provisions, or amend our bylaws and elect to opt in to the
MGCL's control share provisions.

Additionally, Title 8, Subtitle 3 of the MGCL permits our
board of directors, without stockholder approval and
regardless of what is provided in our charter or bylaws, to
implement takeover defenses, some of which we do not
have, These provisions may have the effect of inhibiting a
third party from making us an acquisition proposal or of
delaying, deferring or preventing a change in our control
under circumstances that otherwise could provide the
stockholders with an opportunity to realize a premium over
the then-current market price.

Our authorized but unissued preferred stock may prevent
a change in our control which could be in the shareholders’
best interests.

Our charter authorizes us to issue additional authorized but
unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock.
Any such issuance could dilute our existing stockholders’
interests. tn addition, our board of directors may classify or
reclassify any unissued shares of preferred stock and may set
the preferences, rights and other terms of the classified or
reclassified shares. As a result, our board of directors may
establish a series of preferred stock that could delay or
prevent a transaction or a change in control that might be in
the best interest of our stockholders.

Our staggered board of directors and other provisions

of our charter and bylaws may prevent a change in

our control.

Qur board of directors is divided into three classes of
directors. The current terms of the directors expire in 2006,
2007 and 2008. Directors of each class are chosen for
three-year terms upon the expiration of their current terms,
and each year one class of directors is elected by the
stockholders. The staggered terms of our directors may
reduce the possibility of a tender offer or an attempt at a
change in control, even though a tender offer or change in
control might be in the best interest of our stockholders. In
addition, our charter and bylaws also contain other provisions
that may delay or prevent a transaction or a change in
control that might be in the best interest of our stockholders.

H
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Changes in market conditions could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.

As with other publicly traded equity securities, the value of
our common stock depends on various market conditions
which may change from time to time. Among the market
conditions that may affect the value of our common stock
are the following:

+ the general reputation of REITs and the attractiveness
of our equity securities in comparison to other equity
securities, including securities issued by other real
estate-based companies;

« our financial performance; and

« general stock and bond market conditions.

The market value of our common stock is based primarily
upon the market’s perception of our growth potential and
our current and potential future earnings and cash dividends.
Consequently, our common stock may trade at prices that
are higher or lower than our net asset value per share of
common stock. If our future earnings or cash dividends are
less than expected, it is likely that the market price of our
common stock will diminish.

An increase in market interest rates may have an adverse
effect on the market price of our common stock.

One of the factors that investors may consider in deciding
whether to buy or sell shares of our common stock is our
distribution rate as a percentage of our share price relative
to market interest rates. If the market price of our common
stock is based primarily on the earnings and return that we
derive from our investments and income with respect to our
investments and our related distributions to stockholders,
and not from the market value of the investments themselves,
then interast rate fluctuations and capital market conditions
will likely affect the market price of our common stock. For
instance, if market rates rise without an increase in our
distribution rate, the market price of our common stock
could decrease as potential investors may require a higher
distribution yield on our common stock or seek other securities
paying higher distributions or interest. In addition, rising
interest rates would result in increased interest expense on our
variable rate debt, thereby adversely affecting cash flow and
our ability to service our indebtedness and pay distributions.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR TAXATION AS A REIT

Our failure to qualify as a REIT would result in higher taxes
and reduced cash available for stockholders.

We intend to continue to operate in a manner so as to qualify
as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Our continued
qualification as a REIT depends on our satisfaction of certain
asset, income, organizational, distribution and stockholder
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ownership requirements on a continuing basis. Our ability to
satisfy some of the asset tests depends upon the fair market
values of our assets, some of which are not able to be preéise!y
determined and for which we will not obtain independent
appraisals. If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable
year, and certain statutory relief provisions were not avaiigble.
we would be subject to U.S. federal income tax, inciuding any
applicable alternative minimum tax, on our taxable income at
regular corporate rates, and distributions to stockholders
would not be deductible by us in computing our taxable
income. Any such corporate tax liability could be substantial
and would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution.
Unless entitled to relief under certain Internal Revenue Code
provisions, we also would be disqualified from taxation a!s a
REIT for the four taxable years following the year during,

which we ceased to qualify as a REIT. |
1

REIT distribution requirements could adversely affect'
our liquidity.

In order to qualify as a REIT, each year we must distribute to
our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income,
determined without regard to the dividends paid deduct;ion.
and not including any net capital gain. To the extent that| we
satisfy this distribution requirement, but distribute less than
100% of our net taxable income, we will be subject to U.S.
federal corporate income tax on our undistributed net taxable
income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible
excise tax if the actual amount that we pay out to our i
stockholders in a calendar year is less than a minimum'
amount specified under U.S. federal tax laws. !

We intend to continue to make distributions to our stockL
holders to comply with the REIT distribution requiremenﬁs
and avoid corporate income tax and/or excise tax. However,
differences in timing between the recognition of taxable ;
income and the actual receipt of cash could require us ta sell
assets or borrow funds on a short-term or long-term basis to
meet the 90% distribution requirement or avoid corporate
income or excise tax, We may own assets that generate ‘
mismatches between taxable income and available cash.
These assets may include (a) securities that have been
financed through financing structures which require some or
all of available cash flows to be used to service borrowings,
(b} loans or MBS we hold that have been issued at a discount
and require the accrual of taxable economic interest in
advance of receipt in cash, and (¢) distressed debt on which
we may be required to accrue taxable interest income aven
though the borrower is unable to make current debt service
payments in cash. As a result, the requirement to distribu’te a
substantial portion of our net taxable income could cause us
to: (a) sell assets in adverse market conditions, (b) borrow
on unfavorable terms or (c) distribute amounts that woul%i
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otherwise be invested in future acquisitions, capital expenditures
or repayment of debt to comply with REIT requirements.

To maximize the return on our funds, cash generated from
operations is expected to be used to tempeorarily pay down
borrowings. When making distributions, we may borrow the
required funds by drawing on credit capacity available under
our credit or repurchase facilities, If distributions exceed the
amount of cash generated from operations, we may be ’
required to borrow additional funds, which, in turn, would
reduce the amount of funds available for other purposes.

Further, amounts distributed will not be available to fund
investment activities. We expect to fund our investments by
raising equity capital and through borrowings from financial
institutions. If we fail to obtain debt or equity capital in the
future, it could limit our ability to grow, which could have a
material adverse effect on the value of our common stock.

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to
hedge effectively.

The existing REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code
may substantially limit our ability to hedge our operations.
Except to the extent provided by Treasury regulations, any
income from a hedging transaction we enter into in the normal
course of our business primarily to manage risk of interest
rate or price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to
borrowings made or to be made, or ordinary obligations
incurred or to be incurred, to acquire or carry real estate
assets, which is clearly identified as specified in Treasury
regulations before the close of the day on which it was
acquired, criginated, or entered into, including gain from the
sale or disposition of such a transaction, will not constitute
gross income for purposes of the 95% gross income test
{and will generally constitute non-qualifying income for
purposes of the 75% gross income test). To the extent that
we enter intg other types of hedging transactions, the
income from those transactions is likely to be treated as
non-qualifying income for purposes of both of the gross
income tests. In addition, we must limit cur aggregate
income from non-qualified hedging transactions, from our
provision of services and from other non-qualifying sources,
to less than 5% of our annual gross income (determined
without regard to gross income from qualified hedging
transactions). As a result, we may have to limit our use of
certain hedging technigques or implement those hedges
through TRSs. This could result in greater risks associated
with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want
to incur or could increase the cost of cur hedging activities.
If we fail to satisfy the 25% or 5% limitations, we could lose
our REIT qualification for U.S. federal income tax purposes,
unless our failure was due to reasonable cause and not due
to willful neglect, and we meet certain other technical

requirements. Even if our failure was due to reasonable
cause, we might incur a penalty tax.

The stock ownership limit imposed by the Internal
Revenue Code for REITs and our charter may inhibit
market activity in our stock and may restrict cur business
combination opportunities.

In order for us to maintain our qualification as a REIT under
the Internal Revenue Code, not more than 50% in value of
our outstanding stock may be owned, directly or indirectly,
by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Internal
Revenue Code to include certain entities) at any time during
the last half of each taxable year. Our charter, with certain
exceptions, authorizes our directors to take such actions as
are necessary and desirable to preserve our qualification as a
REIT. Unless exempted by our board of directors, no person
may own more than 9.8% of the aggregate value of the
outstanding shares of our stock. Qur board of directors may
not grant such an exemption to any proposed transferee
whose ownership of in excess of 9.8% of the value of our out-
standing shares would result in the termination of our status
as a REIT. Our board of directors has waived this provision in
connection with SL Green's purchase of our shares. We have
also granted waivers to two other purchasers in connection
with their purchase of our shares in a previous private
placement. These ownership limits could delay or prevent a
transaction or a change in our control that might be in the
best interest of our stockholders.

The tax on prohibited transactions will limit our ability

to engage in transactions, including certain methods

of securitizing mortgage 1oans, that would be treated

as sales for U.S, federal income tax purposes.

A REIT's net income from prohibited transactions is subject
to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales or
other dispositions of property, other than foreclosure
property, but including mortgage loans, held primarily for
sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. We
might be subject to this tax if we were to sell or securitize
loans in a manner that was treated as a sale of the loans fcr
U.S. federal income tax purposes. Therefore, in order to
avoid the prohibited transactions tax, we may choose not o
engage in certain sales of loans and may limit the structures
we utilize for our securitization transactions even though
such sales or structures might otherwise be beneficial for us.

It may be possible to reduce the impact of the prohibited
transaction tax by engaging in securitization transactions
treated as sales through one or more of our TRSs, subject 1o
certain limitations as described below. To the extent that we
engage in such activities through one or more TRSs, the
income associated with such activities may be subject to full
corporate income tax.

3
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The “taxable mortgage pool” rules may limit the manner
in which we effect future securitizations and may subject
us to U.S. federal income tax and increase the tax liability
of our stockholders.

Certain of our current and future securitizations, such as our
CDOs, could be considered to result in the creation of taxable
mortgage pools for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a
REIT, so long as we or another private subsidiary REIT own
100% of the equity interests in a taxable mortgage pool, our
qualification as a REIT would not be adversely affected by
the characterization of the securitization as a taxable mortgage
pool. We would generally be precluded, however, from
holding equity interests in such securitizations through

our operating partnership (unless held through a private
subsidiary REIT), selling to outside investors equity interests
in such securitizations or from selling any debt securities
issued in connection with such securitizations that might be
considered to be equity interests for tax purposes. These
limitations will preclude us from using certain techniques to
maximize our returns from securitization transactions.

Furthermore, we are taxable at the highest corporate income
tax rate on a portion of the income arising from a taxable
mortgage pool that is allocable to the percentage of our
shares held by "disqualified organizations,” which are gener-
ally certain cooperatives, governmental entities and tax-
exempt organizations that are exempt from unrelated
business taxable income. We expect that disqualified organi-
zations will own our shares from time to time.

In addition, if we realize excess inclusion income and allocate
it to stockholders, this income cannot be offset by net
operating losses of our stockholders. If the stockholder is a
tax-exempt entity and not a disqualified organization, then
this income would be fully taxable as unrelated business
taxable income under Section 512 of the Internal Revenue
Code. If the stockholder is a foreign person, it would be
subject to U.S. federal income tax withholding on this.
Nominees or other broker/dealers who hold our stock on
behalf of disqualified organizations are subject to tax at the
highest corporate income tax rate on a portion of our excess
inclusion income allocable to the stock held on behalf of
disqualified organizations. If the stockholder is a REIT, a
regulated investment company, or RIC, common trust fund,
or other pass-through entity, its atlocable share of our excess
inclusion income could be considered excess inclusion income
of such entity and such entity will be subject to tax at the
highest corporate tax rate on any excess inclusion income
allocated to their owners that are disqualified organizations.
Accordingly, such investors should be aware that a portion of
our income may be considered excess inclusion income.
Finally, if we fail to qualify as a REIT, our taxable mortgage
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pool securitizations will be treated as separate taxabtle |
corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes. |
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We may be unable to generate sufficient revenue from
operations to pay our operating expenses and to pay!
distributions to our stockholders. '

As a REIT, we are generally required to distribute at Ieaslt
90% of our REIT taxable income (determined without regard
to the dividends paid deduction and not including net cbpital
gains) each year to our stockholders. To qualify for the tax
benefits accorded to REITs, we have and intend to continue
to pay quarterly distributions and to make distributions to
our stockholders in amounts such that we distribute all Pr
substantiatly all our net taxable income each year, subject to
certain adjustments. However, our ability to make distrit:u-
tions may be adversely affected by the risk factors described
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A. In the event of a
downturn in our operating results and financial performance
or unanticipated declines in the value of our asset portfolio,
we may be unable to declare or pay quarterty distributions or
make distributions to our stockholders. The timing and
amount of distributions are in the sole discretion of our
board of directors, which considers, among other factors, our
earnings, financial condition, debt service obligations antd
applicable debt covenants, REIT qualification requirements
and other tax considerations and capital expenditure reauire-
ments as our beard may deem relevant from time to timle.

Although our use of TRSs may be able to partially mit[igate
the impact of meeting the requirements necessary to,
maintain our qualification as a REIT, ocur ownership of and
relationship with our TRSs will be limited and a failuré to
comply with the limits would jeopardize our REIT qualifi-
cation and may result in the application of a 100%
excise tax.
A REIT may own up to 100% of the stock of one or more
TRSs. A TRS generally may hold assets and earn income{ that
would not be qualifying assets or income if held or earned
directly by a REIT. Both the subsidiary and the REIT must
jointly elect to treat the subsidiary as a TRS. A corporation of
which a TRS directly or indirectly owns more than 35% of the
voting power or value of the stock will automatically be)
treated as a TRS. Overall, no more than 20% of the value of a
REIT's assets may consist of stock or securities of one oLr
more TRSs. In addition, the TRS rules limit the deductibility
of interest paid or accrued by a TRS to its parent REIT to
assure that the TRS is subject to an appropriate level of
corporate taxation. The rules also impose a 100% excise|tax
on certain transactions between a TRS and its parent REIT
that are not conducted on an arm’s-length basis. !

f
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Qur TRSs, including GKK Trading Corp. and GIT Trading
Corp., will pay U.S. federal, state and local income tax on




their taxable income, and their after-tax net income will be
available for distribution to us but will not be required to be
distributed to us. We anticipate that the aggregate value of
TRS securities owned by us will be less than 20% of the value
of our total assets (including such TRS securities).
Furthermore, we will monitor the value of our respective
investments in our TRSs for the purpose of ensuring compli-
ance with the rule that no more than 20% of the value of a
REIT’s assets may consist of TRS securities (which is applied
at the end of each calendar quarter). In addition, we will
scrutinize all of our transactions with our TRSs for the purpose
of ensuring that they are entered into on arm’s-length terms
in order to avoid incurring the 100% excise tax described
above. The value of the securities that we hold in our TRSs
may not be subject to precise valuation. Accordingly, there can
be no complete assurance that we will be able to comply
with the 20% limitation discussed above or avoid application
of the 100% excise tax discussed above.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information
This report contains “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Act, and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act,
You can identify forward-looking statements by the use of
forward-looking expressions such as "may,” “will,” "should,”
“expect,” "anticipate,” "estimate,” “believe,” "intend,” “plan,”
“project,” “continue,” or any negative or other variations on
such expressions. Forward-looking statements include infor-
mation concerning possible or assumed future results of our
operations, including any forecasts, projections, plans and
objectives for future operations. Although we believe that
our plans, intentions and expectations as reflected in or
suggested by those forward-locking statements are reascnable,
we can give no assurance that the plans, intentions or
expectations will be achieved. We have listed below some
important risks, uncertainties and contingencies which could
cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be
materially different from the forward-looking statements we
make in this report. These risks, uncertainties and contingencies
include, but are not limited to, the following:

+ the success or failure of our efforts to implement our
current business strategy;

+ economic conditions generally and in the commercial
finance and commercial real estate markets specifically;

+ the performance and financial condition of borrowers and
corporate customers,

= the actions of our competitors and our ability to respond
to those actions;

+ the cost of our capital, which depends in part on our asset
quality, the nature of our relationships with our lenders

and other capital providers, our business prospects and
outlook and general market conditions;

+ availability of qualified personnel;

availability of investment opportunities on real estate
related and other securities;

+ the adequacy of our cash reserves and working capital;

+ unanticipated increases in financing and other costs,
including a rise in interest rates;

* the timing of cash flows , if any, from our investments;
= risks of structured finance investments;

« GKK Manager LLC remaining as ocur Manager;

= environmental and/or safety requirements;

« continuing threats or terrorist attacks on the national,
regional and local economies;

+ competition with other companies;

» our ability to satisfy complex rules in order for us to
qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes and
qualify for our exemption under the Investment Company
Act, our operating partnership’s ability to satisfy the rules
in order for it to qualify as a partnership for federal income
tax purposes, the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to
qualify as REITs, and the ability of certain of our subsidiaries
to qualify as taxable REIT subsidiaries for federal income
tax purposes, and our ability and the ahility of our
subsidiaries to operate effectively within the limitations
imposed by these rules;

« changes in governmental regulations, tax rates and similar
matters; and

+ legislative and regulatory changes (including changes to
laws governing the taxation of REITs), and other factors,
many of which are beyond our control.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of future
events, new information or otherwise.

The risks included here are not exhaustive. Other sections of
this report may include additional factors that could adversely
affect our business and financial performance. Moreover,

we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing
environment. New risk factors emerge from time to time and
it is not possible for management to predict all such risk
factors, nor can it assess the impact of all such risk factors
on our business or the extent to which any factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking
statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, investors
should not place undue reliance on forward-looking state-
ments as a prediction of actual results.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOQOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
As of December 31, 2006, we did not have any unresolved
comments with the Staff of the SEC.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Qur corporate offices are located in midtown Manhattan at

420 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York 10170. We can .

be contacted at (212) 297-1000. We maintain a website at
www.gramercycapitalcorp.com.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As of December 31, 2006, we were not involved in any
material litigation nor, to management’s knowledge, is any
material litigation threatened against us or our Manager.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF
SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of our stockholders
during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2006,
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PART 1l

ITEM 5. -MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our commoen stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE") on August 2, 2004 under the symbol “"GKK.” On
February 27, 2007, the reported closing sale price per share of common stock on the NYSE was $31.94 and there were approxi-
mately 42 holders of record of our common stock. The table below sets forth the gquarterly high and low closing sales prices of
our commoen stock on the NYSE since our initial public offering and the distributions paid by us with respect to the periods indicated.

2006 2005
Quarter Ended High Low Dividends High Low Dlvidends
March 3t $31.15 $24.70 $0.50 $22.25 $19.23 $0.22
June 30 $27.10 $24.89 $0.51 $24.98 $18.64 $0.35
September 30 $27.40 $23.61 $0.51 $26.91 $22.47 $£0.45
December 31 $26.80 $23.18 $0.56 $24.00 $22.41 $0.475

If dividends are declared in a quarter, those dividends will be paid during the subsequent quarter. We expect to continue our
policy of generally distributing 100% of our taxable income through regular cash dividends on a quarterly basis, although there
is no assurance as to future dividends because they depend on future earnings, capital requirements and financial condition.
See Item 7 "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Dividends” for additional
information regarding our dividends.

We declared a quarterly dividend of $0.56 per share, payable on January 12, 2007, for stockholders of record of our commoen
stock on December 29, 2006.

The following table summarizes information, as of December 31, 20086, relating to our equity compensation plans pursuant to
which shares of our common stock or other equity securities may be granted from time to time.

)
Number of securitias
(a) remalning available for

Number of securities
to be issued upon
exerclse of
outstanding options,

(b)

Wwelghted average
exercise price of
outstanding options,

future issuance under
equity compensation

plans (excluding
securities reflected in

Plan category warrants and rights warrants and rights column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders® 830,001 $18.02 1,212,840
Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders N/A N/A N/A
Total 830,001 $18.02 1,212,840

(1) includes infermation related to our 2004 Equity Incentive Plan.

SALE OF UNREGISTERED AND REGISTERED
SECURITIES; USE OF PROCEEDS FROM
REGISTERED SECURITIES

On August 2, 2004, we consummated the initial public
offering of our common stock, $0.001 par value per share.
The shares of common stock sold in the offering were regis-
tered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Act. All 12,500,000 shares of common stock regis-
tered under the Registration Statement were sold at a price
to the public of $15.00 per share, generating gross proceeds
of approximately $187.5 million. We paid underwriting
discounts and commissions of $9.8 million in this offering.
The net proceeds to us were approximately $172.9 million,

which were contributed to our Operating Partnership to
make investments in commercial real estate-refated loans
and securities and for general corporate purposes, including
financing and operating expenses and other expenses of
our company. All of the shares of common stock were sold
by us and there were no selling stockholders in the offering.
Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce,
Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Banc of America LLC and
JMP Securities LLC acted as our principal underwriters in
this offering.

On December 3, 2004 we sold 5,500,000 shares of common
stock, at a price of $17.27 per share, through a private place-
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ment exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of
the Securities Act. We subsequently registered the resale of
these shares under the Securities Act in August 2005. A total
of 4,225,000 shares were sold to various institutional
investors and an additional 1,275,000 were sold to SL Green
Operating Partnership, L.P, an affiliate of SL Green Realty
Corp., pursuant to its contractual right to choase to maintain
a 25% ownership interest in the outstanding shares of cur
common stock. On December 31, 2004, 2,000,000 shares
sold in the offering were issued. The remaining 3,500,000
shares were issued on January 3, 2005. The net proceeds
from the offering (approximately $93.7 million) were used to
fund additional investments, repay borrowings and for
general corporate purposes. We did not use an underwriter;
however, our Manager arranged the transaction and received
a fee of $1.0 million.

On September 14, 2005 we sold 3,833,333 shares of commeon
stock, at a price of $25.80 per share, under our $350 million
shelf registration statement declared effective in August 2005,
resulting in net proceeds of approximately $97.8 million. We
paid underwriting discounts and commissions of $0.5 million
in this offering. A total of 2,875,000 shares were scld through
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a public offering and an additional 958,333 shares wertj sold
to SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P. pursuant to its E
contractual right to choose to maintain a 25% ownership
interest in our outstanding shares of common stock. Nét
proceeds were used for loan acquisitions and originatioaps.
repayment of outstanding principal under one of our repurchase
facilities and general corporate purposes. Wachaovia Capital
Markets, LLC acted as our underwriter in this offering. |

On May 16, 2006, we sold 3,000,000 shares of commo%r
stock, at a price of $26.75 per share, under our $350 mEIIion
shelf registration statement declared effective in August
2005, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $80.0E
million. We paid underwriting discounts and commissiops of
$0.2 million in this offering. A total of 2,250,000 shares; were
sold through a public offering and an additional 750,0q0
shares were sold to SL Green Operating Partnership, L.I?.
pursuant to its contractual right to choose to maintain a 25%
ownhership interest in our outstanding shares of common
stock. Net proceeds were used for loan acquisitions and| origi-
nations, repayment of outstanding principal under our repur-
chase facilities and general corporate purposes. Wacho:via
Capital Markets, LLC acted as our underwriter in this of‘fering.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables set forth our selected financial data and should be read in conjunction with our Financial Statements and
notes thereto included in ltem 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” and Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financtal Condition and Results of Operations” in this Form 10-K/A.

OPERATING DATA

For the Period

April 12, 2004
For the Year For the Year (formation)}
ended ended through
December 31, December 31, December 31,
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 2006 2005 2004
Total revenues $198,215 $88,085 $7,151
Interest expense 98,299 33,771 1,463
Management fees 16,668 9,600 1,965
Incentive fee 7,609 2,276 —
Depreciation and amortization 1,582 672 38
Marketing, general and administrative 1,957 6,976 1,358
Provision for loan loss 1430 1,030 -
Total expenses 137,545 54,325 4,824
Income from continuing operations before equity in net loss of
unconsolidated joint ventures and taxes 60,670 33,760 2,327
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated joint ventures (2.960) (1,489 -
Income from continuing operations before provision for taxes and
GKK formation costs 57,710 32,21 2,327
Provision for taxes (1,808) (800} —
GKK formation costs - — (Z75)
Net income available to common stockholtders $55.902 $ 21,371 $2,052
Net income per common share—Basic $ 226 $ 157 $ 035
Net income per common share—Diluted $ 2.5 $ 1.5 $ 015
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 208 $ 1495 $ 015
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 24,722 20,027 13,348
Diluted weighted average common shares and commeon share
equivalents outstanding 26,009 20,781 13,411
BALANCE SHEET DATA
Year Ended December 31,
(IN THOUSANDS) 2006 2005 2004
Loans and other lending investments, net $2,144,151 $1,163,745 $395,717
Commercial mortgage backed securities, net - - 10,698
Loans held for sale, net 42,733 42,000 —
Commercial real estate, net 99,821 51,173 —
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures 57,567 58,040 -
Total assets 2,766,113 1,469,810 514,047
Collateralized debt obligations 1,714,250 810,500 -
Repurchase agreements 277,412 117,366 238,685
Credit facilities 15,000 — -
Mortgage note payable 94,525 41,000 -
Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures
held by trusts that issued trust preferred securities 150,000 100,000 -
Total liabilities 2,305,453 1,097,406 245,088
Stockholders' equity 460,660 372,404 268,959
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For thé Perlod
April 12, 2004

() We present FFO because we consider it an important supplemental measure of cur operating performance and believe

that 1t is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of REITS. We also
use FFO for the calcylation of the incentive fee payable to the holders of Class B limited partner interests in our
Qperating Partnership and as one of several gritarfa to determine performance-based incentive compensation for
members of our senior management, which may be payable in cash or equity awards. The revised White Paper on FFO
approved by the Board of Governors of the Natienal Association of Real Estate investrment Trusts, or NAREIT, in April
2002 defines FFO as net income (loss} (computed in accordance with GAAPY, excluding gains (or losses) from items
which are not a recurring part of cur business, such as debt restructurings, and sales of properties, plus real estate-related
depreciation and amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. We consider
gains and losses on the sales of debt investments and real estate investments including tenancy-in-common investments
to be a normal part of our recurring eperations and therefore inclugde such gains and losses when arriving at FFO. FFO
does not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as
an alternative to net income (determined in accordance with GAAP), as an indication of our financial performance, or to
cash flow from operating activities (determined in accordance with GAAP) as a measure of our liquidity, nor is it entirely
indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make ¢cash distributions. Qur calculation of
FFO may be different from the calculation used by other companies and. therefore, comparability may be limited.

A reconciliation of FFOC to net income computed in accordance with GAAP is provided under the heading
of "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Funds From Operations.”
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For the year For the year tformation)
ended ended tj‘lrough
December 31, December 31, December 31,
(IN THOUSANDS) 2006 2005 | 2004
t
Funds from operations® $ 64,027 $ 36490 $ , 2052
Cash flows provided by cperating activities $ 154,707 $ 2,160 $ L 1,145
Cash flows used in investing activities $(1149,526) $(867,995) $(4}02056)
Cash flows provided by financing activities $ 943,557 $ 897,317 % 4;44,805




ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS

OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

We are a commercial real estate specialty finance company
that focuses on the direct origination and acquisition of
whole loans, subordinate interests in whole loans, mezzanine
loans, preferred equity, and net lease investments involving
commercial properties throughout the United States. When
evaluating transactions, we assess our risk-adjusted return
and target transactions with yields that seek to provide
excess returns for the risks being taken. We conduct substan-
tially all of our operations through our operating partnership,
GKK Capital LP, or our Operating Partnership. We are exter-
nally managed and advised by GKK Manager LLC, or our
Manager, a majority-owned subsidiary of SL Green Realty
Corp. (NYSE: SLG), or SL Green. We have elected to be taxed
as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code and generally will
not be subject to federal income taxes to the extent we
distribute our income to our stockholders. However, we may
establish TRSs to effect various taxable transactions. Those
TRSs would incur federal, state and local taxes on the taxable
income from their activities. Unless the context requires
otherwise, all references to “we,” "our” and “us” mean
Gramercy Capital Corp.

tn each financing transaction we undertake, we seek to
control as much of the capital structure as possible in order to
be able to identify and retain that portion that provides the
best risk adjusted returns. This is generally achieved through
the direct origination of whole loans, the ownership of which
permits a wide variety of financing, syndication, and securiti-
zation executions to achieve excess returns. By providing a
single source of financing for developers and sponsars, we
streamline the tending process, provide greater certainty for
borrowers, and retain the high yield debt instruments that we
manufacture. By originating, rather than buying, whole loans,
subordinate interests in whole loans, mezzanine debt and
preferred equity, we strive to deliver superior returns to

our stockholders.

Since our inception, we have completed transactions in a
variety of markets and secured by a variety of property
types, and the market for commercial real estate debt has
continued to demonstrate low rates of default, high relative
returns and inflows of capital. Consequently, the market for
debt instruments has evidenced moderately declining vields
and more flexible credit standards and loan structures. In
particular, “conduit” originators who package whole loans for
resale to investors have driven debt vields lower while main-
taining substantial liquidity because of the strong demand
for the resulting securities. Because of reduced profits in the
most liquid sectors of the mortgage finance business, several
large institutions have begun originating large bridge lcans
for the purpose of generating interest income, rather than

the typical focus on trading profits. In this environment we
have focused on areas where we have comparative advan-
tages rather than competing for product merely on the basis
of yield or structure. This has particularly inciuded whole loan
origination in markets and transactions where we have an
advantage due to (i) knowledge or relationships we have, (i
knowledge or relationships of our largest stockholder, SL
Green, and (iii) where we have an ability to better assess and
manage risks over time. When considering investment oppor-
tunities in secondary market transactions in tranched debt,
we generally avoid first 1oss risk in larger transactions due to
the high current valuation of the underlying real estate rela-
tive to historic valuation levels. Because of the significant
increase in the value of institutional quality assets relative to
historic norms, we typically focus on positions in which a
conventional refinancing at loan maturity would provide for a
complete return of our investment.

Because of the high relative valuation of debt instruments in
the current market and a generally increasing rate environ-
ment, we have carefully managed our exposure to interest
rate changes that could affect our liquidity. We generally
match our assets and liabilities in terms of base interest rate
(generally one-month LIBOR) and expected duration. We
raised $95,000 of additional equity in December 2004 and
January 2005 to reduce our outstanding indebtedness and
maintain sufficient liquidity for our investment portfolio. We
have sold a total of $150,000 of trust preferred securities in
three $50,000 issuances in May and August 2005 and
January 2006 through wholly-owned subsidiaries of our
Operating Partnership with 30 year terms. The securities
issued in May bear interest at a fixed rate of 7.57% for the
first ten years ending, the securities issued in August bear
interest at a fixed rate of 7.75% for the first ten vears and the
securities issued in January 2006 bear interest at a fixed rate
of 7.65% for the first ten years. After the first ten years, the
2005 issuances bear interest at three-month LIBOR plus 300
basis points while the 2006 issuance bears interest at three-
month LIBOR plus 270 basis points. The proceeds from the
issuances of the trust preferred securities were used to fund
existing and future investment opportunities. In July 2005 we
closed our first $1,000,000 CDO which extended the term of
our liabilities and reduced our overall cost of funds with
respect to debt investments financed by the CDO and previ-
ously financed by our repurchase agreements, to approxi-
mately 49 basis points over LIBOR, excluding transaction
costs. Qur second $1,000,000 CDO was closed in August
2006 at a weighted average interest spread of approximately
37 basis points over LIBOR, excluding transaction costs. The
proceeds of the CDOs were used to repay our repurchase
facilities and to fund additional investment activities. In
September 2005 we sold 3,833,333 shares of common steck
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resulting in net proceeds of approximately $97.830 and in
May 2006 we sold 3,000,000 shares of common stock
resulting in net proceeds of approximately $80.000. The
proceeds of these offerings were used to fund loan acquisitions
and criginations, repay outstanding principal amounts under
our repurchase facilities and for general corporate purposes.
In May 2006 we also closed on a $100,000 unsecured credit
facility with an initial term of three years and interest spreads
between 1.90% and 2.10%.

As of December 31, 2006, we heid loans and other lending
investments of $2,186,884 net of fees, discounts, and

unfunded commitments with an average spread to LIBOR of
384 basis points for our floating rate investments, and ?n
average yield of 10.04% for our fixed rate investments. As

of December 31, 2006, we also held interests in four cre:dit
tenant lease, or CTL, investments comprised of a 49.75%
tenancy-in-commeoen, or TIC, interest in 55 Corporate Dr‘ive in
Bridgewater, New Jersey, and three joint venture investments.

The aggregate carrying values, allocated by product tyé:e
and weighted average coupons of our loans and other |
tending investments as of December 31, 2006 and l
December 31, 2005 were as follows: t

Floating Rate:

Carrying Valuem Allocation by Fixed Rate Average Spread
{$ in thousands) Investment Type Average Yield over|LIBOR@

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Whaole loans, floating rate $1,372,316 $ 561,388 63% 46% — — 327 bps 3%5 bps

Whole loans, fixed rate 42,376 94,448 2% 8% 11.69% 10.67% - —
Subordinate interests in whole l

loans, floating rate 236,308 362,983 11% 30% - — 445 bps 443 bps
Subcrdinate interests in whole E

loans, fixed rate 48,769 37,104 2% 3% 8.54% 8.80% - | —

Mezzanine loans, floating rate 226,675 82,793 10% 7% — - 665 bps 858 bps

Mezzanine loans, fixed rate 216,216 43,352 10% 4% 9.92% 8.51% - { -

Preferred equity, floating rate — 11,795 - 1% - — 900 bps 900 bps

Preferred equity, fixed rate 44,224 11,882 2% 1% 10.68% 10.27% — ) -

Total / Weighted average $2,186,884 $1,205,745 100% 100% 10.04% 9.78% 384 bps 417 bps

fees, discounts, asset sales and unfunded cormmitmants,

(27 Spreads over an index other than LIBOR have been adjusted to a LIBOR based equivalent.

]
(iy Debt investments are presented after scheduled amortization payments and prepayments, and are net of unamortized |
!
|

The following discussion related to our consclidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with financial
statements appearing in Item 8 of the Annual Report on
Form 10-K/A.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results
of operations is based on our financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, known as GAAP.
These accounting principles require us to make some
complex and subjective decisions and assessments, Qur
most critical accounting policies involve decisions and
assessments, which could significantly affect our reparted
assets, liabilities and contingencies, as well as our reported
revenues and expenses. We believe that all of the decisions

10
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and assessments upon which our financial statements afre
based were reasonable at the time made based upon infor-
mation availablie to us at that time, We evaluate these d[eci-
sions and assessments on an ongoing basis. Actual resu!ts
may differ from these estimates under different assumptions
or conditions. We have identified our most critical

accounting policies to be the following: t

LOANS AND INVESTMENTS AND LOANS HELD FBR
SALE T
Loans held for investment are intended to be held to t
maturity and, accordingly, are carried at cost, net of unamortized
loan origination fees, discounts, repayments, sales of partial
interests in loans, and unfunded commitments unless sth
loan or investment is deemed to be impaired. Loans held for
sale are carried at the lower of cost or market value usinig




available market information obtained through consultation
with dealers or other originators of such investments. We
may originate or acquire preferred equity interests that allow
us to participate in a percentage of the underlying property’s
cash flows from operations and proceeds from a sale or refi-
nancing. Should we make such a preferred equity investment,
we must determine whether that investment should be
accounted for as a loan, joint venture or as an interest in

real estate.

Specific valuation allowances are established for impaired
loans based on the fair value of collateral on an individual
loan basis. The fair value of the collaterai is determined by
selecting the most appropriate valuation methodology, or
methodologies, among several generally available and
accepted in the commercial real estate industry. The determi-
nation of the most appropriate valuation methodology is
based on the key characteristics of the collateral type. These -
methodologies include the evaluation of operating cash flow
from the property during the projected holding pericd, and
the estimated sales value of the collateral computed by
applying an expected capitalization rate to the stabilized net
operating income of the specific property, less selling costs,
all of which are discounted at market discount rates.

If upon completion of the valuation, the fair value of the
underlying collateral securing the impaired loan is less than
the net carrying vatue of the loan, an allowance is created
with a corresponding charge to the provision for loan losses.
The allowance for each loan is maintained at a level we
believe is adequate to absorb probable losses. We main-
tained a reserve of $2,460 and $1,030 at December 31, 2006
and December 31, 2005, respectively.

Our Manager evaluates our assets on a regular basis to
determine if they continue to satisfy our investment criteria.
Subject to certain restrictions, our Manager may cause us to
sell our investments opportunistically and use the proceeds
of any such sale for debt reduction, additicnal acquisitions or
working capital purposes

CLASSIFICATIONS OF MORTGAGE-BACKED
SECURITIES

Mortgage-backed securities, or MBS, are classified as avail-
able-for-sale securities. As a result, changes in fair value will
be recorded as a balance sheet adjustment to accumulated
other comprehensive income, which is a compaonent of stock-
holders equity, rather than through our statement of opera-
tions, If available-for-sale securities were classified as trading
securities, there could be substantially greater volatility in
earnings from period-to-period as these investments would
be marked to market and any reduction in the value of the
securities versus the previous carrying value would be

considered an expense on our statement of operations.
We had no investments as of December 31, 2006 that were
accounted for as trading securities.

VALUATIONS OF MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES
All MBS are carried on the balance sheet at fair value. We
determine the fair value of MBS based on the types of securi-
ties in which we have invested. For liquid, investment-grade
securities, we consult with dealers of such securities to peri-
odically obtain updated market pricing for the same or
similar instruments. For non-investment grade securities, we
actively monitor the performance of the underlying proper-
ties and loans and update our pricing model to reflect
changes in projected cash flows. The value of the securities is
derived by applying discount rates to such cash flows based
on current market yields. The yields employed are cbtainec!
from our own experience in the market, advice from dealers
and/or information obtained in consultation with other
investors in similar instruments. Because fair value estimates
may vary to some degree, we must make certain judgments
and assumptions about the appropriate price to use to calcu-
late the fair values for financial reporting purposes. Different
judgments and assumptions could result in different presen-
tations of value.

When the fair value of an available-for-sale security is less
than the amortized cost, we consider whether there is an
other-than-temporary impairment in the value of the security
(for exampie, whether the security will be sold prior to the
recovery of fair value). If, in our judgment, an other-than-
temporary impairment exists, the cost basis of the security is
written down to the then-current fair value, and this loss is
realized and charged against earnings. The determination of
other-than-temporary impairment is a subjective process,
and different judgments and assumptions could affect the
timing of toss realization.

CREDIT TENANT LEASE INVESTMENTS

Consolidated CTL investments are recorded at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Costs directly related to the
acquisition of such investments are capitalized. Certain
improvements are capitalized when they are determined to
increase the useful life of the building. Capitalized items are
depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter
of the useful lives of the capitalized item or 40 years for
buildings or facitities, the remaining life of the facility for
facility improvements, four to seven years for personal prop-
erty and equipment, and the shorter of the remaining lease
term or the expected life for tenant improvements.

Consolidated depreciation expense for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $614 and $324, respec-
tively. We did not have any conselidated CTL investments
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during the period from April 12, 2004 (formation} through
December 31, 2004.

Results of operations of properties acquired are included in
the Statement of Income from the date of acquisition.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Beard, or
FASB, No. 144, or SFAS 144, "Accounting for the Impairment
of Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” a property to be disposed
of is reported at the lower of its carrying amount or its esti-
mated fair value, less its cost to sell. Once an asset is held for
sale, depreciation expense and straight-line rent adjustments
are no longer recorded and historic results are reclassified as
Discontinued Operations.

In accordance with FASB No. 141, or SFAS 141, “Business
Combinations,” we allocate the purchase price of real estate
to land and building and, if determined to be material, intan-
gibles, such as the value of above, below and at-market
leases and origination costs associated with the in-place
leases. We depreciate the amount allocated to building and
other intangible assets over their estimated useful lives,
which generally range from three to 40 years. The values of
the above and below-market leases are amortized and
recorded as either an increase (in the case of below-market
leases) or a decrease (in the case of above-market leases) to
rental income over the remaining term of the associated
lease. The value associated with in-place leases and tenant
relationships are amortized over the expected term of the
relationship, which includes an estimated probability of the
lease renewal, and its estimated term. If a tenant vacates its
space prior to the contractual termination of the lease and
no rental payments are being made on the lease, any
unamortized balance of the related intangible will be written
off. The tenant improvements and origination costs are
amortized as an expense over the remaining life of the lease
(or charged against earnings if the lease is terminated prior
to its contractual expiration date). We assess fair value of the
leases based on estimated cash flow projections that utifize
appropriate discount and capitalization rates and available
market information. Estimates of future cash flows are based
on a number of factors including the historical cperating
results, known trends, and market/economic conditions that
may affect the property.

INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED

JOINT VENTURES

We account for our investments in unconsolidated joint
ventures under the equity method of accounting since we
exercise significant influence, but do not unilaterally control,
the entities and are not considered to be the primary benefi-
ciary under FIN 46. In the joint ventures, the rights of the
other investor are protective and participating. Unless we are

4
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determined to be the primary beneficiary, these rights
preclude us from consolidating the investments. The invest-
ments are recorded initially at cost as an investment in
unconsolidated jeoint ventures, and subsequently are adjusted
for equity in net income (loss) and cash contributions a?nd
distributions. Any difference betwegen the carrying amount of
the investments on ocur balance sheet and the underlying
equity in net assets is amortized as an adjustment to eduity
in net income (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures ov:er the
lesser of the joint venture term or 40 years. None of thé joint
venture debt is recourse to us. As of December 31, 2006 and
2005, we had investments of $57,567 and $58,040 in uncon-
solidated joint ventures, respectively. .
i
REVENUE RECOGNITION |
Interest income on debt investments is recognized over the
life of the investment using the effective interest method and
recognized on the accrual basis. Fees received in connection
with loan commitments are deferred untit the loan is funded
and are then recognized over the term of the lean using the
effective interest method. Anticipated exit fees, whose |
collection is expected, are also recognized over the term of
the loan as an adjustment to yield. Fees on commitments
that expire unused are recognized at expiration. Fees
received in exchange for the credit enhancement of another
lender, either subordinate or senior to us, in the form of a
guarantee are recognized over the term of that guarantee
using the straight-line method.

Income recognition is generally suspended for debt invést-
ments at the earlier of the date at which payments become
90 days past due or when, in our opinion, a full recovery of
income and principal becomes doubtful. Income recognition
is resurmed when the loan becomes contractually current and
performance is demonstrated to be resumed. !

In some instances we may sell all or a portion of our invest-
rments to a third party. To the extent the fair value received
for an investment exceeds the amortized cost of that invest-
ment and FASB Statement No. 140, or SFAS 14Q, "Accodnting
for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and ‘
Extinguishments of Liabilities,” criteria is met, under which
control of the asset that is sold is surrendered making it a
“true sale,” a gain on the sale will be recorded through earn-
ings as other income. To the extent an investment that is sold
has a discount or fees, which were deferred at the time the
investment was made and were being recognized over the
term of the investment, the unamartized portion of the’
discount or fees are recognized at the time of sale and ;
recorded as a gain on the sale of the investment through
other income. For the years ended December 31, 2006 énd
2005, we recognized $5,349 and $10.474 in net gains from
the sale of debt investments or commitments. We did not




recognize any such gains for the period from April 12, 2004
(formation) through December 31, 2004.

Rental revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. The excess of rents recognized over
amounts contractually due pursuant to the underlying leases
is included in other assets on the accompanying balance
sheets. We may establish, on a current basis, an allowance
against this account for future potential tenant credit losses,
which may occur. The balance reflected on the balance sheet
will be net of such allowance.

In addition to base rent, the tenants in our CTL investments
also pay all operating costs of owned property including real
estate taxes.

RESERVE FOR POSSIBLE LOAN LOSSES

The expense for possible loan losses in connection with debt
investments is the charge to earnings to increase the
allowance for possible loan losses to the level that manage-
ment estimates to be adequate considering delinquencies,
loss experience and collateral quality. Other factors consid-
ered relate to geographic trends and project diversification,
the size of the portfolio and current economic conditions.
Based upon these factors, we may establish the provision for
possible loan losses by individual asset or category of asset.
When it is probable that we will be unable to collect all
amounts contractually due, the account is

considered impaired.

Where impairment is indicated, a valuation write-down or
write-off is measured based upon the excess of the recorded
investment amount over the net fair value of the collateral, as
reduced by selling costs. Any deficiency between the
carrying amount of an asset and the net sales price of fore-
closed collateral is charged to the allowance for loan losses.
We maintained a reserve for possible loan losses of $2,460
against investments with a carrying value of $131,427 as of
December 31, 2006, and a reserve for possible loan losses of
$1,030 against investments with a carrying value of $68,293
as of December 31, 2005.

STOCK BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

We have a stock-based compensation plan, described more
fully in Note 14 to our Consclidated Financia! Statements. We
account for this plan using the fair value recognition provi-
sions of FASB Statement 123(R), “Share-Based Payment, a
revision of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation.”

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for
use in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have
no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition,
option valuation models require the input of highly subjective

assumptions including the expected stock price volatility.
Because our plan has characteristics significantly different from
those of traded options and because changes in the subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate,
in our opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a
reliable single measure of the fair value of our stock options.

Compensation cost for stock options, if any, is recognized
ratably over the vesting period of the award. Our policy is to
grant options with an exercise price equal to the quoted
closing market price of cur stock on the business day
preceding the grant date. Awards of stock or restricted stock
are expensed as compensation on a current basis over the
benefit period.

The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the
date of grant for awards to co-leased employees, and quarterly
for options issued to non-employees, using the Black-Scholes
option pricing mode! with the following weighted average
assumptions for grants in 2006 and 2005,

2006 2005
Dividend yield 8.0% 8.4%
Expected life of option 6.7 years 6.9 years
Risk-free interest rate 414% 416%
Expected stock price volatility 21.0% 19.1%

INCENTIVE DISTRIBUTION (CLASS B LIMITED
PARTNER INTEREST)

The Class B limited partner interests are entitled to receive an
incentive return equal to 25% of the amount by which funds
from operations, or FFO, plus certain accounting gains (as
defined in the partnership agreement of our Operating
Partnership which was amended and restated in April 20086)
exceed the product of our weighted average stockholders
equity (as defined in the amended and restated partnership
agreement of our Operating Partnership) multiplied by 9.5%
(divided by 4 to adjust for quarterly calculations). We will
record any distributions on the Class B limited partner interests
as an incentive distribution expense in the period when earned
and when payment of such amounts has become probable and
reasonably estimable in accordance with the partnership agree-
ment. These cash distributions will reduce the amount of cash
available for distribution to our common unitholders in our
Operating Partnership and to common stockholders. We
incurred approximately $7,609 and $2,276 with respect to such
Class B limited partner interests for the years ended December
31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We did not recognize such an
expense for the period from April 12, 2004 through Decernber
31, 2004,

L
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DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

In the normal course of business, we use a variety of deriva-
tive instruments to manage, or hedge, interest rate risk. We
require that hedging derivative instruments be effective in
reducing the interest rate risk exposure that they are desig-
nated to hedge. This effectiveness is essential for qualifying
for hedge accounting. Some derivative instruments are asso-
ciated with an anticipated transaction. In those cases, hedge
effectiveness criteria also require that it be probable that the
underlying transaction occurs. Instruments that meet these
hedging criteria are formally designated as hedges at the
inception of the derivative contract.

To determine the fair value of derivative instruments, we use
a variety of methods and assumptions that are based on
market conditions and risks existing at each balance sheet
date. For the majority of financial instruments including most
derivatives, long-term investments and fong-term debt,
standard market conventions and technigues such as dis-
counted cash flow analysis, option-pricing models, replace-
ment cost, and termination cost are used to determine fair
value. All methods of assessing fair value result in a general
approximation of value, and such value may never actually
be realized,

in the normal course of business, we are exposed to the
effect of interest rate changes and limit these risks by
following established risk management policies and proce-
dures including the use of derivatives. To address exposure
to interest rates, we use derivatives primarily to hedge the
mark-to-market risk of our liabilities with respect to certain
of our assets. We may also use derivatives to hedge variabili-
ty in sales proceeds to be received upon the sale of loans
held for sale.

We use a variety of commonly used derivative products that
are considered plain vanilla derivatives. These derivatives
typicaily include interest rate swaps, caps, collars and floors.
We also use total rate of return swaps, or TROR swaps, which
are tied to the Lehman Brothers CMBS index, We expressly
prohibit the use of unconventional derivative instruments and
using derivative instruments for trading or speculative
purposes. Further, we have a policy of only entering into
contracts with major financial institutions based upon their
credit ratings and other factors.

FASB No. 133, or SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by FASB
No. 149, requires us to recognize all derivatives on the
balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not hedges
must be adjusted to fair value through income. If a derivative
is a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in
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the fair value of the derivative will either be offset against
the change in fair value of the hedged asset, liability, or;firm
commitment through earnings, or recognized in other .
comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized
in earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivative’'s change in
fair value will be immediately recognized in earnings. SFAS
133 may increase or decrease reported net income and
stockholders’ equity prospectively, depending on future
levels of LIBOR, swap spreads and other variables affecting
the fair values of derivative instruments and hedged items,
but will have no effect on cash flows, provided the contract
is carried through to full term. %

We may employ swaps, forwards or purchased options to
hedge qualifying forecasted transactions. Gains and losses
related to these transactions are deferred and recognized in
net income as interest expense or other income in the same
period or periods that the underlying transaction occurs,
expires or is otherwise terminated. |

All hedges held by us are deemed to be effective in meéting
the hedging objectives established by our corporate pollicy
governing interest rate risk management. The effect of gur
derivative instruments on our financial statements is
discussed more fully in Note 17 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

|
|
INCOME TAXES %
We elected to be taxed as a REIT, under Sections 856 |
through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code, beginning with
our taxable year ending December 31, 2004. To qualify as a
REIT, we must meet certain organizational and operational
requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least
90% of our ordinary taxable income to stockholders, As a
REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax
on taxable income that we distribute to our stockholders. If
we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will th'en
be subject to federal income taxes on our taxable incomé at
regular corporate rates and we will not be permitted to -
qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax
purposes for four years following the year during which ‘qual-
ification is lost unless the Internal Revenue Service grants us
relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could
materially adversely affect our net income and net cash .?vaii-
able for distributions to stockholders. However, we believe
that we will be organized and operate in such a manner as to
qualify for treatment as a REIT and we intend to operate in
the foreseeable future in such a manner so that we will
qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. We m.?y,

however, be subject to certain state and local taxes. :
1

Our TRSs are subject to federal, state and local taxes.




RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Comparisen of the year ended December 31, 2006 to the year ended December 31, 2005

Revenues

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS) 2006 2008 $ Change
Investment income $176,421 $73,302 $103.119
Rental revenue, net 2402 1,219 1183
Gain on sales and other income 19,392 13,564 5828
Total revenues $198.,215 $88,085 $'I10.1§6
Equity in net loss of uncensolidated joint ventures $ (2,960) $ (1,489) $ A.47D

Investment income is generated on our whole and bridge
loans, subordinate interests in whole loans, mezzanine loans,
preferred equity interests and CMBS investments. For the
year ended December 31, 2006, $24,236 was earned on fixed
rate investments while the remaining $152,185 was earned on
floating rate investments. The increase over the prior year is
due primarily to a significantly larger investment balance in
2006 versus 2005.

Rental revenue of $2,402 in 2006 was earned on 200
Frankiin Square Drive, which was held as a consolidated
operating property for the three months ended March 31,
2006, and on our TIiC interest in 55 Corporate Drive, which
has been held as a proportionately consolidated property
since its acquisition in June 2006. Following its acquisition,
55 Corporate Drive was being redeveloped. The property is
accounted for as an operating property beginning in the
three months ended December 31, 2006. Rental revenue in
2006 includes the effect of adjustments for straight-line rent
and FASB 141 adjustments for below-market leases for 55
Corporate Drive. Rental revenue of $1,219 in 2005 was earned
on only 200 Franklin Square Drive.

Qther income of $19,392 for the year ended December 31,
2006 is comprised primarily of gains recorded on the sale of
loans and securities of $7,361, and the gain on the sale of
75% of the security interests in the entity that owns 200
Franklin Square Drive of $4,530. The remaining increase over
the prior year is primarily attributable to interest on restricted
cash balances in our two CDOs (only one of which was in
place in the same period of 2005) and other cash balances
held by us. For the year ended December 31, 2005, other
income of $13,564 was comprised primarily of income
recorded on the sale of loans of $7,997.

The ioss on investments in unconsolidated joint ventures of
$2,960 for the year ended December 31, 2006 represents our
proportionate share of the losses generated by our joint
venture interests including $7,753 of real estate-related
depreciation and amortization, which when added back,
results in a contribution to FFQ of $4,793. The loss on invest-
ments in unconsolidated joint ventures of $1,489 for the year
ended December 31, 2005 was generated primarily on our
investrent in One Madison Avenue in New York, New York.
Our use of FFO as an important financial measure is discussed
in more detail below.
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Expenses
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(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS) 2006 2005 $ Change
Interest expense $ 98,299 $33.771 $é4,528
Management fees 16,668 9,600 } 7068
Incentive fee 7,609 2,276 5,333
Depreciation and amortization 1,582 672 E 910
Marketing, general and administrative 11,957 6,976 [4,981
Provision for toan loss 1,430 1030 [ 400
Provision for taxes 1,808 900 ! 908
Total expenses $139,353 $55,225 $84,128

Interest expense was $98,299 for the year ended December
31, 2006 compared to $33,771 for the year ended December
31, 2005. Interest expense for the year ended December 31,
2006 consisted primarily of $64,445 of interest on the
investment grade tranches of our two CDOs (only one of
which was in place during the same period in 2005), $16,138
of interest on borrowings on our master repurchase facilities
with Wachovia and Goldman, $11,086 of expense con our
three $50,000 issuances of trust preferred securities, and the
amortization of deferred financing costs related to our CDOs,
repurchase facilities and unsecured revolving credit facility.
The $33,771 of interest expense during the same period in
2005 was comprised primarily of $17,429 of interest on the
investment grade tranches of our first CDO, $11,756 of
interest on borrowings on our master repurchase facilities
with Wachovia and Goldman and $3,838 of interest expense
incurred against only two $50,000 issuances of trust
preferred securities.

Management fees increased $7,068 for the year ended
December 31, 2006 to $16,668 versus $9,600 for the same
period in 2005 due primarily to an increase in our stockholder's
equity as a result of additional issuances of common equity
and the issuance of $150,000 of trust preferred securities, on
which base management fees are calculated. The remaining
increase is comprised of $2,868 paid or payable to our
Manager on investments in our two CDOs (only one of which
was in place during the same period in 2005) in accordance
with the CDO collateral management agreements in lieu of
the 0.15% fee otherwise payable to SL Green Operating
Partnership, L.P. on those investments under the asset
servicing agreement, higher fees paid or payable to SL Green
Operating Partnership, L.P. under our outsourcing and
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servicing agreements due to the increase in our investrrrlent
balances and the scheduled 3% annual increase in the fee
payable under our outsocurcing agreement. t

We recorded an incentive fee expense of $7,609 duringﬁthe
year ended December 31, 2006 in accordance with reqdire-
ments of the partnership agreement of our Operating
Partnership which entitles owners of Class B limited partner
interests in our Cperating Partnership to an incentive return
equal to 25% of the amount by which FFO plus certain ;
accounting gains (as defined in the amended and restated
partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership) exceed
the product of our weighted average stockholders equity (as
defined in the amended and restated partnership agreement
of our Operating Partnership) multiplied by 9.5% (divided by
4 to adjust for quarterly calculations). This threshold wés
only reached during the last six months of 2005 resultirlwg in
a lower total expense for 2005. y

|

The increase in marketing, general and administrative !
expenses to $11,957 for the year ended December 31, 2006
versus the same period in 2005 was due primarily to hiéher
equity and equity related compensation, including an aécrual
of $1,625 in December 2006, which is directly linked to the
performance of our company, professional fees, insuranEe
and general overhead costs and a nonrecurring charge pf
$525 for third-party professional expenses in connection with
a possible business combination involving the acquisition of
a publicly-traded commercial real estate finance compa}\y
with business lines considered by management to be highly
complementary to ours., The decision to expense these Eosts
was made once management concluded the proposed
transaction was unlikely to occur on terms advantageous;to us.

[
|
t
|




Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2005 to the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31,

2004

Revenues

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS) 2005 2004 $ Change
Investment income $73,302 $6,841 $66,461
Rental revenue, net 1,219 - 1,219
(zain on sales and other income 13,564 310 13,254
Total revenues $88,085 $7,151 $80,934
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated joint ventures $ (1,489} $ - $ (1,489)

Investment income is generated on our whole and bridge
loans, subordinate interests in whaole loans, mezzanine loans,
preferred equity interests and CMBS investments. For the
year ended December 31, 2005, $10,701 was earned on fixed
rate investments while the remaining $62,601 was earned on
floating rate investments. The increase over the prior year is
due to a significantly larger investment balance in 2005
versus 2004 and the effect of a full twelve months of opera-
tions in 2005.

Rental revenue of $1,219 in 2005 was earned on 200 Franklin
Square Drive, which was acquired in September 2005. This
amount includes the effect of adjustments for straight-line
rent and FASB 141 adjustments for below-market leases. We
did not hold any real estate investments during 2004,

Other income of $13,564 for the year ended December 31,
2005 is comprised primarily of income recorded on the sale

Expenses

of fixed and floating rate debt investments of $10,474,
including $1,849 attributable to the recognition of unamor-
tized discounts and fees on the investments sold and
interest on restricted cash balances in the CDO (which was
not in place in 2004) of approximately $2,274. For the
period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31,
2004, other income of $310 was comprised only of interest
income on cash balances.

The loss on investments in unconsclidated joint ventures of
$1,489 in 2005 represents our proportionate share of the
losses generated by our joint venture interests including
$4,804 of real estate related depreciation and amaortization,
which when added back, results in a contribution to FFO cf
$32,315. We did not maintain any joint venture investments
during 2004. Qur use of FFO as an important financial
measure is discussed in more detail in Item 6.

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS) 2005 2004 $ Change
Interest expense $33,771 $1,463 $ 32,508
Management fees 89,600 1,965 7635
Incentive fee 2,276 - 2,276
Depreciation and amortization 672 38 634
Marketing, general and administrative 6,976 1,358 5,618
Provision for loan loss 1030 — 1,030
Provision for taxes 200 — 900
GKK formation costs - 275 (2753
Total expenses $55,225 $5,099 $50,126
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Interest expense was $33,771 for the year ended December
31, 2005 versus $1,463 for the period from April 12, 2004
(formation} through December 31, 2004, Interest expense in
2005 consists primarily of $17,429 of interest on the invest-
ment grade tranches of our CDO, that was not in place in
2004, $11,756 of interest on borrowings on our master repur-
chase facilities with Wachovia and Goldman, and $3,838 of
expense on our two $50,000 issuances of trust preferred
securities. The $1,463 of interest expense in 2004 was
comprised primarily of interest on borrowings on the master
repurchase facility with Wachovia and the amortization of
deferred financing costs.

Management fees increased $7,635 for the year ended
December 31, 2005 versus the period from April 12, 2004
(formation) through December 31, 2004 due primarily to an
increase in our stockholder’s equity, the issuance of trust
preferred securities and a full twelve months of operations in
2005. The remaining increase is comprised of $944 payable
to our Manager under the CDO collateral management
agreement in lieu of the 0.15% fee otherwise payable to SL
Green Operating Partnership, L.P. on investments in the CDO
under the asset servicing agreement, and higher fees paid or
payable to SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P. of $745 and
$942 under our cutsourcing and servicing agreements,
respectively, due to a full twelve months of operations in
2005 and a larger asset base on which to calculate the
servicing fee. These fees and the relationship between us,
our Manager and SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P. are
discussed further in "Related Party Transactions.”

We recorded an incentive fee expense of $2,276 during the
twelve months ended December 31, 2005 in accordance with
requirements of the partnership agreement of our Operating
Partnership which entitles owners of Class B limited partner
interests in our Operating Partnership to an incentive return
equal to 25% of the amount by which funds from operations
(as defined in the partnership agreement of our Operating
Partnership) plus certain accounting gains exceed the
product of our weighted average stockholders equity (as
defined in the partnership agreement of our Operating
Partnership) multiplied by 9.5% (divided by 4 to adjust for
quarterty calculations). This threshold was not reached
during 2004 and, consequently, no expense was recorded.
This fee and the relationship between us, our Manager and
SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P. are discussed further in
“Related Party Transactions.”

The increase in marketing, general and administrative

expenses of $5,618 for the year ended December 31, 2005
versus the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through
December 31, 2004 reflects a full twelve months of opera-
tions in 2005 and a corresponding increase in professional
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fees, stock-based compensation, insurance and general
overhead costs. |

|
Liquidity is a measurement of the ability to meet cash {
requirements, including ongoing commitments to repay'
borrowings, fund and maintain lcans and investments, p'ay
dividends and other general business needs. Qur principatl
sources of working capital and funds for additional inveist-
ments primarily include; 1) cash flow from operations; 23
horrowings under our repurchase facilities and unsecur('-:‘d
revolving credit facility; 3) our CDOs; 4) other forms of|
financing or additional securitizations including CMBS or
subsequent CDO offerings; 5) proceeds from commeon (')r
preferred equity offerings, 6) issuances of trust preferre}d
securities and, to a lesser extent, 7) the proceeds from
principal payments on cur investments, and 8) the sale or
syndication of certain of our debt investments, We beligve
these sources of financing will be sufficient to meet our
short-term liquidity needs. l

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our ability to fund our short-term liguidity needs, including
distributions to stockholders, through cash flow from opera-
tions can be evaluated through the consolidated staten":ent
of cash flows provided in our financial statements. However,
the net cash frorm operations or net cash used in operatlions
disclosed on the statement of cash flows should be adjt:.lsted
to exclude the effect of loans originated for sale and the
proceeds of loans sold during any respective reporting deriod.
These activities are inctuded in cash flow from operations

in accordance with GAAP, but constitute an integral part of
our investment activity. Consequently, net cash flow from
operations is not necessarily reflective of our true recurlring
operating activities and our ability to fund our required
distributions to stockholders through our cperating actilvities.

Qur ability to meet our long-term liguidity and capital
resource requirements will be subject to obtaining additional
debt financing and equity capital. Our inability to renewj,
replace or expand our sources of financing on substanti;ally
similar terms, may have an adverse effect on our business
and results of operations. In addition, an event of defaul't can
be triggered under our repurchase facilities and our unse-
cured revolving credit facility if, among other things, the
management agreement with our Manager is terminate?.
Depending on market conditions, our debt financing will
generally be in the range of 70% to 80% of the carrying; value
of our total assets. Any indebtedness we incur will likely be
subject to continuing covenants and we will likely be !
required to make caontinuing representations and warranties
in connection with such debt. Our debt financing terms may
require us to keep uninvested cash on hand, or to maintfain a
certain peortion of our assets free of liens, each of which‘

|




could serve to limit our borrowing ability. Moreover, our debt
may be secured by our assets. |f we default in the payment
of interest or principal on any such debt, breach any repre-
sentation or warranty in connection with any borrowing or
violate any covenant in any loan document, our lender may
accelerate the maturity of such debt requiring us to immedi-
ately repay all outstanding principal. If we are unable to
make such payment, our lender could foreclose on our assets
that are pledged as collateral to such lender. The lender
could also sue us or force us into bankruptcy. Any such
event would have a material adverse effect on our liquidity
and the value of our common stock. In addition, posting
additional collateral to support our credit and repurchase
facilities will reduce our liquidity and limit our ability to
leverage our assets.

To maintain our status as a REIT under the Internal Revenue
Code, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our taxable
income. These distribution requirements limit our ability to
retain earnings and thereby replenish or increase capital for
operations. However, we believe that our significant capital
resources and access to financing, as noted above, will
provide us with financial flexibility at levels sufficient to meet
current and anticipated capital requirements, inciuding
funding new lending and investment opportunities.

CASH FLOWS (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

2006 COMPARED TO 2005

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $152,547
to $154,707 for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared
to cash provided of $2,160 for the year ended December 37,
2005, Operating cash flow was generated primarily by
interest income on our whole and bridge loans, suberdinate
interests in whole loans, mezzanine loans and preferred equity
interests and gains on loan sales due, in part, to a larger
number of investments in 2006 versus 2005. In addition,
$175,050 of proceeds from the sales of loans was offset
primarily by a $104,931 use of cash related to the origination
of loans held for sale during the year ended December 31,
2006, whereas we realized praceeds of $140,431 from the
sales of loans while originating $182,431 of loans that were
held for sale during the year ended December 31, 2005.

Net cash used in investing activities increased $281,531 to
$1149,526 for the vear ended December 31, 2006 compared
to $867,995 used during the year ended Decernber 31, 2005,
The primary reason for the additional use of cash is related
to increased debt investment originations of $817,827, offset
by higher principal collections on our debt investments

of $537,050.

Net cash provided by financing activities increased $46,240
to $943,557 for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared

to $897,317 provided during the same period in 2005. This
increase was due primarily to the issuance of $903,750 of
collateralized debt obligations during the year ended
December 31, 2006 versus only $810,500 during the same
period in 2005, net proceeds from our proportionate share
of the mortgage payable of $94,525 on cur TIC interest in 55
Corporate Drive and increased net proceeds from our repur-
chase facilities of $296,564, offset by lower proceeds from
the sale of common stock of $77,057 and an increase in the
dividend paid to our common stockholders of $25,545.

2005 COMPARED TO 2004

Net cash provided by cperating activities increased $1.015 to
$2160 for the vear ended December 31, 2005 compared to
$1,145 for the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through
December 21, 2004, Operating cash flow was generated
primarily by interest income on our whole and bridge loans,
subordinate interests in whole loans, mezzanine loans,
preferred equity interests and CMBS investments and gains
on loan sales. Cash flow from a higher number of invest-
ments in 2005 versus 2004 and the effect of a full twelve
months of operations in 2005 was offset primarily by a
$42,000 net use of cash related to the origination of
investments held for sale at December 31, 2005.

Net cash used in investing activities increased $460,939 tc
$867,995 for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared
to $407.056 used during the period from April 12, 2004
(formation) through December 31, 2004, The primary reason
for the increase is a full twelve months of operations in 2005,
during which we invested $1,030,149 in new debt investments
and $110145 in new real estate investments, including joint
ventures, offset by $273,897 of principal collections on our
debt investments. This compares to $407,603 invested
during the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through
December 31, 2004 in new debt investments, offset by $756
of principal repayments on debt investments.

Net cash provided by financing activities increased $452,512
to $897,317 for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared
to $444,805 provided during the period from April 12, 2004
(formation) through December 31, 2004. The increase was
due primarily to proceeds of $100,000 from the sale of trust
preferred securities in May and August 2005, proceeds of
$810,500 from the issuance the CDO in July 2005 and
$41,000 in new mortgage debt on 200 Franklin Square Drive,
offset by a reduction in borrowings on our repurchase facili-
ties of $360,405 and reduced proceeds from the issuance of
common stock of $48,761.

CAPITALIZATION

Our authorized capital stock consists of 125,000,000 shares,
$0.001 par value, of which we have authorized the issuance
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of up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par
value per share, and 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock,
par value $0.001 per share.

As of the date of our formation, April 12, 2004, we had
500,000 shares of common stock outstanding valued at
approximately $200. On August 2, 2004 we completed our
initial public offering of 12,500,000 shares of common stock
resulting in net proceeds of approximately $172.9 million,
which was used to fund investments and commence our
operations. As of December 31, 2006, 350,000 restricted
shares had also been issued under our 2004 Equity Incentive
Plan, or our Equity Incentive Plan. These shares have a
vesting period of two to four years and are not entitied to
receive distributions declared by us on our common stock
until such time as the shares have vested, or the shares have
been designated to receive dividends by the Compensation
Committee of our Board of Directors.

On December 3, 2004, we sold 5,500,000 shares of our
commoen stock resulting in net proceeds of approximately
$93.7 million under a private placement exemption from the
registration requirements of Section 5 of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended. We subsequently registered the resale
of these shares under the Securities Act in August 2005, A
total of 4,225,000 shares were sold to various institutional
investors and an additional 1,275,000 shares were sold to SL
Green Operating Partnership, L.P. pursuant to its contractual
right to choose to maintain a 25% ownership interest in the
outstanding shares of our common stock. Of the 5,500,000
shares sold, 2,000,000 shares were settled on December 31,
2004 and the remaining 3,500,000 shares were settled on
January 3, 2005.

On September 14, 2005, we sold 3,833,333 shares of our
common stock, at a price of $25.80 per share, resulting in net
proceeds of approximately $97.8 million. A tota! of 2,875,000
shares were sold through a public offering and an additional
958,333 shares were sold to SL Green Operating Partnership,
L.P. pursuant to its contractual right to choose to maintain a
25% ownership interest in our outstanding shares of common
stock. Net proceeds were used for loan acquisitions and origi-
nations, repayment of cutstanding principal under one of our
repurchase facilities and general corporate purposes.

On May 16, 20086, we sold 3,000,000 shares of our common
stock, at a price of $26.75 per share, resulting in net
proceeds of approximately $80.0 million, A total of
2,250,000 shares were sold through a public offering and an
additional 750,000 shares were sold to SL Green Operating
Partnership, L.P. pursuant to its contractual right to choose
to maintain a 25% ownership interest in the outstanding

\
shares of our common stock. After this offering, SL Green

R . |
Operating Partnership, L.P. owned &,418,333 shares of our
common stock, Net proceeds were used for loan acquisitions
and originations, repayment of outstanding principal under

our repurchase facilities and general corporate purposes.
|

In August 2005, our $35C million shelf registration statément
was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange |
Commission, or SEC. This registration statement provides us
with the ability to issue common and preferred stock, deposi-
tory shares and warrants. We currently have $170.9 million
available under the shelf, ,

1
On May 10, 2006, we entered into a sales agreement with
Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., as sales agent, to offer and sell: up to
1,000,0Q0 shares of our common stock from time to tinl‘le
through the sales agent. On May 10, 20086, we also entered
into a separate sales agreement with Merrill Lynch & Co;..
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as sz-:lles
agent, to offer and sell up to 1,000,000 shares of our |
common stock from time to time through the sales agent. To
date we have not issued any shares under either agreen?ent.

As of December 31, 2006, 25,878,391 shares of our common
stock and no shares of our preferred stock were issued |
and outstanding.

OUTPERFORMANCE PLAN !

In June 2005, the compensation committee of our boarb of
directors approved a long-term incentive compensation:
program, the 2005 Outperformance Plan. Participants in the
2005 OQutperformance Plan, all of whom are co-leased
employees, will share in a "performance pool” if our totql
return to stockholders for the period from June 1, 2005 |
through May 31, 2008 exceeds a cumulative total return to
stockholders of 30% during the measurement period over a
base share price of $20.21 per share. The size of the poal will
be 10% of the outperformance amount in excess of the 30%
benchmark, subject to a maximum limit equal to the lesser of
4% of our outstanding shares and units of limited partne!rship
interest as of the end of the performance period, or
1,200,000 shares. If our total return to stockholders from
June 1, 2005 to any subsequent date exceeds 80% and
remains at that level or higher for 30 consecutive days, ghen
a minimum performance pool will be established. In the |
event the potential performance pool reaches the maximum
dilution cap before May 31, 2008 and remains at that level or
higher for 30 consecutive days, the performance period will
end early and the pool will be formed on the last day of such
30-day period. Each participant’s award under the 2005:
Cutperformance Plan is designated as a specified percentage

of the aggregate performance pool to be allocated to such
|
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participant assuming the 30% benchmark is achieved.
Individual awards under the 2005 Qutperformance Plan will
be made in the form of partnership units, or LTIP Units, that
rmay ultimately become exchangeable for shares of our
common stock or cash, at our election. Under the 2005
Qutperformance Plan, LTIP Units have been granted and
additional LTIP Units may be granted in the future prior to
the determination of the performance pool; however, these
LTIP Units will only vest upon satisfaction of performance
and other thresholds, and will not be entitled to distributions
until after the performance pool, ar minimum performance
pool, is established. The 2005 Qutperformance Plan provides
that if a pool is established, each participant will also be
entitled to the distributions that would have been paid on
the number of LTIP Units earned, had they been issued at the
beginning of the performance period. Those distributions will
be paid in the form of additional LTIP Units. Once a perform-
ance pool has been established, the earned LTIP Units will
receive regular quarterly distributions on a per unit basis
equal to the dividends per share paid on our common stock,
whether or not they are vested. Any LTIP Units that are not
earned upon the establishment of the performance pool will
be automatically forfeited, and the LTIP Units that are earned
will be subject to time-based vesting, with 50% of the LTIP
Units earned vesting in May 2009 and the balance vesting
one year later based on continued employment with our
Manager or SL Green. We will record the expense of the
restricted stock award in accordance with FASB Statement
No. 123(R). Compensation expense of $1,174 was recorded for
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 related to the
2005 Qutperformance Plan.

DEFERRED STOCK COMPENSATION PLAN FOR
DIRECTORS

Under our Independent Director’'s Deferral Program, which
commenced April 2005, our independent directors may elect

DEBT SUMMARY:

to defer up to 100% of their annual retainer fee, chairman
fees and meeting fees. Unless otherwise elected by a partici-
pant, fees deferred under the program shall be credited in
the form of phantom stock units. The phantom stock units
are convertible into an equal number of shares of common
stock upon such directors' termination of service from the
Board of Directors or a change in control by us, as defined
by the program. Phantom stock units are credited to each
independent director quarterly using the closing price of our
common stock on the applicable dividend record date for the
respective guarter. Each participating independent director
who elects to receive fees in the form of phantom stock units
has the option to have their account credited for an equiva-
lent amount of phantom stock units based on the dividend
rate for each quarter or have dividends paid in cash.

As of December 31, 2006, there were approximately 15,301
phantom stock units outstanding, of which 11,301 units are vested.

MARKET CAPITALIZATION

At December 31, 2006, our CDOs and borrowings under our
repurchase facilities, unsecured revolving credit facility and
mortaage loans (excluding our share of joint venture debt of
$342.8 million) represented 72% of our consolidated market.
capitalization of $2.9 billicn (based on a common stock price
of $30.89 per share, the closing price of our common stock
on the New York Stock Exchange on December 31, 2006).
Market capitalization includes our consolidated debt and
common stock.

INDEBTEDNESS

The table below summarizes borrowings under our Wachovia
and Goldman repurchase facilities, KeyBank unsecured
revolving credit facility and any proportionately consolidated
mortgage debt or term loans at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively (amounts in thousands).

December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
BALANCE:
Fixed rate $ 94,5250 $ 4,000
Variable rate 292,412 117,366
Total $386,937 $158,356
EFFECTIVE INTEREST RATE FOR THE PERIOD:
Fixed rate 5.75% 4,30%

Variable rate

LIBOR+1.72% LIBOR+1.59%

{13 We have a 48.75% interest in the mortgage note.

)
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REPURCHASE FACILITIES

We have two repurchase facilities with an aggregate of
$900,000 of total debt capacity. In August 2004, we closed
on a $250,000 repurchase facility with Wachovia. This facility
was then increased to $350,000 on January 3, 2005 and
subseguently increased to $500,000 on April 22, 2005. On
March 21, 2006 we further modified the facility by reducing
the interest spreads. As a result of the modifications, the
$500,000 facility bears interest at spreads of 1.00% to 2.50%
over one-month LIBOR and, based on our expected
investment activities, provides for advance rates that vary
from 60% to 100% based upon the collateral provided under
a borrowing base caiculation. On October 13, 2008, we
extended the facility's maturity date until October 2009. The
lender has a consent right with respect to the inclusion of
investments in this facility, determines periodically the
market value of the investments, and has the right to require
additional collateral if the estimated market value of the
included investments declines. We had no accrued interest
and borrowings of $151,403 at a weighted average spread to
LIBOR of 1.86% as of December 31, 2008, and no accrued
interest and borrowings of $67,717 at a weighted average
spread to LIBOR of 1.50%, under this facility at

December 31, 2005.

On January 3, 2005, we closed an additional repurchase
facility with Goldman. On October 13, 2006, we increased
this facility from $200,000 to $400,000 and extended its
maturity date until September 2008. On March 21, 2006, we
modified this facility by reducing the interest spreads. As a
result of the modifications, the facility bears interest at
spreads of 1.00% to 2.25% over one-month LIBOR and,
based on our expected investment activities, provides for
advance rates that vary from 40% to 85% based upon the
collateral provided under a borrowing base calculation. As
with the Wachovia repurchase facility, the lender has a
consent right to the inclusion of investments in this facility,
determines periodically the market value of the investments,
and has the right to require additiona! coilateral if the esti-
mated market value of the included investments declines. We
had accrued interest of $261 and borrowings of $126,009 at a
weighted average spread to LIBOR of 1.51% as of December
31, 2006, and accrued interest of $163 and borrowings of
$49,649 at a weighted average spread to LIBOR of 1.71%
under this facility at December 31, 2005.

The repurchase facilities require that we pay down borrowings
under these facilities as principal payments on the loans

and investments pledged to these facilities are received.
Assets pledged as collateral under these facilities may
include stabilized and transitional whole loans, subordinate
interests in whole loans, mezzanine loans, and rated CMBS or
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commercial real estate CDO securities originated or acquired
by us. |
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tn certain circumstances, we have purchased debt inves'tments
from a counterparty and subsequently financed the
acquisition of those debt investments through repurchase
agreements with the same counterparty. We currently Irecord
the acquisition of the debt investments as assets and tlhe
related repurchase agreements as financing liabilities gross
on the consolidated balance sheets. Interest income ea{rned
on the debt investments and interest expense incurred|on
the repurchase obligations are reported gross on the consoli-
dated income statements. However, under a certain teclhnical
interpretation of FAS 140, such transactions may not qti,ualify
as a purchase by us. We believe, and it is industry practice,
that we are accounting for these transactions in an |
appropriate manner. However, the result of this techniclal
interpretation would prevent us from presenting the delbt
investments and repurchase agreements and the relate!d
interest income and interest expense on a gross basis én our
financial statements. Instead, we would present the net
investment in these transactions with the counterpartyjand a
derivative with the corresponding change in fair value of the
derivative being recorded through earnings. The value Pf the
derivative would reflect changes in the value of the underlying
debt investments and changes in the value of the underlying
credit provided by the counterparty. }
RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS |

The terms of our repurchase facilities (together with anly
related guarantees) include covenants that {a) limit our,
maximum total indebtedness to nc more than 85% of total
assets under the Wachovia facility or a debt to equity rlatio
less than or equal to 5:1 under the Goldman facility, (b)
require us to maintain minimum liquidity of at least $10',OOO
for the first two years and $15,000 thereafter under the:
Goldman facility, and at least $15,000 under the Wachovia
facility, (¢) require our fixed charge coverage ratio to be at
no time less than 1.50 to 1.00, (d) require our minimum
interest coverage ratio to be at no time less than 1.75 to| 1.00
under the Wachovia facility, (e) require us to maintain |
minimum tangible net worth of not less than ¢i) $129,750,
plus (ii} 75% of the net proceeds of our subsequent equity
issuances following our initial public offering under the
Goldman facility and not less than (i) $400,000, plus (ii) 75%
of the proceeds of our subsequent equity issuances foliowing
the date of the October 2006 amendment under the Walchovia
facifity and (f) restrict the maximum amount of our total
indebtedness. The covenants also restrict us from makibg
distributions in excess of a maximum of 100% of our FFiO (as
defined therein) under the Wachovia facitity, except thalt we
may in any case pay distributions necessary to maintain our

REIT status. An event of default can be triggered on ou:r




repurchase facilities if, among other things, GKK Manager
LLC is terminated as our Manager. As of December 31, 2006
and 2005, we were in compliance with all such covenants.

UNSECURED REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY

In May 2006 we closed on a $100,000 senior unsecured
revolving credit facility with KeyBank Naticnal Association, or
KeyBank, with an initial term of three years and a one-year
extension option. The facility is supported by a negative
pledge of an identified asset base with advance rates that
vary from 30% to 90% of the asset value provided under a
borrowing base calculation, The lender alsc has consent
rights to the inclusion of assets in the borrowing base calcu-
lation. The facility bears interest at 1.90% over one-month
LIBOR to the extent our leverage ratio, defined as total liabili-
ties to total assets, including our proportionate share of the
liabilities and assets of our unconsolidated subsidiaries, is
less than 80% and 2.10% over one-month LIBOR to the extent
our leverage ratio is equal to or greater than 80%. We had
accrued interest of $75 and borrowings of $15,000 at a
spread to LIBOR of 2)10% against this facility as of

December 31, 2006.

The terms of the unsecured revolving credit facility include
covenants that (a) limit our maximum total indebtedness to
no more than 85% of total assets, (b) require our fixed
charge coverage ratio to be at no time less than 1.50, (¢)
require our minimum interest coverage ratio to be at no time
less than 1.70, (d) require us to maintain minimum tangible
net worth of not less than $370,000 plus 75% of the net
proceeds from equity offerings completed after the closing
of the facility and (e) restrict the maximum amount of cur
total indebtedness. The covenants also restrict us from
making distributions in excess of a maximum of 100% of our
FFQ (as defined by the Naticnal Association of Real Estate
Investment Trusts, or NAREIT), except that we may in any
case pay distributions necessary to maintain cur REIT status.
An event of default can be triggered on cur unsecured
revolving credit facility if, among other things, GKK Manager
LLC is terminated as our Manager. As of December 31, 2006,
we were in compliance with all such covenants.

In conjunction with the closing of the unsecured revolving
credit facility with KeyBank, our $25,000 revolving credit
facility with Wachovia was terminated.

MORTGAGE LOAN

We have one proportionately consolidated interest-only
mortgage loan related to 55 Corporate Drive in an amount
equal to our ownership percentage in the entity multiplied by
the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage loan,
which loan financed the acquisition of 55 Corporate Drive in
June 2006. The mortgage has an outstanding principal

balance of $190,000, of which we have consolidated 49.75%
or $94,525, with an effective interest rate of 5.75% and a
term of ten years. Interest on this mortgage was capitalized
for a portion of the year ended December 31, 2006 as the
property was redeveloped. Capitalized interest was $1,841 for
the year ended December 31, 2006.

COLLATERALIZED DEBT OBLIGATIONS

During 2005, we issued approximately $1,000,000 of CDOs
through two indirect subsidiaries, Gramercy Real Estate CDO
2005-1 Ltd., or the 2005 Issuer, and Gramercy Real Estate
CDO 2005-1 LLC, or the 2005 Co-lssuer. The CDO consists of
$810,500 of investment grade notes, $84,500 of non-
investment grade notes, which were co-issued by the 2005
Issuer and the 2005 Co-lssuer, and $105,000 of preferred
shares, which were issued by the 2005 Issuer. The investment
grade notes were issued with floating rate coupons with a
combined weighted average rate of three-month LIBOR plus
0.49%. We incurred approximately $11,957 of costs related to
Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2005-1, which are amortized on a
level-yield basis over the average life of the CDC.

On August 24, 2006, we issued an additional approximately
$1.000,000 of CDOs through two newty-formed indirect
subsidiaries, Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2006-1 Ltd,, or the
2006 issuer, and Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2006-1 LLC, or
the 2006 Co-lssuer. The CDO consists of $903,750 of invest-
ment grade notes, $38,750 of non-investment grade notes,
which were co-issued by the 2006 Issuer and the 2006
Co-tssuer, and $57 500 of preferred shares, which were
issued by the 2006 Issuer. The investment grade notes were
issued with floating rate coupons with a combined weighted
average rate of three-month LIBOR plus 0.37%. We incurred
approximately $11,273 of costs related to Gramercy Real
Estate CDO 20086-1, which are amortized on a fevel yield
basis over the average life of the CDO.

We retained all non-investment grade securities, the preferred
shares and the ¢common shares in the Issuer of each CDO.
The Issuer in each CDO holds assets, consisting primarily of
whole loans, subordinate interests in whole loans, mezzanine
loans and preferred equity investments, which serve as
coilateral for the CDO. Each CDO may be replenished, pursuant
to certain rating agency guidelines relating to credit quality
and diversification, with substitute collateral for loans that
are repaid during the first five years of the CDO. Thereafter,
the CDO securities will be retired in sequential order from
senior-most to junior-most as loans are repaid. The financial
statements of the Issuer of each CDO are consolidated in
our financial statements. The investment grade notes are
treated as a secured financing, and are non-recourse to us.
Proceeds from the sale of the investment grade notes issued
in each CDO were used to repay substantially al! outstanding
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debt under our repurchase agreements and to fund
additional investments.

JUNIOR SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES

On January 27, 2006, we completed a third issuance of
$50,000 in unsecured trust preferred securities through a
separate newly formed Delaware Statutory Trust, or DST,
Gramercy Capital Trust lll, or GCTHI, that is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Operating Partnership. The securities bear
interest at a fixed rate of 7.65% for the first ten years ending
January 2016, with an effective rate of 7.43% when giving
effect to the swap arrangement previously entered into in
contemplation of this financing. Thereafter, the interest rate
will float based on the three-month LIBOR plus 270

basis points.

In May and August 2005, we completed issuances of
$50,000 each in unsecured trust preferred securities through
two DSTs, Gramercy Capital Trust [, or GCTI, and Gramercy
Capital Trust Il, or GCTII, that are also wholly-owned
subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership. The securities
issued in May 2005 bear interest at a fixed rate of 7.57% for
the first ten years ending June 2015 and the securities issued
in August 2005 bear interest at a fixed rate of 7.75% for the
first ten years ending October 2015, Thereafter the rates will
float based on the three-month LIBOR plus 300 basis points.

Al issuances of trust preferred securities require quarterly
interest distributions; however, payments may be deferred
while the interest expense is accrued for a period of up to
four consecutive guarters if our Operating Partnership exer-
cises its right to defer such payments. The trust preferred
securities are redeemable, at the option of our Operating
Partnership, in whole or in part, with no prepayment
premium any time after June 30, 2010, October 30, 2010 or

|
January 30, 201 for the securities issued by GCTI, GCTIl and
GCTI, respectively. |

|

]

GCTI, GCTH and GCTHI each issued $1,550 aggregate liquida-
tion amount of common securities, representing 100% of the
voting common stock of those entities to our Operating
Partnership for a total purchase price of $4,650. GCTI,[GCTII
and GCTIll used the proceeds from the sale of the trust
preferred securities and the common securities to purcjhase
our Operating Partnership’s junior subordinated notes.|The
terms of the junior subordinated notes match the terms of
the trust preferred securities. The notes are subordinat‘te and
junior in right of payment to all present and future senior
indebtedness and certain other of our financial obligations.
We realized net proceeds from each offering of i
approximately $48,956. E

Our interests in GCTI, GCTII and GCTIN are accounted I%or
using the equity method and the assets and liabilities of
those entities are not consolidated into our financial state-
ments. Interest on the junior subordinated notes is inclbded
in interest expense on our consclidated income statem&ents
while the value of the junior subordinated notes, net of our
investment in the trusts that issued the securities, are [
presented as a separate item in our consolidated i
balance sheet. i

f

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS |
Combined aggregate principal maturities of our CDOs, [repur-
chase facilities, trust preferred securities, proportionately
consolidated mortgage note related to our TIC interest in 55
Corporate Drive, unsecured revolving credit facility anq our
obligations under our management agreement, outsourcing
agreement, CDO collateral management agreement and
operating lease as of December 31, 2006 are as foIIow§
{amounts in thousands): i

\

!

t

Trust Mortgage Revolving Outsourcing and Colla::eeg '

Repurchase Preferred Note Credit Management Management Operating t
CDOs Facilities Securities Payables®  Facility Agreements® Agreements Lease Total
2007 $ - $ - % - % $ - $ 12,082 $ 4,286 $ 256 % '16,624
2008 — - - -— 12,123 4,286 261 [16,670
2009 - 277412 - 15,000 12,164 4,286 265 308,127
2010 — - — - - 3,351 283 ' 3,634
201 - - - - - 1,469 297 | 1,766
Thereafter 1,714,250 — 150,000 94,525 — - — 1,054 1,959,829
Total $1,714,250 $277,412 $150,000 $94,525 $15,000 $36,369 $17.678 $2,416 $2.3Q7.650

{I) We have a 4275% interest in the mortgage.

{2) Management fee is calculated as 1.75% of our gross stockholders equity (as defined in the amended and restated
rmanagement agreement) on December 31, 2006, inclusive of the trust preferred securities issued on May 20, 2005,

August 9, 2005 and January 27, 2006.
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OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have several off-balance-sheet investments, including
joint ventures and structured finance investments. These
investments all have varying ownership structures.
Substantially all of our joint venture arrangements are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting as we
have the ability to exercise significant influence, but not controt
over the operating and financial decisions of these joint ven-
ture arrangements. Our off-balance-sheet arrangements are
discussed in Note 6, “Investments in Unconsolidated Joint
Ventures” in the accompanying financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

To maintain cur qualification as a REIT, we must pay annual
dividends to our stockholders of at least 90% of our REIT
taxable income, determined before taking into consideration
the dividends paid deduction and net capital gains, We
intend to continue to pay regular quarterly dividends to our
stockhotders. Before we pay any dividend, whether for
Federal income tax purposes or ctherwise, which would only
be paid out of available cash to the extent permitted under
our unsecured and secured credit and repurchase facilities,
and our term Ioans, we must first meet both cur operating
requirements and scheduled debt service on our mortgages
angd loans payable.

INFLATION

A majority of our assets and liabifities are interest rate sensi-
tive in nature. As a result, interest rates and other factors
influence our performance more so than inflation. Changes

in interest rates do not necessarily correlate with inflation
rates or changes in inflation rates. Further, our financial state-
ments are prepared in accordance with GAAP and our distri-
butions are determined by our board of directors based
primarily on our net income as calculated for tax purposes, in
each case, our activities and balance sheet are measured
with reference to historical cost or fair market value without
considering inflation.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (AMOUNTS IN
THOUSANDS)

In connection with our initial public offering, we entered into
a management agreement with our Manager, which was
subsequently amended and restated in April 2006. The
amended and restated management agreement provides for
a term through December 2009 with automatic one-year
extension options and is subject to certain termination rights.
We pay our Manager an annual management fee equal to
1.75% of our gross stockholders equity (as defined in the
amended and restated management agreement) inclusive of
our trust preferred securities. We incurred expense to our
Manager under this agreement of an aggregate of $10,147,
$6,337 and $1,349 for the years ended December 31, 2006

and 2005 and the period from April 12, 2004 (formation)
through December 31, 2004, respectively.

To provide an incentive to enhance the value of our common
stock, the holders of the Class B limited partner interests of
our Operating Partnership are entitled to an incentive return
equal to 25% of the amount by which FFO plus certain
accounting gains and losses (as defined in the amended ard
restated partnership agreement of our Operating
Partnership) exceed the product of our weighted average
stockholders equity (as defined in the amended and restated
partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership) multi-
plied by 9.5% (divided by 4 to adjust for quarterly calcula-
tions). We will record any distributions on the Class B limited
partner interests as an incentive distribution expense in the
period when earned and when payments of such amounts
have become probable and reasonably estimable in accor-
dance with the partnership agreement. We incurred $7,609
and $2,276 with respect to such Class B limited partner
interests for the years ended December 33, 2006 and

2005, respectively.

We are obligated to reimburse our Manager for its costs
incurred under an asset servicing agreement between our
Manager and an affiliate of SL Green Operating Partnership,
L.P. and a separate outsourcing agreement between our
Manager and SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P. The asset
servicing agreement, which was amended and restated in
April 20086, provides for an annual fee payable to SL Green
Operating Partnership, L.P. by us of 0.05% of the book value
of all credit tepant lease assets and non-investment grade
bonds and 0.15% of the book value of all other assets. The
asset servicing fee is reduced by SL Green Operating
Partnership, L.P. for fees paid directly to outside servicers by
us. The outsourcing agreement currently provides for an
annual fee payable by us, which fee is currently $1,326 per
year, increasing 3% annually over the prior year on the
anniversary date of the outsourcing agreement in August of
each year. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
and the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through
December 31, 2004, we realized expense of $1,304, $1,266
and $521, respectively, to our Manager under the outsourcing
agreement. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005 and the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through
December 31, 2004, we realized expense of $2,349, $1,037
and $95, respectively, to our Manager under the asset
servicing agreement.

In connection with the closing of our first CDOG in July 2005,
the Issuer, Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2005-1 Ltd., entered
into a collateral management agreement with our Manager.
Pursuant to the collateral management agreement, our
Manager has agreed to provide certain advisory and adminis-
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trative services in relation to the collateral debt securities
and other eligible investments securing the CDO notes. The
collateral management agreement provides for a senior col-
lateral management fee, payabie quarterly in accordance
with the priority of payments as set forth in the indenture,
equal to 0.15% per annum of the net outstanding portfolio
balance, and a subordinate collateral management fee,
payable quarterly in accordance with the priority of payments
as set forth in the indenture, equal to 0.25% per annum of
the net outstanding portfolio balance. Net outstanding port-
folio balance is the sum of the (i} aggregate principal balance
of the collateral debt securities, excluding defaulted securities,
(ii) aggregate principal balance of all principal proceeds held
as cash and eligible investments in certain accounts, and (iii)
with respect to the defaulted securities, the calculation
amount of such defaulted securities. As compensation for
the performance of its obligations as collateral manager
under the first CDO, our Beard of Directors has allocated to
our Manager the subordinate collateral management fee paid
on securities not held by us. At December 31, 2006, we
owned all of the non-investment grade bonds, preferred
equity and equity in both CDQOs. The senior collateral
management fee and balance of the subordinate coliateral
management fee is allocated to us. For the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, we realized expense of $2,065
and $944, respectively, to our Manager under such collateral
management agreement.

Collateral manager fees paid on our CDO that closed in
August 2006 are governed by the amended and restated
management agreement as a “transitional managed” CDO, as
defined in the amended and restated management agree-
ment, consisting primarily of debt investments secured by
neon-stabilized real estate. The amended and restated
management agreement provides that in connection with
formations of collateralized debt obligations or other securi-
tization vehicles after the execution of the amended and
restated management agreement, if a collateral manager is
retained, cur Manager or an affiliate will be the collateral
manager and will receive the following fees: (i) 0.25% per
annum of the book vafue of the assets owned for “transitional
managed” CDOs, (ii) 0.15% per annum of the book value of
the assets owned for "non-transitional managed” CDOs, (iii}
0.10% per annum of the book value of the assets owned for
static CDOs that own primarily non-investment grade bonds,
and (iv) 0.05% per annum of the book value of the assets
owned for static CDOs that own primarily investment grade
bonds; limited in each instance by the fees that are paid to
the collateral manager. The balance of the fees paid by the
CDOs for collateral management services are paid to us. For
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the year ended December 31, 2006, we realized expense of
$803 to our Manager under this agreement. {

In connection with the 5,500,000 shares of our commo{n
stock that were sold on December 3, 2004 and settled 'on
December 31, 2004 and January 3, 2005 in a private pléce—
ment, we agreed to pay our Manager a fee of $1,000 as
compensation for financial advisory, structuring and costs
incurred on our behalf. This fee was recorded as a reduction
in the proceeds of the private placement. Apart from Iebal
fees and stock clearing charges totaling $245, no other{fees
were paid by us to an investment bank, broker/dealer or
other financial advisor in connection with the private pl%ce-
ment, resulting in total costs of 1.3% of total gross procgeds.

On April 29, 2005, we closed on a $57.503 initial investr{nent
in a joint venture with SL Green to acquire, own and operate
the South Buiiding located at One Madison Avenue, New
York, New York, or the South Building. The joint venturé,
which was created to acquire, own and operate the South
Building, is owned 45% by a wholly-owned subsidiary of us
and 55% by a wholly-owned subsidiary of SL Green. The joint
venture intergsts are par/ passu. Also on April 29, 2005, the
joint venture completed the acquisition of the South BuFiIding
from Metropolitan Life Insurance Company for the purchase
price of approximately $802,800 plus ¢losing costs, finqnced
in part through a $690,000 first mortgage ioan on the §outh
Building. The South Building comprises approximately 112
million square feet and is almost entirely net leased to Credit
Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, or CS, pursuant to a lease \[Nith a
15-year remaining term. E

|
On June 7, 2006, we closed on the acquisition of a 49.75%
TIC interest in 55 Corporate Drive, located in Bridgewater,
New Jersey with a 0.25% interest to be acquired in the
future. The remaining 50% of the property is owned as a TIC
interest by an affiliate of SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P.
The property is comprised of three buildings totaling a;;prox—
imately six hundred and seventy thousand square feet which
is 100% net leased to an entity whose obligations are guaran-
teed by Sanofi-Aventis Group through Aprit 2023, The |
transaction was valued at $236,000 and was financed with a
$190,000, 10-year, fixed-rate first mortgage loan.

Commencing May 1, 2005 we are party to a lease agreer‘nent
with SLG Graybar Sublease LLC, an affiliate of SL Green,r for
our corporate offices at 420 Lexington Avenue, New Yo#k,
New York. The lease is for approximately five thousand square
feet with an option to lease an additional approximately two
thousand square feet and carries a term of ten years with|rents
on the entire seven thousand square feet of approximately

|
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$249 per annum for year one rising to $315 per annum in
year ten. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
we paid $252 and $90 under this lease, respectively.

Bright Star Couriers LLC, or Bright Star, provides messenger
services to us. Bright Star is owned by Gary Green, a son of
Stephen L. Green, our Chairman. The aggregate amount of
fees paid by us for such services for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the period from April 12,
2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004 was $7, $3
and less than $1, respectively.

SL Green Qperating Partnership, L.P. is an equity holder in
the joint venture that is the borrower on an investment with
a book value of $29,026 as of December 31, 2005, This
investment was repaid in August 2006.

On July 14, 2005, we closed on the purchase from an SL
Green affiliate of a $40,000 mezzanine loan which bears
interest at 11.20%. As part of that sale, the seller retained an
interest-only participation. We have determined that the
yield on our mezzanine loan after giving effect to the
interest-only participation retained by the seller is at market.
The mezzanine loan is secured by the equity interests in an
office property in New York, New York.

On February 27, 2006, we closed on the purchase of a
$90,000 whole loan, which bears interest at one-month
LIBOR plus 215%, to a joint venture in which SL Green is an
equity holder. The loan is secured by 55 Corporate Drive in
Bridgewater, New Jersey. The loan was repaid in full in June
2006 with the proceeds from new mortgage financing
obtained in connection with the sate of the property, 49.75%
of which is now owned by us through a TtC structure.

On March 17, 2006, we closed on the purchase of a $25,000
mezzanine loan, which bears interest at one-month LIBOR
plus 8.00%, to a joint venture in which 5L Green is an equity
holder. The loan was repaid in full on May 9, 2006, when we
originated a $90,287 whole loan, which bears interest at
one-month LIBOR plus 2.75%, to the joint venture. The

loan is secured by office and industriat properties in northern
New Jersey and has a book value of $90,049 as of
December 31, 2006.

On August 1, 2006, we acquired from a financial institution a
50% pari-passu interest in a $65,000 preferred equity invest-
ment secured by an office property in New York, New York.
An affiliate of SL Green simultanecusly acquired and owns
the other 50% pari-passu interest. The investment bears
interest at a blended fixed rate of 10.52%.

On December 20, 2006, we acquired from a financial institue-
tion a pari-passu interest of $125,000 in a $200,000 mezza-
nine loan, which bears interest at 6.384% and is secured by a
miulti-family portfolio in New York, New York. An affiliate of
SL Green simultanecusly acquired the remaining $75,000
pari-passu interest in the mezzanine loan.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we earned fees of
$163 from SL Green representing SL Green's proportionate
share of fees for financing and structural advisory services
related to a specific potential transaction.

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

We present FFO because we consider it an important
supplemental measure of our operating performance and
believe that it is frequently used by securities analysts,
investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of
REITS. We also use FFQ for the calculation of the incentive
fee payable to the holders of Class B limited partner interests
in our Operating Partnership and as one of several criteria to
determine performance-based incentive compensation for
members of cur senior management, which may be payable
in cash or equity awards. The revised White Paper on FFO
approved by the Board of Governors of the National
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, in
April 2002 defines FFO as net income (loss) (computed in
accordance with GAAP), excluding gains (or losses) from
items which are not a recurring part of our business, such as
debt restructurings, and sales of properties, plus real estate-
related depreciation and amortization and after adjustments
for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. We
consider gains and losses on the sales of debt investments
and real estate investments including tenancy-in-common
investments to be a normal part of our recurring operations
and therefore include such gains and losses when arriving at
FFO. FFO does not represent cash generated from operating
activities in accordance with GAAP and should not be
considered as an alternative to net income (determined

in accordance with GAAPY), as an indication of our financial
performance, or to cash flow from operating activities
(determined in accordance with GAAP) as a measure of our
liquidity, nor is it entirely indicative of funds available to
fund our cash needs, including our ability to make cash
distributions. Qur calculation of FFO may be different from
the calculation used by other companies and, therefore,
comparability may be limited.

Funds from Operations for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, and the period from April 12, 2004
(formation) through December 31, 2004 is as foilows
(amounts in thousands):

)

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. 2006 Annual Report
]




58

I
|
|
|
|
|

For the Period

April 12, 2004

For the Year For the Year (formation)

ended ended through

December 31, December 31, December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Net income available to common stockholders $ 55,902 $ 31,371 $ | 2052
Add: .

Depreciation and amortization 6,143 3,448 l 327

FFO adjustment for unconsoclidated joint ventures 7,753 4,804 -
Less:

Non real estate depreciation and amortization 5,771 (3133 1 (327)
Funds from operations $ 64027 $ 36,490 % | 2,052
Cash flows provided by operating activities $ 154,707 $ 260 $ 11145
Cash flows used in investing activities $(1,149,526) $(867,995) $ (4:07,056)
Cash flows provided by financing activities $ 943,557 $ 897,317 $ 444 805

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING
PRONOUNCEMENTS

SFAS No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment, a revision of FASB
Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” requires all share-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be
recognized in the income statement based on their fair value.
The new standard is effective for interim or annual reporting
periods beginning after January 1, 2006. The implementation
of SFAS No. 123{R) did not have a material effect on our
financial position or results of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2006.

In June 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus in EITF Issue
No. 04-5, or Issue 04-5, Determining Whether a General
Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a
Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited
Partners Have Certain Rights, which provides guidance in
determining whether a general partner controls a limited
partnership. Issue 04-5 states that the general partner in a
limited partnership is presumed to control that limited part-
nership. The presumption may be overcome if the limited
partners have either (1) the substantive ability to dissolve the
limited partnership or otherwise remove the general partner
without cause or (2) substantive participating rights, which
provide the [imited partners with the ability to effectively
participate in significant decisions that would be expected to
be made in the ordinary course of the limited partnership's
business and thereby preclude the general partner from
exercising unilateral control over the partnership. If the
criteria in Issue 04-5 are met, a company could be required
to consclidate certain of its existing unconsolidated joint
ventures. Qur adoption of Issue 04-5 for new or medified
limited partnership arrangements effective June 30, 2005
and existing limited partnership arrangements effective
January 1, 2006 did not have a material effect on our finan-
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cial position or results of operations for the year ended

December 31, 2008. {

In February 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 155, or SFAS No. 155, "Accour{ting
for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments—an amendment of
FASB Statements No. 133 and 140.” SFAS No. 155 (1) pe[rmits
fair value re-measurement for any hybrid financial instrument
that contains an embedded derivative that would otherwise
require bifurcation, (2) clarifies which interest-only strips and
principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements of
FASB Statement No. 133, (3) establishes a requirerment to
evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to ideniify
interests that are freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid
financiat instruments that contain an imbedded derivat'ive
requiring bifurcation, (4) clarifies that concentrations of
credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded
derivatives, and (5) amends FASBE Statement No. 140 tc!:
eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purposle
entity from holding a derivative financial instrument th%t
pertains to a beneficial interest in other than another
derivative financial instrument. SFAS No. 155 is effective
January 1, 2007 and we are currently evaluating the eff:ect,

if any, that this pronouncement will have on our future |
financial position or results of operations. |
In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, orlFIN
48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” This inter-
pretation, among other things, creates a two-step apprloach
for evaluating uncertain tax positions. Recognition (step one)
occurs when an enterprise concludes that a tax positio:n,
based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-thaninot to
be sustained upon examination. Measurement (step two)
determines the amount of benefit that more-likely-than-not
will be realized upon settlement. Derecognition of a tax
position that was previcusly recognized would occur when a




company subsequently determines that a tax position no
longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being
sustained. FIN 48 specifically prohibits the use of a valuation
allowance as a substitute for derecognition of tax positions,
and it has expanded disclosure requirements, FIN 48 is effec-
tive for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, in
which the impact of adoption should be accounted for as a
cumulative-effect adjustment to the beginning balance of
retained earnings. We are currently evaluating the effect, if
any, that this pronouncement will have on our future financial
position or results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, Fair
Value Measurements, or SFAS No, 157, SFAS Mo, 157 provides
guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities.
This statement clarifies the principle that fair value should be
based on the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability. SFAS No. 157 establishes
a fair value hierarchy, giving the highest priority to quoted
prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobserv-
able data. SFAS No. 157 applies whenever other standards
require assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value. This
statement is effective in fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange
Commissicon issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, or SAB
108, which becomes effective beginning on January 1, 2007.
SARB 108 provides guidance on the consideration of the
effects of prior period misstatements in quantifying current
year misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assess-
ment. SAB 108 provides for the quantification of the impact
of correcting all misstatements, including both the carryover
and reversing effects of prior year misstatements, on the
current year financial statements. If a misstatement is material
to the current year financial statements, the prior year financial
statements should alsc be corrected, even though such
revision was, and continues to be, immaterial to the prior
year financial statements. Correcting prior year financial
statements for immaterial errors would not require previously
filed reports to be amended. Such correction should be
made in the current period filings. We believe that the adop-
tion of this standard will not have a material effect on our
financial position or results of operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

MARKET RISK

Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest
rates, commodity prices, equity prices and other market
changes that affect market sensitive instruments. In pursuing

our business plan, we expect that the primary market risks to
which we will be exposed are real estate and interest rate risks.

REAL ESTATE RISK

Commercial and multi-family property values and net
operating income derived from such properties are subject
to volatility and may be affected adversely by a number of
factors, including, but not limited to, naticnal, regional and
local economic conditions which may be adversely affected
by industry slowdowns and other factors), local real estate
conditions (such as an oversupply of retail, industrial, office
or other commercial or multi-family space), changes or
continued weakness in specific industry segments, construc-
tion quality, age and design, demographic factors, retroactive
changes to building or similar codes, and increases in
operating expenses (such as energy costs). In the event nel
operating income decreases, a borrower may have difficulty
repaying our loans, which could result in losses to us. In addi-
tion, decreases in property values reduce the value of the
collateral and the potential proceeds available to a borrower
to repay our loans, which could also cause us to suffer losses.
Even when a property's net operating income is sufficient to
cover the property’s debt service at the time a loan is made,
there can be no assurance that this will continue in the
future. We employ careful business selection, rigorous under-
writing and credit approval processes and attentive asset
management te mitigate these risks.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk is highly sensitive to many factors, including
governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic and inter-
national economic and political considerations and other
factors-beyond our control. A hypothetical 100 basis point
increase in interest rates along the entire interest rate curve
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the
period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31,
2004 would have increased our interest cost by approxi-
mately $14.1 million, $5.8 million and $204,000, respectively,
offset by an increase in our investment income of approxi-
mately $15.2 million, $7.9 million and $713,000, respectively.

Our operating results will depend in large part on differences
between the income from our assets and our borrowing
costs. Most of our assets and borrowings are variable-rate
instruments that we finance with variable rate debt. The
objective of this strategy is to minimize the impact of interest
rate changes on the spread between the yield on our assets
and our cost of funds. We enter into hedging transactions
with respect to all liabilities relating to fixed rate assets. If we
were to finance fixed rate assets with variable rate debt and
the benchmark for our variable rate debt increased, our net
income would decrease. Furthermore, as most of our avail-
able financing provides for an ability of the lender to mark-
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to-market our assets and make margin calls based on a
change in the value of our assets, financing fixed rate assets
with this debt creates the risk that an increase in fixed rate
benchmarks {such as “swap” yields) would decrease the
value of our fixed rate assets. We have entered into certain
swap transactions in anticipation of drawing upon our mark-
to-market debt to hedge against this risk. Some of our loans
are subject to various interest rate floors. As a result, if
interest rates fall below the floor rates, the spread between
the vield on our assets and our cost of funds will increase,
which will generally increase our returns. Because we
generate income principally from the spread between the
yields on our assets and the cost of our borrowing and
hedging activities, our net income will generally increase if

|
LIBOR increases and decreases if LIBOR decreases, but this
may not always be true in the future. Qur exposure to interest
rates will also be affected by our overall corporate leverage,
which we generally target to be 70% to 80% of the ce:arrying
value of our assets, although our actual leverage mayi vary
depending on cur mix of assets. |

In the event of a significant rising interest rate enviror:1ment
and/or economic downturn, delinquencies and defaults could
increase and result in credit losses to us, which could
adversely affect our liquidity and operating results, Further,
such delinguencies or defaults could have an adverseleffect
on the spreads between interest-earning assets and irl'nterest-
bearing liabilities.

I
|
|
|

The aggregate carrying values, allocated by product type and weighted average coupons of our loans and other Iending
investments as of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 were as follows: I

Floating Rate:

(1) The calculation of weighted average maturity is based upon the initial term of the investment and does not include
option or extension periods or the ability to prepay the investrnent after a negotiated lock-out period, which may be

Al\varage
Carrying Value® Allocation by Fixed Rate: Spread over
<% in thousands) Investment Type Average Yleld l LIBOR®
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 l 2005
T
Whole loans, floating rate $1,372,316 $ 561,388 63% 46% — - 327 bps 325 bps
Whole loans, fixed rate 42,376 94,448 2% 8% 11.69% 10.67% - I —
Subordinate interests in whole |
loans, floating rate 236,308 362,983 1% 30% — — 445 bps 443 bps
Subordinate interests in whole [
loans, fixed rate 48,769 37104 2% 3% 8.54% 8.80% - -
Mezzanine loans, floating rate 226,675 82,793 10% 7% — - 665 bps 8}58 bps
Mezzanine loans, fixed rate 216,216 43,352 10% 4% 9.92% 8.51% - i -
Preferred equity, floating rate — 1,795 — 1% - - 900 bps 200 bps
Preferred equity, fixed rate 44,224 1,882 2% 1% 10.68% 10.27% — ! —
Total / Weighted average $2,186,884 $1,205,745 100% 100% 1004% 9.78% 384 bps 417 bps
(1} Debt investments are presented after scheduled amortization payments and prepayments, and are net of unamortized l
fees, discounts, asset sales and unfunded commitments. l
{2) Spreads over an index other than LIBOR have been adjusted to a LIBOR based eguivalent. !
|
As of December 31, 2006, our investment portfolio had the following maturity characteristics: }
Number of Current !
Investments Carrying Value f
Year of Maturity Maturing {In thousands) % of Total
2007 26 $ 608,009 : 28%
2008 23 990,814 | 45%
2009 16 337,856 ' o15%
2010 2 6,638 —
201N 2 56,920 | 3%
Thereafter 7 186,647 | 9%
Total 76 $2,186,884 [ 100%
Weighted average maturity( 21 years |
|
|
[

available to the borrower.
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Combined aggregate principal maturities of our consolidated CDOs, repurchase facilities, trust preferred securities, proportion-
ately consolidated mortgage note payable related to our TIC interest in 55 Corporate Drive, and unsecured revolving credit
facility as of December 31, 20086 are as follows:

Unsecured

Trust Mortgage Revolving

Repurchase Preferred Note Credit
CDOs Facilities  Securitles Payable Facility Total
2007 - $ - % - $ — $ — -
2008 — -_ — - - —
2009 - 277,412 - - 15,000 292,412
2010 - — - — — -
2011 — - — - — —
Thereafter 1,714,250 — 150,000 94,5250 — 1958775
Total $1,714,250 $277.412  $150,000 $94,525 $15,000 %2,251,187

(1) We have a 49.75% interest in the mortgage note.

The following table summarizes the notional and fair value of our derivative financial instrument at December 31, 2006. The
notional value is an indication of the extent of our involvement in this instrument at that time, but does not represent exposure
to credit, interest rate or market risks:

Notional Strike Effective Expiration Fair

Benchmark Rate Value Rate Date Date Value

Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR $ 168,300 4.973% 1/2007 1/2017 $ 826
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 64,076 4.990% 1/2007 1/2017 248
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 42,718 4.990% 1/2007 /2017 162
Interest Rate Swap 3 month LIBOR 39,683 4.420% 7/2005 2/2014 1,293
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 36,500 4.837% 12/2006 N/2009 120
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 31,686 3.855% 7/2005 11/2009 943
Interest Rate Swap 3 month LIBOR 24,940 5.445% 8/2006 7/2016 (728)
Interest Rate Cap 3 month LIBOR 23,713 5.700% 1/2005 12/2007 2
Interest Rate Cap 1 month LIBOR 20,000 6.000% 4/2006 4/2007 -
Interest Rate Swap 3 month LIBOR 12,000 9.850% 8/2006 g/20m 93)
Basis Swap 1 month PRIME 9,363 722 bps 8/2006 12/2007 (29
interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 6,339 4.760% 1/2006 3/2015 97
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 3,960 4.959% 12/2005 12/2015 6
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 3,465 4.280% 7/2005 12/2009 64
Interest Rate Swap 2 menth LIBOR 3,465 5.178% 4/2006 3/2010 2N
Total $490,208 $2,910

6l

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. 2006 Annual Report




62

ITEM B. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Index to Financial Statements and Schedules
GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP.
Report of Independent Registered Public ACCOUNtING Firm L ... o it et e e :. ... 63
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 ... ... i ....65

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 |
and the periocd from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004 . . ... ..ttt e ... 66

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
and the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004 . . . . e 67

|
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 |
and the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004 .. .. ... ... . . . . . . l...68

|
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. . . ... . 69
Schedules i
Schedule 'V Mortgage Loans on Real Estate as of December 31, 2006. . . ... . ... P 91

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the financial stattements

or notes thereto. .
t

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. 2006 Annual Report




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Gramercy Capital Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Gramercy Capital Corp. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005 and for the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial
statement schedule listed in the Index as Item 15¢a)(2). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of
Gramercy Capital Corp.'s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule
based on our audits.

we conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consclidated financial position
of Gramercy Capital Corp. at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through Decernber 31, 2004,
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule,
when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in al! material respects, the
information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, Gramercy Capital Corp. adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment."

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
the effectiveness of Gramercy Capital Corp.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 28, 2007 expressed an unqgualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
February 28, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Gramercy Capital Corp.

We have audited management’s assessrment, included in the accompanying Item 9A. Controls and Procedures—“Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,” that Gramercy Capital Corp. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework iss'ued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSQ criteria). Gramercy Capital é:orp.'s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Cur responsibility is to express an opinion on management'’s asseélsment
and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Qversight Board (UnitecjI
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether efféctive
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all materia! respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design anq
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the !
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receip{s and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or

disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. .

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadeqhate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Gramercy Capital Corp. maintained effective internal control over financif.\l
reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinjon,
Gramercy Capital Corp. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United Sta:tes).
the consolidated balance sheets of Gramercy Capital Corp. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consclidated
staterments of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for the period
from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004 of Gramercy Capital Corp. and our report dated February ZB.
2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
February 28, 2007
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, December 31,

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA) 2006 2005
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 19314 $ 70,576
Restricted cash 354,283 53,833
Loans and other lending investments, net 2,144,151 1,163,745
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures 57,567 58,040
Loans held for sale, net 42,733 42,000
Commercial real estate, net 99,821 51173
Accrued interest 12,092 7.187
Deferred financing costs 27,456 17,488
Deferred costs 1,271 1,894
Derivative instruments, at fair value 2,910 2271
QOther assets 4,515 1,603

Total assets $ 2,766,113 $1,469.810
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:
Repurchase agreements $ 277412 $ 117,366
Credit facilities 15,000
Collateralized debt obligations 1,714,250 810,500
Mortgage note payable 94,525 41,000
Management fees payable 2,093 1,329
Incentive fee payable 1,195 1,237
Dividends payable 14,419 10,726
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 24,750 11,561
Other liabilities 11,809 2,687
Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures held by trusts that issued

trust preferred securities 150,000 100,000

Total abifities 2,305,453 1,097,406
Commitments and contingencies — —
Stockholders' Equity:
Preferred stock, par value $0.001, 25,000,000 shares authorized,

no shares issued or outstanding -_ -
Common stock, par value $0.001, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 25,878,291 and

22,802,642 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and

December 31, 2005, respectively 26 22
Additional paid-in-capital 453,766 369,529
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,890 2,851
Retained earnings 3,978 2

Total stockholders' equity 460,660 372,404
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 2,766,113 $1,469,810

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Period from

April 12, 2004
(formatlon)
through
Year Ended Pecember 31, December 31,
(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 2006 2005 2004
Revenues
Investment income $176,421 $73,302 $6.841
Rental revenue, net 2,402 1,219 S
Gain on sales and other income 19,392 13,564 310
Total revenues 198,215 88,085 7.151
Expenses
Interest expense 98,299 337N 1,463
Management fees 16,668 9,600 1,965
Incentive fee 7,609 2,276 |-
Depreciation and amortization 1,582 672 ' 18
Marketing, general and administrative 1,957 6,976 1,358
Provision for loan loss 1,430 1,030 -
Total expenses 137,545 54,325 4,824
Income from continuing operations before equity in net loss of ‘
unconsolidated joint ventures and provision for taxes 60,670 33,760 2,327
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated joint ventures (2,960) (1,489) b=
Income from continuing operations before provision for taxes 57,710 32,271 2,327
Provision for taxes (1,808) {900) -
GKK formation costs - - (275)
Net income available to common stockholders $ 55,902 $ 31,371 $2,052
Baslc earnings per share: E
Net income availabie to common stockholders $ 226 $ 157 $ 015
Diluted earnings per share:
Net income available to common stockholders $ 215 $ 1.51 $ 015
Dividends per common share $ 208 $ 1.495 $ 015
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 24,722 20,027 13,5348
Diluted weighted average common shares and common share '
equivalents outstanding 26,009 20,781

13,411

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumutated

Addltional Othaer
M Pald Comprehensive  Retalned Comprehensive

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA) Shares Par Vatue In-Capltal income Earnings Total Income
Balance at April 12, 2004 (formation) 500 $1 % 199 $ - % - % 200 $ -
Net income 2,052 2,052 2,052
Net unrealized gain on derivative instruments 282 282 282
Net proceeds from common stock offerings 18,000 18 267955 267973
Stock-based compensation—fair value 404 404
Deferred compensation plan, net 313 — -
Cash distributions declared ($0.15 per common

share of which none represented a return !

of capital for federal income tax purposes) (1,952) aesz i
Balance at December 31, 2004 18,813 19 268,558 282 100 268,959 $ 2,334
Net income 31,371 31,371 $ 31,371
Net unrealized gain on derivative instruments 2,569 2,569 2,569
Net proceeds from common stock offerings 3,833 3 96,028 96,031
Stock-based compensation—fair value 1,798 1,798
Proceeds from stock option exercises 131 - 1,970 1,970
Deferred compensation plan, net 26 - 1,175 1,175
Cash distributions declared ($1.495 per common

share of which none represented a return

of capital for federal income tax purposes) (31,469) (31.469)
Balance at December 31, 2005 22,803 22 369,529 2,851 2 372404 $33.940
Net income 55,902 55,902 $55,902
Net unrealized gain on derivative instruments 39 39 39
Proceeds from common stock offerings 3,000 3 79,787 79,790
Stock-based compensation—fair value 2,259 2,259
Proceeds from stock option exercises 63 1 1,017 1,018
Deferred compensation plan, net 12 — 1,174 1174
Cash distributions declared ($2.08 per common

share of which none represented a return

of capital for federal income tax purposes} (51,926) (51,926)
Balance at December 31, 2006 25,878 $26 $453,766 $2,890 $ 3,978 $460,660 $ 55,941

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Period from
April 12, 2004
(forrqatlon)
thl;ough
Year Ended Decembeor 31, December 31,
(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS) 2006 2005 2004
Operating Activities
Net incomne available 1o common stockholders $ 55902 $  3ILIN $ 2052
Adjustments to reconcile net income available to common stockholders to
net cash provided by operating activities: |
Depreciation and amortization 6,042 3,448 . 38
Amortization of discount, premium and other fees on investments (12,956} (1.810) 253
Deferred rents receivable (1,488) — -
Equity in net loss of unconsoclidated joint ventures 2,960 1,485 -
Gain on sale of securities (6,362) - =
Amortization of stock compensation 3,433 2,569 i| —
Provision for loan loss 1,430 1.030 -
Net realized gain on loan held for sale (4713 - -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: !
New investments in loans held for sale (104,231) (182,431) -
Proceeds from sale of loans held for sale 175,050 140,431 -
Accrued interest {4,905) (4,266) (2,921)
Other assets 12,034 (1,364) ('628)
Management fees payable 764 913 ‘416
incentive fee payable 42 1,237 -
Settlement of derivative instruments 534 - L=
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 31,855 9,543 1,935
Net cash provided by operating activities 154,707 2,160 1,145
Investing Actlvities !
New investment originations and funded commitments {1,847,976) (1,030,149) (407,603)
Principal collections on investments 810,947 273,897 736
Investment in commercial real estate and securities (N3,644) (50,616) —
Net proceeds from the sale of securities 14,812 - —
Investment in joint venture 75 (59,529} —
Change in restricted cash from investing activities (11,800) - l —
Settlement of derivative instruments - 106 | -
Deferred investment costs (1,840) (1,704) (189)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,149,526) (867,995) (407,056)
Financing Activities :
Proceeds from repurchase facilities 1,381,582 815,151 238,885
Repaymaents of repurchase facilities (1,208,537) (936,670) -
Proceeds from issuance of collateralized debt cbligation 903,750 810,500 -
Proceeds from mortgage note payable 94,525 41,000 -
Change in restricted cash from financing activities (304,567) (50,835 -
Settlement of derivative instruments 730 375 -
Proceads from stock options exercised 1,018 1,970 -
Net proceeds from sale of common stock 79,790 156,848 268,409
Stock subscription receivable - - (60,445)
Issuance of trust preferred securities 50,000 100,000 —
Deferred financing costs and other liabilities (8,494) 18,227 (2.044)
Dividends paid (48,240) (22,695) -
Net cash provided by financing activities 943,557 897317 444,805
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (51,262) 31,482 38.B|94
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 70,576 39,094 200
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 19314 $ 70,576 $ 38,094
Non-cash activity :
Change in investment in unconsclidated joint ventures 1814 - -
Deferred gains on derivative instruments 237 2,569 %82
Supplemental cash flow disclosures .
Interest paid 80,956 22,440 558
Income taxes paid 1,888 828 -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(AMDUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)

1. ORGANIZATION

Gramercy Capital Corp. (the “"Company” or “Gramercy™) is

a commercial real estate specialty finance company that
focuses on the direct origination and acquisition of whole
loans, subordinate interests in whole loans, mezzanine lcans,
preferred equity, and net lease investments involving
commercial properties throughout the United States. When
evaluating transactions, we assess our risk-adjusted return
and target transactions with yields that seek to provide
excess returns for the risks being taken.

Substantially all of our operations are conducted through
GKK Capital LP, a Delaware limited partnership, or our
Qperating Partnership. We, as the sole general partner of,
and currently the holder of 100% of the common units of, our
Operating Partnership, have responsibility and discretion in
the management and contro! of cur Operating Partnership,
and the limited partners of our Operating Partnership, in
such capacity, have no authority to transact business for, or
participate in the management activities of, our Operating
Partnership. Accordingly, we consolidate the accounts of our
Operating Partnership.

We are externally managed and advised by GKK Manager
LLC, or our Manager, a majority-owned subsidiary of

SL Green Realty Corp., or SL Green. At December 31, 2006,
SL Green owned approximately 25% of the outstanding
shares of our common stock. We qualified as a real estate
investment trust, or REIT, under the Internal Revenue Code
commencing with our taxable year ending December 31,
2004 and expect to qualify for the current fiscal year. To
maintain our tax status as a REIT, we plan to distribute at
least 90% of our taxable income. Unless the context requires
otherwise, all references to "we,” "our,” and "us” mean
Gramercy Capital Corp.

As of December 31, 2006, we held loans and other lending
investments of $2,186,884 net of fees, discounts, and
unfunded commitments with an average spread to LIBOR

of 384 basis points for our floating rate investments, and an
average yield of 10.04% for our fixed rate investments. As

of December 31, 2006, we also held interests in four credit
tenant lease, or CTL, investments comprised of a 49.75%
tenancy-in-common, or TIC, interest in 55 Corporate Drive in
Bridgewater, New Jersey, and three joint venture investments.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include our accounts
and those of our subsidiaries which are wholly-owned or
controlled by us, or entities which are variable interest
entities in which we are the primary beneficiaries under FASB

Interpretation No. 46, or FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities.” FIN 46 requires a variable interest entity,
or VIE, to be consolidated by its primary beneficiary. The
primary beneficiary is the party that absorbs a majority of
the VIE's anticipated losses and/or a majority of the expecied
returns. We have evaluated our investments for potential
classification as variable interests by evaluating the suffi-
ciency of the entities’ equity investment at risk to absorb
losses, and determined that we are not the primary beneficiary
for any of our investments. Entities which we do not

contro! and entities which are VIE's, but where we are not
the primary beneficiary, are accounted for under the equity
method. When investments are made through a TIC struc-
ture, we report our pro rata share of the assets, liabilities,
revenues, and expenses of the investment in our financial
statements. All significant intercompany balances and trans-
actions have been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments with maturities ¢f
three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash at December 31, 2006 consists primarily of
$322,167 on deposit with the trustee of our collateralized
debt obligations, or CDOs, a portion of which represents
proceeds from our second CDO issuance that will be used
to fund future investments that will be acquired by the CDO
trust. Also included are the proceeds of repayments from
lcans serving as collateral in our CDOs, which will be used to
fund investments to replace those trust assets which are
repaid or sold by the trust, interest payments received by the
trustee on investments that serve as collateral for our CDQOs,
which are remitted to us on a quarterly basis in the month
following the end of cur fiscal quarter, and future funding
obligations on certain investments. The remaining balance
consists of interest reserves held on behalf of borrowers and
$18,201 representing our proportionate share of the reserves
of 85 Corporate Drive.

Loans and investments and Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for investment are intended to be held to matu-
rity and, accordingly, are carried at cost, net of unamortized
loan origination fees, discounts, repayments, sales of partial
interests in loans, and unfunded commitments unless such
loan or investment is deemed te be impaired. Loans held for
sale are carried at the lower of cost or market value using
available market information obtained through consultation
with dealers or other originators of such investments. We
may originate or acquire preferred equity interests that allow
us to participate in a percentage of the underlying property’s
cash flows from operations and proceeds from a sale or
refinancing. Should we make such a preferred equity
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investment, we must determine whether that investment
should be accounted for as a loan, joint venture or as an
interest in real estate.

Specific valuation allowances are established for impaired
loans based on the fair value of collateral on an individual
loan basis. The fair value of the collateral is determined by
selecting the most appropriate valuation methodoelogy, or
methodologies, among several generally available and
accepted in the commercial real estate industry. The determi-
nation of the most appropriate valuation methodology is
based on the key characteristics of the collateral type. These
methodologies include the evaluation of operating cash flow
from the property during the projected holding period, and
the estimated sales value of the collateral computed by
applying an expected capitalization rate to the stabilized net
operating income of the specific property, less selling costs,
all of which are discounted at market discount rates.

If upon completion of the valuation, the fair value of the
underlying collateral securing the impaired loan is less than
the net carrying value of the loan, an allowance is created
with a corresponding charge to the provision for loan losses.
The allowance for each loan is maintained at a level we
believe is adeguate to absorb probable losses. We main-
tained a reserve of $2,460 and $1,030 at December 31, 2006
and December 31, 2005, respectively.

Our Manager evaluates our assets on a regular basis to
determine if they continue to satisfy our investment criteria.
Subject to certain restrictions, our Manager may cause us to
sell our investments opportunistically and use the proceeds
of any such sale for debt reduction, additional acquisitions or
working capital purposes.

Classifications of Mortgage-Backed Securities
Mortgage-backed securities, or MBS, are classified as avail-
able-for-sale securities. As a result, changes in fair vatue will
be recorded as a balance sheet adjustment to accumulated
other comprehensive income, which is a component of stock-
holders equity, rather than through our statement of opera-
tions. If available-for-sale securities were classified as trading
securities, there could be substantially greater volatility in
earnings from period-to-period as these investments would
be marked to market and any reduction in the value of

the securities versus the previous carrying value would

be considered an expense on our statement of operations.
We had no investments as of December 31, 2006 that were
accounted for as trading securities.

Valuations of Mortgage-Backed Securities

All MBS are carried on the balance sheet at fair value. We
determine the fair value of MBS based on the types of securi-
ties in which we have invested. For liquid, investment-grade

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. 2006 Annual Report

securities, we consult with dealers of such securities to
pericdically obtain updated market pricing for the same or
similar instruments. For non-investment grade securitiesl we
actively monitor the performance of the underlying proper-
ties and loans and update our pricing mode! to reflect
changes in projected cash flows. The value of the securitlies is
derived by applying discount rates to such cash flows based
on current market yields. The yields employed are obtair;med
from our own experience in the market, advice from deallers
and/or information obtained in consultation with other |
investors in similar instruments. Because fair value estimates
may vary to some degree, we must make certain judgments
and assumptions about the appropriate price to use to calcu-
late the fair values for financial reporting purposes. Different
judgments and assumptions could result in different preéen-
tations of value.

I
!
I
!
|
!
I
!
f
|

When the fair value of an available-for-sale security is less
than the amortized cost, we consider whether there is an
other-than-temporary impairment in the value of the seclurity
(for example, whether the security will be sold prior to the
recovery of fair value). If, in our judgment, an other-than-
temporary impairment exists, the cost basis of the security is
written down to the then-current fair value, and this loss'is
realized and charged against earnings. The determination of
other-than-temporary impairment is a subjective procesé,
and different judgments and assumptions could affect the
timing of loss realization.

Credit Tenant Lease Investments

Consolidated CTL investments are recorded at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Costs directly related to the
acquisition of such investments are capitalized. Certain
improvements are capitalized when they are determined to
increase the useful life of the building. Capitalized items 'are
depreciated using the straight-line method over the shor'ter
of the useful lives of the capitalized item or 40 years for
buildings or facilities, the remaining life of the facility for.
facility improvements, four to seven years for personal plrop-
erty and equipment, and the shorter of the remaining lease
term or the expected life for tenant improverments.

Consclidated depreciation expense for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $614 and $324, respec-
tively. We did not have any consolidated CTL investment's
during the pericd from April 12, 2004 (formation) through
December 31, 2004, |

|
Results of operations of properties acquired are includec{ in
the Statement of Income from the date of acquisition. |

f
In accordance with FASB No. 144, or SFAS 144, "Accounting
for the Impairment of Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” a |
property to be disposed of is reported at the lower of itsi




carrying amount or its estimated fair value, less its cost to
sell. Once an asset is held for sate, depreciation expense and
straight-line rent adjustments are no longer recorded and
historic results are reclassified as Discontinued Operations.

In accordance with FASB No. 141, or SFAS 141, “Business
Combinations,” we allocate the purchase price of real estate
to land and building and, if determined to be material, intan-
gibles, such as the value of above, below and at-market
leases and origination costs associated with the in-place
leases. We depreciate the amount allocated to building and
other intangible assets over their estimated useful lives,
which generally range from three to 40 years. The values of
the above and below-market leases are amortized and
recorded as either an increase (in the case of below-market
leases) or a decrease (in the case of above-market leases)
to rental income over the remaining term of the associated
lease. The value associated with in-place leases and tenant
relationships are amortized over the expected term of the
relationship, which includes an estimated probability of the
lease renewal, and its estimated term. If a tenant vacates

its space prior to the contractual termination of the lease
and no rental payments are being made on the lease, any
unamortized balance of the related intangible will be written
off. The tenant improvements and origination costs are
amortized as an expense over the remaining life of the {ease
(or charged against earnings if the lease is terminated prior
to its contractual expiration date). We assess fair value of the
leases based on estimated cash flow projections that utilize
appropriate discount and capitalization rates and available
market information. Estimates of future cash flows are based
on a number of factors including the historical operating
results, known trends, and market/economic conditions that
may affect the property.

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

We account for our investments in unconsolidated joint
ventures under the equity method of accounting since we
exercise significant influence, but do not unilaterally control,
the entities and are not considered to be the primary benefi-
ciary under FIN 46. In the joint ventures, the rights of the
other investor are protective and participating. Unless we

are determined to be the primary beneficiary, these rights
preclude us from consolidating the investments. The invest-
ments are recorded initially at cost as an investment in
unconsotidated joint ventures, and subsequently are adjusted
for equity in net income (loss) and cash contributions and
distributions. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the investments on our balance sheet and the underlying
equity in net assets is amortized as an adjustment to equity
in net income (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures over the
lesser of the joint venture term or 40 years. None of the joint
venture debt is recourse to us, As of December 31, 2006 and

2005, we had investments of $57,567 and $58,040 in uncon-
solidated joint ventures, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income on debt investments is recognized over the
life of the investment using the effective interest method and
recognized on the accruat basis. Fees received in connection
with loan commitments are deferred until the loan is funded
and are then recognized over the term of the loan using the
effective interest method. Anticipated exit fees, whose
collection is expected, are also recognized over the term of
the loan as an adjustment to yield. Fees on commitments
that expire unused are recognized at expiration. Fees
received in exchange for the credit enhancement of another
lender, either subordinate or senior to us, in the form of a
guarantee are recognized over the term of that guarantee
using the straight-line method.

Income recognition is generally suspended for debt inves:-
ments at the earlier of the date at which payments become
90 days past due or when, in our opinion, a fult recovery of
income and principa! becomes doubtful. Income recognition
is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and
performance is demonstrated to be resumed.

In some instances we may sell all or a portion of our
investments to a third party. To the extent the fair value
received for an investment exceeds the amortized cost of
that investment and FASB Statement No. 140, or SFAS 149,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” criteria is met, under
which control of the asset that is sold is surrendered making
it a “true sale,” a gain on the sale will be recorded througn
earnings as other income. To the extent an investment that is
sold has a discount or fees, which were deferred at the time
the investment was made and were being recognized over
the term of the investment, the unamortized portion of the
discount or fees are recognized at the time of sale and
recorded as a gain on the sale of the investment through
other income. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005, we recognized $5,349 and $10,474 in net gains from
the sale of debt investments or commitments. We did not
recognize any such gains for the period from April 12, 2004
(formation) through December 31, 2004.

Rental revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. The excess of rents recognized over
amounts contractually due pursuant to the underlying leases
is included in other assets on the accompanying balance
sheets. We may establish, on a current basis, an allowance
against this account for future potential tenant credit losses,
which may occur. The balance reflected on the balance sheet
will be net of such allowance.

n
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In addition to base rent, the tenants in our CTL investments
also pay all operating costs of owned property including real
estate taxes.

Reserve for Possible Loan Losses

The expense for possible loan losses in connection with
debt investments is the charge to earnings to increase the
allowance for possible loan losses to the level that manage-
ment estimates to be adequate considering delinquencies,
loss experience and collateral quality. Other factors consid-
ered relate to geographic trends and project diversification,
the size of the portfolic and current economic conditions.
Based upon these factors, we may establish the provision
for possible loan losses by individual asset or category

of asset. When it is probable that we will be unable to
collect all amounts contractually due, the account is consid-
ered impaired.

Where impairment is indicated, a valuation write-down or
write-off is measured based upon the excess of the recorded
investment amount over the net fair value of the collateral,
as reduced by selling costs. Any deficiency between the
carrying amount of an asset and the net sales price of fore-
ctosed collateral is charged to the allowance for loan losses.
We maintained a reserve for possible loan losses of $2,460
against investrnents with a carrying value of $131,427 as of
December 31, 2006, and a reserve for possible loan losses of
$1,030 against investments with a carrying value of $68,293
as of December 31, 2005.

Deferred Costs

Deferred costs consist of fees and direct costs incurred to
originate new investments and are amortized using the effec-
tive yield method over the related term of the investment.

In March 2006, we recorded a nonrecurring charge of $525
for third-party professional expenses in connection with a
possible business combination involving the acquisition of a
publicly-traded commercial real estate finance company with
business lines considered by our management to be highly
complementary to ours. The decision to expense these costs
was made once management concluded the proposed trans-
action was unlikely to occur on terms advantageous to us.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs represent commitment fees, legal
and other third party costs associated with obtaining
commitments for financing which result in a ¢losing of such
financing. These costs are amortized over the terms of the
respective agreements and the amortization is reflected in
interest expense. Unamortized deferred financing costs are
expensed when the associated debt is refinanced or repaid
before maturity. Costs incurred in seeking financing transac-
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tions, which do not close, are expensed in the period in which it
is determined that the financing will not close.

Stock Based Compensation Plans E

We have a stock-based compensation plan, described more
fully in Note 14, We account for this plan using the fair véiue
recognition provisions of FASB Statement 123(R), “ShareTBased
Payment, a revision of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for

Stock-Based Compensation.” f

The Black-5choles option-pricing model was developed for use
in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have no
vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition,i
option valuation models require the input of highly subjective
assumptions including the expected stock price volatility,
Because our plan has characteristics significantly differerrt from
those of traded options and because changes in the subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate.
in our opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a
reliable single measure of the fair value of our stock options.

Compensation cost for stock optiens, if any, is recognized
ratably over the vesting period of the award. Our policy i%

to grant options with an exercise price equal to the quotéd
closing market price of our stock on the business day
preceding the grant date. Awards of stock or restricted S;ZOCk
are expensed as compensation on a current basis over the
benefit period. E

The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated é)n the
date of grant for awards to co-leased employees, and quarterly
for options issued to non-employees, using the BIack-Scholes
option pricing model with the following weighted average
assumpticns for grants in 2006 and 2005. f

t

|

2008 2005
Dividend yield 8.0% } 8.4%
t
Expected life of option 6.7 years 6.9 years
Risk-free interest rate 414% 4.16%
Expected stock price volatility 21.0% 19.1%

|

Incentive Distribution (Class B Limited Partner Interest)
The Class B limited partner interests are entitled to recei\:re an
incentive return equal to 25% of the amount by which funds
from operations, or FFO plus certain accounting gains (a%
defined in the partnership agreement of our Operating
Partnership which was amended and restated in April 2006)
exceed the product of our weighted average stockholders
equity (as defined in the amended and restated partnersthip
agreement of our Operating Partnership) multiplied by 9.5%
(divided by 4 to adjust for quarterly calculations). We will

record any distributions on the Class B limited partner interests
|




as an incentive distribution expense in the period when
earned and when payment of such amounts has become
probable and reasonably estimable in accordance with the
partnership agreement. These cash distributions will reduce
the amount of cash available for distribution to our common
unithelders in our Operating Partnership and to common
stockholders. We incurred approximately $7,609 and $2,276
with respect to such Class B limited partner interests for
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
We did not recognize such an expense for the period from
April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004,

Derivative Instruments

In the normal course of business, we use a variety of deriva-
tive instruments to manage, or hedge, interest rate risk. We
require that hedging derivative instruments be effective in
reducing the interest rate risk exposure that they are desig-
nated to hedge. This effectiveness is essential for qualifying
for hedge accounting. Some derivative instruments are
associated with an anticipated transaction. In those cases,
hedge effectiveness criteria also require that it be probable
that the underlying transaction occurs. Instruments that meet
these hedging criteria are formally designated as hedges at
the inception of the derivative contract.

To determine the fair value of derivative instruments, we use
a variety of methods and assumptions that are based on
market conditions and risks existing at each balance sheet
date. For the majority of financial instruments including
most derivatives, long-term investments and long-term debt,
standard market conventions and technigues such as
discounted cash flow analysis, option-pricing models,
replacement cost, and termination cost are used to deter-
mine fair value. All methods of assessing fair value result in a
general approximation of value, and such value may never
actually be realized.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to the
effect of interest rate changes and limit these risks by
following established risk management policies and
procedures including the use of derivatives. To address
exposure to interest rates, we use derivatives primarily to
hedge the mark-to-market risk of our liabilities with respect
to certain of our assets, We may also use derivatives to
hedge variability in sales proceeds to be received upon the
sale of loans held for sale.

We use a variety of commonly used derivative products that
are considered plain vanilla derivatives. These derivatives
typically include interest rate swaps, caps, collars and floors,
We also use total rate of return swaps, or TROR swaps, which
are tied to the Lehman Brothers CMBS index. We expressly
prohibit the use of unconventional derivative instruments and

using derivative instruments for trading or speculative
purposes. Further, we have a policy of only entering into
contracts with major financial institutions based upon their
credit ratings and other factors.

FASB No. 133, or SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by FASB
No. 149, requires us to recognize all derivatives on the
balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not hedges
must be adjusted to fair value through income. If a derivative
is a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in
the fair value of the derivative will either be offset against
the change in fair value of the hedged asset, liability, or firm
commitment through earnings, or recognized in other
comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized
in earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivative's change in
fair value will be immediately recognized in earnings. SFAS
133 may increase or decrease reported net income and
stockholders’ equity prospectively, depending on future
levels of LIBOR, swap spreads and ¢ther variables affecting
the fair values of derivative instruments and hedged items,
but will have no effect on cash flows, provided the contract
is carried through to full term.

We may employ swaps, forwards or purchased options to
hedge qualifying forecasted transactions. Gains and losses
related to these transactions are deferred and recognized in
net income as interest expense or other income in the sams
period or periods that the underlying transaction occurs,
expires or is otherwise terminated.

All hedges held by us are deemed to be effective in meeting
the hedging objectives established by our corporate policy
governing interest rate risk management. The effect of

our derivative instruments on our financial statements is
discussed more fully in Note 17.

Income Taxes

We elected to be taxed as a REIT, under Sections 856
through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code, beginning with
our taxable year ending December 31, 2004. To qualify as a
REIT, we must meet certain organizational and operational
requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least
90% of our ordinary taxable income to stockholders. As a
REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax
on taxable income that we distribute to our stockholders. {f
we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will then
be subject to federal income taxes on our taxable income at
regular corporate rates and we will not be permitted to
qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax
purposes for four years following the year during which qual-
ification is lost unless the Internal Revenue Service grants us
relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could

i
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materially adversely affect our net income and net cash avail-
able for distributions to stockholders, However, we believe
that we will be organized and operate in such a manner as

to qualify for treatment as a REIT and we intend to operate
in the foreseeable future in such a manner so that we will
qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. We may,
however, be subject to certain state and local taxes,

Cur TRSs are subject to federal, state and local taxes.

Underwriting Commissions and Costs

Underwriting commissions and costs incurred in connection
with our stock offerings are reflected as a reduction of addi-
tiomal paid-in-capital.

Formation Costs
Costs incurred to organize Gramercy in 2004 were expensed
as incurred.

Earnings Per Share

We present both basic and diluted earnings per share, or
EPS. Basic EPS excludes dilution and is computed by dividing
net income available to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution
that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue
common stock were exercised or converted into common
stock, where such exercise or conversion would result in a
lower EPS amount.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the amounts reported in the financial state-
ments and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concen-
trations of credit risk consist primarily of cash investments,
debt investments and accounts receivable. Gramercy places
its cash investments in excess of insured amounts with high
quality financial institutions. Qur Manager performs ongoing
analysis of credit risk concentrations in our debt investment
portfolio by evaluating exposure to various markets, under-
lying property types, investment structure, term, sponsors,
tenants and other credit metrics. Four investments accounted
for more than 21% of the total carrying value of our debt
investments as of December 31, 2006 and 20% of the total
carrying value of our debt investments as of December 33,
2005. Six investments accounted for approximately 22% of
the revenue earned on our debt investments for the year
ended December 31, 2006, compared to three investments
which accounted for approximately 25% of the revenue
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earned on our debt investments for the year ended
December 31, 2005 and two investments which accounted
for approximately 58% of the revenue earned on our d?bt
investments for the period from April 12, 2004 (formation)
through December 31, 2004. '

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements |
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123(R)|, or
SFAS No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment, a revision of FASB
Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensa-
tion,"” requires all share-based payments to employees,
including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized
in the income statement based on their fair value. The hew
standard is effective for interim or annual reporting periods
beginning after January 1, 2006, The implementation of
SFAS No. 123(R) did not have a material effect on our finan-
cial position or results of operations for the year ended‘

December 31, 2006. ‘

In June 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus in EITF Issue
No. 04-5, or Issue 04-5, Determining Whether a Genera'l
Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a i
Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited
Partners Have Certain Rights, which provides guidance in
determining whether a general partner controls a limited
partnership. Issue 04-5 states that the general partner ii’n a
limited partnership is presumed to control that limited
partnership. The presumption may be overcome if the limited
partners have either (1) the substantive ability to dissolve the
limited partnership or otherwise remove the general par‘ltner
without cause or (2) substantive participating rights, which
provide the limited partners with the ability to effectively
participate in significant decisions that would be expected to
be made in the ordinary course of the limited partnership's
business and thereby preciude the general partner from exer-
cising unilateral control over the partnership. If the criteria in
issue 04-5 are met, a company could be required to consoli-
date certain of its existing unconsolidated joint ventures‘. Qur
adoption of Issue 04-5 for new or modified limited partner-
ship arrangements effective June 30, 2005 and existing’
limited partnership arrangements effective January 1, 2006
did not have a material effect on our financial position cr
results of operations for the year ended December 37, 2'906.

In February 20086, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 155, or SFAS Ne. 155, "Accounting
for Certain Hybrid Fimancial Instruments—an amendment of
FASB Statements No. 133 and 140." SFAS No. 155 (1) permits
fair value re-measurement for any hybrid financial instrument
that contains an embedded derivative that would otherwise
require bifurcation, (2) clarifies which interest-only strips and
principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements'of
FASB Statement No. 133, (3) establishes a requirement t'p




evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify
interests that are freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid
financial instruments that contain an imbedded derivative
requiring bifurcation, (4) clarifies that concentrations of
credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded
derivatives, and (5) amends FASB Statement No. 140 to
eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose
entity from helding a derivative financial instrument that
pertains to a beneficial interest in other than another deriva-
tive financial instrument. SFAS No. 155 is effective January i,
2007 and we are currently evaluating the effect, if any, that
this pronouncement will have on our future financial position
or resuits of operations.

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, or

FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” This
interpretation, among other things, creates a two-step
approach for evaluating uncertain tax positions. Recognition
(step one) occurs when an enterprise concludes that a tax
position, based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-
than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement
(step two) determines the amount of benefit that more-
likely-than-not will be realized upon settlement. Derecogni-
tion of a tax position that was previcusly recognized would
occur when a company subsequently determines that a tax
position no longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold
of being sustained. FIN 48 specifically prohibits the use of a
valuation allowance as a substitute for derecognition of tax
positions, and it has expanded disclosure requirements. FIN
48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
20086, in which the impact of adoption should be accounted
for as a cumulative-effect adjustment to the beginning
balance of retained earnings. We are currently evaluating the
effect, if any, that this pronouncement will have on our future
financial position or results of operations.

in September 20086, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, Fair
Value Measurements, or SFAS No. 157. SFAS No. 157 provides

guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities.

This statement clarifies the principle that fair value should be
based on the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability. SFAS No. 157 estab-
lishes a fair value hierarchy, giving the highest priority to
quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to
unobservable data. SFAS No. 157 applies whenever other
standards require assets or liabkilities to be measured at fair
value. This statement is effective in fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007. We believe that the adoption of
this standard on January 1, 2008 will not have a material
effect on our financial position or results of operaticons.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No, 108, or SAB 108, which
becomes effective beginning on January 1, 2007. SAB 108
provides guidance on the consideration of the effects of
prior period misstatements in quantifying current year
misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment.
SAB 108 provides for the quantification of the impact of
correcting all misstatements, including both the carryover
and reversing effects of prior year misstatements, on the
current year financial statements. If a misstatement is
material to the current year financial statements, the prior
year financial statements should also be corrected, even
though such revision was, and continues to be, immaterial
to the prior vear financial statements. Correcting prior year
financial statements for immaterial errors would not require
previously filed reports to be amended. Such correction
should be made in the current period filings. We believe that
the adoption of this standard will not have a material effect
on our financial position or results of operations.

15
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3. LOANS AND OTHER LENDING INVESTMENTS
The aggregate carrying values, allocated by product type and weighted average coupons of our loans and other lending invest-
ments as of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 were as follows: ‘

|
Floating Rate:

Allocatlon by
Investment Fixed Rate: Average Spread
Carrying Valua®® Type Average Yleld over LIBOR®
{$ IN THOUSANDS) 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Whole loans, floating rate $1,372,316 % 561,388 63% 46% - — 327 bps 3;25 bps
Whole loans, fixed rate 42,376 94,448 2% 8% 11.69% 10.67% - ' -
Subordinate interests in whole loans, ‘
floating rate 236,308 362,983 1% 30% — - 445 bps 443 bps
Subordinate interests in whole loans, ,
fixed rate 48,769 37104 2% 3% 8.54% 8.80% — . —
Mezzanine loans, floating rate 226,675 82,793 10% 7% - — 665 bps 858 bps
Mezzanine |oans, fixed rate 216,216 43,352 10% 4% 992% 851% —_ ! -
Preferred equity, floating rate - 11,795 — 1% - - 900 bps 900 bps
Preferred equity, fixed rate 44,224 11,882 2% 1% 10.68% 10.27% — -
Total / Weighted average 2,186,884 $1,205,745 100% 100% 10.04% 9.78% 384 bps 417 bps

(1) Debt investments are presented after scheguled amortization payments and prepayments, and are net of unamortized
fees, discounts, asset sales and unfunded commitments.

(2) Spreads over an index other than LIBOR have been adjusted to a LIBOR based equivalent.

t

The carrying value of our loans and other lending investments is net of unamortized fees and discounts of $35,500 and $13,336
at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and unfunded commitments of $289,153 and $107,281 at December 31, 2006 and

2005, respectively.

As of December 31, 20086, our investment portfolio had the following maturity characteristics:

Number of Current '

Investments Carrylng Value .
Year of Maturity Maturing (In thousands) % of Total
2007 26 $ 608,009 28%
2008 23 990,814 , 45%
2009 16 337,856 1 15%
2010 2 6,638 I —
201 2 56,920 3%
Thereafter 7 186,647 9%
Total 76 $2186,884 1 100%

Weighted average maturity® 21 years !

(1 The calculation of weighted average maturity is based upon the initial term of the investment and does not include opticn
or extension periods or the ability to prepay the investrment after a negotiated lock-out period, which may be available to

the borrower.
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For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004
the Company's investment income from debt investments was generated by the following investment types:

For the Year Ended
Dacember 31, 2006

For the Perlod From

April 12, 2004
(formatlon) through
December 31, 2004

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2005

Investment % of Investment % of tnvestment % of
Investment Type Income Total Income Total Income Total
Whole loans $107.074 60% $30,33) 41% $ 782 1%
Subordinate interests in whole ioans 42,506 24% 29,630 41% 5,499 80%
Mezzanine loans 22,353 13% 10,356 14% - -
Preferred equity 4,488 3% 1,574 2% - —
CMBS - — 1,411 2% 560 9%
Total $176,421 100% $73,302 100% $6.841 100%

At December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, our debt investment portfolio had the following geographic diversification:
20086 2005
Carrying % of Carrying % of
Raglon Value Total Value Total
Northeast $1.169,790 53% $ 464,054 39%
West 579,568 27% 378,040 31%
South 310,909 14% 258,511 21%
Midwest 41,894 2% 74,949 6%
Various 84,723 4% 30091 3%
Total $2,186,884 100% $1,205,745 100%

For the year ended December 31, 2008, we recognized
$5,249 in gains from the sale or syndication of debt invest-
ments totaling $173,391, of which $313 represents the recog-
nition of unamortized discounts or fees at the time of sale.
For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized
$10,474 in gains from the sale or syndication of debt invest-
ments totaling $182,035, of which $1,849 represented the
recognition of unamortized discounts or fees at the time

of sale.

We maintained a reserve for possible loan losses of $2,460
against investments with a carrying value of $131,427 as of
December 31, 2006, and a reserve for possible loan losses of
$1,030 against investments with a carrying value of $68,293
as of December 31, 2005, respectively. During the year ended
December 31, 2006, we recorded additional reserves for loan
losses of $1,930 through our results of operations, offset

by a reversal of $500, which had been reserved against an
investment that repaid in full. For the period during which

a reserve was carried, these investments generated interest
income of $9,377 and $2,413 in 2006 and 2005, respectively,
and income recognition remained current, We did not main-
tain a reserve during 2004,

In connection with a preferred equity investment, which was
repaid in October 2006, we have guaranteed a portion of
the outstanding principal balance of the first mortgage loan
that is a financial obligation of the entity in which we have
invested in the event of a borrower default under such loan.
The loan matures in 2032. This guarantee is considered to

be an off-balance-sheet arrangement and will survive until
the repayment of the first mortgage loan. As compensaticn,
we received a credit enhancement fee of $125 from the
borrower, which is recognized as the fair value of the guaran-
tee and has been recorded on our balance sheet as a liability.
The liability will be amortized over the life of the guarantee
using the straight-line method and corresponding fee income
will be recorded. Our maximum exposure under this guaran-
tee is approximately $1.441 as of December 31, 2006. Under
the terms of the guarantee, the investment sponsor is
required to reimburse us for the entire amount paid under
the guarantee until the guarantee expires.

n
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4, PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS

55 Corporate Drive

On June 7, 2006 we closed on the acquisition of a 49.75%
TIC interest in 55 Corperate Drive, located in Bridgewater,
New Jersey, with a 0.25% interest to be acquired in the
future. The property is comprised of three buildings totaling
670,000 square feet which is 100% net leased to an entity
whose obligations are guaranteed by Sanofi-Aventis Group
through April 2023. The transaction was valued at $236,000
and was financed with a $190,000, 10-year, fixed rate first
mortgage loan. The remaining 50% of the property is owned
as a TIC interest by an affiliate of SL Green. Upon closing the
acquisition of the property, the $90,000 whole loan previ-
ously held by us was repaid in full using proceeds from the
new mortgage financing. Following its acquisition, all income
and expenses at this property were capitalized and were not
recognized in our results from operations as the property
was being redeveloped. The property is accounted for as an
operating property beginning in the three months ended
December 31, 2006.

The following is a schedule of our proportionate share of
future minimum rent payments to be received under the
lease at 55 Corporate Drive:

Rent Payments

2007 $ 2428
2008 6,140
2005 7,996
2010 7,996
20m 8107
Thereafter 100,925

$133,592

5. DISPOSITION OF SECURITY INTERESTS
IN PROPERTY

200 Franklin Square Drive

On September 6, 2005, we closed on the acquisition of a
100% fee interest in 200 Franklin Square Drive, located in
Somerset, New Jersey, The property is a 200,000 square
foot building which is 100% net leased to Philips Holding
USA Inc., a wholily-owned subsidiary of Royal Philips
Electronics, through December 2021. The property was
acquired for a purchase price of $50,250, excluding closing
costs, and financed with a $41,000, 10-year, fixed-rate first
mortgage loan.

On March 31, 2006, following the conversion of the entity
that owns 200 Franklin Square Drive into a Delaware
statutory trust, or DST, we sold approximately 29.3% of our
security interests in the DST to a third party. Subsequently,
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we sold an additional 45.7% of our security interests in the
DST to the same party, reducing our final ownership interest
to 25.0%. We received total cash consideration of $12,800 far
these interests and the buyer assumed 75% of the DST‘;é
underlying mortgage debt. The disposition resulted in a net
gain of $4,530, after transaction costs. As a result of the
disposition, this investment is now classified as an investment
in joint venture and accounted for using the equity method.
As of December 31, 2006, the investment has a carrying
value of $2,519. We recorded our pro rata share of net
income of the joint venture of $109 for the year ended “
December 31, 2006. |

6. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED *
JOINT VENTURES |

South Building at One Madison Avenue, New York, New York

On April 29, 2005, we closed on a $57,503 initial investment
in a joint venture with SL Green to acquire, own and operate
the South Building located at One Madison Avenue, Ner
York, New York, or the South Building. The joint venture is
owned 45% by a wholly-owned subsidiary and 55% by a
wholly-owned subsidiary of SL Green. The joint venture '
interests are pari passu. Also on April 29, 2005, the ioint;r
venture completed the acquisition of the South Building! from
Metropolitan Life Insurance Company for the purchase p:rice
of approximately $802,800 plus closing costs, financed in
part through a $690,000 first mortgage loan on the Sou!th
Building. The first mortgage is non-recourse to us. The South
Building comprises approximately 1.2 million square feet and
is almost entirely net leased to Credit Suisse Securities (USA)
LLC, or CS, pursuant to a lease with a 15-year remaining ;term.
As of December 31, 2006 the investment has a carrying value
of $55,168. We recorded our pro rata share of net losses of
the joint venture of $1,728 and %$1,358 for the years ende«%i
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. |

101 5. Marengo Avenue, Pasadena, California

On November 29, 2005, we closed on the purchase of a

50% interest in an office building in Pasadena, CA, We also
acquired an interest in certain related assets as part of the
transaction. The 345,000 square foot office property, which
is net leased to Bank of America through September 2015,
assuming the exercise of options, and related collateral '
were acquired for $52,000 plus closing costs, using a non-
recourse, $50,000, 10-year fixed-rate first mortgage loan! For
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we recorded
our pro rata share of net losses of the joint ventures of $i,341
and $131, respectively.

7. JUNIOR SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES
On Januyary 27, 2006, we completed a third issuance of
$50,000 in unsecured trust preferred securities through a




separate newly formed DST, Gramercy Capital Trust I, or
GCTIN, that is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Qperating
Partnership. The securities bear interest at a fixed rate of
7.65% for the first ten years ending January 2016, with an
effective rate of 7.43% when giving effect to the swap
arrangement previously entered into in contemplation of this
financing. Thereafter, the interest rate will float based on the
three-month LIBOR plus 270 basis points.

In May and August 2005, we completed issuances of $50,000
each in unsecured trust preferred securities through two DSTs,
Gramercy Capital Trust |, or GCTI, and Gramercy Capital
Trust Il, or GCTII, that are also wholly-owned subsidiaries of
our Operating Partnership. The securities issued in May 2005
bear interest at a fixed rate of 7.57% for the first ten years
ending June 2015 and the securities issued in August 2005
bear interest at a fixed rate of 7.75% for the first ten years
ending October 2015. Thereafter the rates will float based on
the three-month LIBOR plus 300 basis points.

All issuances of trust preferred securities require quarterly
interest distributions: however, payments may be deferred
while the interest expense is accrued for a period of up to
four consecutive quarters if our Operating Parthership
exercises its right to defer such payments. The trust preferred
securities are redeemable, at the option of our Operating
Partnership, in whole or in part, with no prepayment premium
any time after June 30, 2010, October 30, 2010 or January 30,
2071 for the securities issued by GCTI, GCTIl and GCTII,
respectively.

GCT1, GCTU and GCTIN each issued $1,550 aggregate liquida-
tion amount of common securities, representing 100% of

the voting common stock of those entities to our Operating
Partnership for a total purchase price of $4,650. GCTI, GCTII
and GCTIl used the proceeds from the sale of the trust
preferred securities and the common securities to purchase
our Operating Partnership's junior subordinated notes.

The terms of the junior subordinated notes match the terms
of the trust preferred securities. The notes are subordinate
and junior in right of payment to all present and future senior
indebtedness and certain other of our financial obligations.
We realized net proceeds from each offering of approxi-
mately $48,956,

Our interests in GCTI, GCTII and GCTIII are accounted for
using the equity method and the assets and liabilities of
those entities are not consolidated into our financial state-
ments. Interest on the junior subordinated notes is included
in interest expense on our consolidated income statements
while the value of the junior suberdinated notes, net of our
investment in the trusts that issued the securities, are
presented as a separate item in our consolidated balance
sheet.

8. COLLATERALIZED DEBT OBLIGATIONS

Curing 2005, we issued approximately $1,000,000 of CDOs
through two indirect subsidiaries, Gramercy Real Estate CDO
2005-1 Ltd., or the 2005 Issuer, and Gramercy Real Estate
CDO 2005-1 LLC, or the 2005 Co-Issuer. The CDO consists
of $810,500 of investment grade notes, $84,500 of non-
investment grade notes, which were co-issued by the 2005
Issuer and the 2005 Co-Issuer, and $105,000 of preferred
shares, which were issued by the 2005 Issuer. The investment
grade notes were issued with floating rate coupons with a
combined weighted average rate of three-month LIBOR plus
0.49%. We incurred approximately $11,857 of costs related to
Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2005-1, which are amortized on a
level- yield basis over the average life of the CDO.

On August 24, 2006, we issued an additional approximately
$1.000,000 of CDOs through two newly-formed indirect
subsidiaries, Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2006-1 Ltd,, or the
2006 Issuer, and Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2006-1 LLC, or
the 2006 Co-issuer. The CDO consists of $903,750 of invest-
ment grade notes, $38,750 of non-investment grade notes,
which were co-issued by the 2006 Issuer and the 2006
Co-Issuer, and $57,500 of preferred shares, which were
issued by the 2006 Issuer. The investment grade notes were
issued with floating rate coupons with a combined weighted
average rate of three-month LIBOR plus 0.37%. We incurrect
approximately $11,273 of costs related to Gramercy Real
Estate CDO 2006-1, which are amortized on a level yield
basis over the average life of the CDO.

We retained all non-investment grade securities, the preferred
shares and the common shares in the Issuer of each CDO.,
The Issuer in each CDO holds assets, consisting primarily of
whole loans, subordinate interests in whole loans, mezzanine
loans and preferred equity investments, which serve as
collateral for the CDO. Each CDO may be replenished, pur-
suant to certain rating agency guidelines relating to credit
quality and diversification, with substitute collateral for loans
that are repaid during the first five years of the CDO.
Thereafter, the CDO securities will be retired in sequential
order from senior-most to junior-meost as lgans are repaid.
The financial statements of the Issuer of each CDO are
consolidated in our financial statements. The investment
grade notes are treated as a secured financing, and are non-
recourse to us. Proceeds from the sale of the investment
grade notes issued in each CDO were used to repay substan-
tially all outstanding debt under our repurchase agreements;
and to fund additional investments.

N
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9. DEBT OBLIGATIONS

Repurchase Facilities

We have two repurchase facilities, one with Wachovia Capital
Markets, LLC or one or more of its affiliates, or Wachovia,
and one with Goldman Sachs Mortgage Company,

or Goldman.

The repurchase facility with Wachovia is a $500,000 facility.
This facility was initially established as a $250,000 facility,
was increased to $350,000 from $250,000 effective January
3, 2005, and was subsequently increased to $500,000 effec-
tive April 22, 2005. On March 21, 2006, we further modified
the facility by reducing the interest spreads. As a result of
the modifications, the $500,000 facility bears interest at
spreads of 1.00% to 2.50% over one-month LIBOR and, based
on our expected investment activities, provides for advance
rates that vary from 60% to 100% based upon the collateral
provided under a borrowing base calculation. On October 13,
2006, we extended the facility's maturity date until October
2008S. The lender has a consent right with respect to the
inctusion of investments in this facility, determines periodically
the market value of the investments, and has the right to
require additional collateral if the estimated market value of
the included investments declines. We had no accrued
interest and borrowings of $151,403 at a weighted average
spread to LIBOR of 1.86% as of December 31, 2006, and no
accrued interest and borrowings of $67,717 at a weighted
average spread to LIBOR of 1.50%, as of December 31, 2005.

Borrowings under the Wachovia facility at December 31,
2006 and December 31, 2005 were secured by the
following investments:

Carrying Value™

Investment Type 2006 2005
Whole loans $ 117328 $ 33,223
Subcrdinate interests in whole loans - 74,689
Mezzanine loans 139,680 -
Preferred equity 14,955 —_
CDO securities® — 49,500

Total $271,963 $157412

(D Approxirmates fair value,

(2) Represents the BB rated securities in our CDO that ware retained by us.

We also have a repurchase facility with Goldman. On
October 13, 2006 we increased this facility from $200,000
to $400,000 and extended its maturity date until September
2009. On March 21, 2006, we modified the pricing on this
facility by reducing the interest spreads. As a result of the
modifications, the facility bears interest at spreads of 1.00%
to 2.25% over one-month LIBOR and, based on our expected
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investment activities, provides for advance rates that vary
from 40% to 85% based upon the collateral provided under a
borrowing base calculation. As with the Wachovia facility, the
lender has a consent right to the inclusion of investments in
this facility, determines periodically the market value of the
investments, and has the right to require additional collateral
if the estimated market value of the included investments
declines. We had accrued interest of $261 and borrowings

of $126,009 at a weighted average spread to LIBOR of 1.51%
as of December 31, 2006, and accrued interest of $163 and
borrowings of $49,649 at a weighted average spread to

LIBOR of 1.71% under this facility at December 31, 2005.
[
Borrowings under the Goldman facility at December 31, 2006

and Decernber 31, 2005 were secured by the
following investments;

|

Carrying Value®™

Investment Type 2006 2005

Whole loans $ 97795  $59,457

Mezzanine loans 71,798 -
Total $169,593

$157.412

(1) Approximates fair value. i

[
The terms of our repurchase facilities (together with any

related guarantees) include covenants that (a) limit our
maximum total indebtedness to no more than 85% of total
assets under the Wachovia facility or a debt to equity r’atio
less than or equal to 5:1 under the Goldman facility, (b)
require us to maintain minimum hquidity of at least $1Q,000
for the first two years and $15,000 thereafter under the
Goldman facility, and at least $15,000 under the Wachovia
facility, {c) require our fixed charge coverage ratio to be at
no time less than 1.50 to 1.00, (d} require our minimum inter-
est coverage ratio to be at no time less than 1.75 to 1.00
under the Wachovia facility, (e) require us to maintain mini-
mum tangible net worth of not less than (i) $129,750, plus (i)
75% of the net proceeds of our subsequent equity issuances
following our initial public offering under the Goldman facility
and not less than (i) $400,000, plus (ii) 75% of the proceeds
of our subsequent equity issuances following the date :of the
October 2006 amendment under the Wachovia facility, and
(F) restrict the maximum amount of our total indebtedness.
The covenants also restrict us from making distributions in
excess of a maximum of 100% of our FFO (as defined
therein} under the Wachovia facility, except that we may in
any case pay distributions necessary to maintain our RiEIT
status. An event of default can be triggered on our repur-
chase facilities if, among other things, GKK Manager LLC is
terminated as our Manager. As of December 31, 2006 and
2005, we were in compliance with all such covenants. |




The repurchase facilities require that we pay down
borrowings under these facilities as principal payments on
the loans and investments pledged to these facilities are
received. Assets pledged as collateral under these facilities
may include stabilized and transitiona! whole loans, subordi-
nate interests in whole loans, mezzanine loans, and rated
CMBS or commercial real estate CDO securities originated or
acquired by us.

In certain circumstances, we have purchased debt invest-
ments from a counterparty and subsequently financed the
acquisition of those debt investments through repurchase
agreements with the same counterparty. We currently record
the acquisition of the debt investments as assets and the
related repurchase agreements as financing liabilities gross
on the consolidated balance sheets. Interest income earned
on the debt investments and interest expense incurred on
the repurchase obligations are reported gross on the consoli-
dated income statements. However, under a certain technical
interpretation of FAS 140, such transactions may not qualify
as a purchase by us. We believe, and it is industry practice,
that we are accounting for these transactions in an appropri-
ate manner. However, the result of this technical interpreta-
tion would prevent us from presenting the debt investments
and repurchase agreements and the related interest income
and interest expense on a gross basis on our financial state-
ments. instead, we would present the net investment in these
transactions with the counterparty and a derivative with the
corresponding change in fair value of the derivative being
recorded through earnings. The value of the derivative would
reflect changes in the value of the underlying debt invest-
ments and changes in the value of the underlying credit
provided by the counterparty.

Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility

in May 2006, we closed on a $100,000 senjor unsecured
revolving credit facility with KeyBank National Association, or
KeyBank, with an initial term of three years and a one-year
extension option. The facility is supported by a negative
pledge of an identified asset base with advance rates that
vary from 30% to 90% of the asset value provided under a
borrowing base calculation. The lender also has consent
rights to the inclusion of assets in the borrowing base calcu-
lation. The facility bears interest at 1.90% over ong-month
LIBOR to the extent our leverage ratio, defined as total

liabilities to total assets, including our proportionate share of
the liabilities and assets of our unconsolidated subsidiaries,
is less than 80% and 2.10% over one-month LIBOR to the
extent our leverage ratio is equal to or greater than 80%.

We had accrued interest of $75 and borrowings of $15,000
at a spread to LIBOR of 210% against this facility as of
December 31, 2006,

The terms of the unsecured revolving credit facility include
covenants that (a) limit our maximum total indebtedness to
no more than 85% of total assets, () require our fixed charge
coverage ratio to be at no time less than 1.50, (c) require our
minimum interest coverage ratio to be at no time less than
1.70, (d) require us to maintain minimum tangible net worth
of not less than $370,000 plus 75% of the net proceeds from
equity offerings completed after the closing of the facility
and () restrict the maximum amount of our total indebted-
ness. The covenants also restrict us from making distributions
in excess of a maximum of 100% of our FFO (as defined by
the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or
NAREIT), except that we may in any case pay distributions
necessary to maintain our REIT status. An event of default
can be triggered on our unsecured revalving credit facility if,
among other things, GKK Manager LLC is terminated as our
Manager. As of December 31, 2006, we were in compliance
with all such covenants.

In conjunction with the closing of the unsecured revolving
credit facility with KeyBank, our $25,000 revolving credit
facility with Wachovia was terminated.,

Mortgage Loan

We have one proportionately consolidated interest-only
mortgage loan related to 55 Corporate Drive in an amount
equal to our ownership percentage in the entity multiplied
by the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage loan,
which loan financed the acquisition of 55 Corporate Drive in
June 2006. The mortgage has an outstanding principal
balance of $190,000, of which we have consolidated 49.75%
or $94,525, with an effective interest rate of 5.75% and a
term of ten years. Interest on this mortgage was capitalized
for a portion of the year ended December 31, 2006 as the
property was redeveloped. Capitalized interest was $1,841 for
the year ended December 31, 2006,

8l
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Combined aggregate principal maturities of our consolidated CDOs, repurchase facilities, trust preferred securities, pro;aor-
tionately consolidated mortgage note payable related to our TIC interest in 55 Corporate Drive, and unsecured revolving
f

credit facility as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:

|

Unsecured L

Trust Mortgage Revolving [

Repurchase Preferred Note Credit !
C€DOs Facilities Securities Payable Facility | Total

l
2007 $ - $ - kS - $ - $ - $ -
2008 - - - - - -
2009 — 277.412 — - 15,000 292,412
2010 -— — - - - [ -
20n - - — - — —
Thereafter 1,714,250 - 150,000 94,5250 - 1,958,775
Total $1,714,250 $277,412 $150,000 $94.,525 $15,000 $2,251,187

(1} We have a 42.75% interest in the mortgage note.

10. OPERATING PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT /
MANAGER

At December 31, 2006, we owned all of the Class A limited
partnership interests in our Operating Parthership. At
Decernber 31, 2006, the majority of the Class B limited part-
nership interests were owned by our Manager and SL Green
Operating Partnership, L.P. Interests were also held by certain
officers and employees of SL Green, including some of whom
are our executive officers, certain of which interests are
subject to performance threshoids.

At December 31, 2006, the majority of the interests in our
Manager were held by SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P.
Interests were also held by certain officers and employees
of SL Green, including some of whom are our executive
officers, certain of which interests are subject to
performance thresholds.

11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In connection with our initial public offering, we entered into
a management agreement with our Manager, which was
subsequently amended and restated in April 2006. The
amended and restated management agreement provides
for a term through December 2009 with automatic one-year
extension options and is subject to certain termination rights.
We pay our Manager an annual management fee equal to
1.75% of our gross stockholders equity (as defined in the
amended and restated management agreement) inclusive
of our trust preferred securities. We incurred expense to our
Manager under this agreement of an aggregate of $10,147,
$6,337 and $1,349 for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005 and the period from April 12, 2004 (formation)
through December 31, 2004, respectively.

To provide an incentive to enhance the value of our common
stock, the holders of the Class B limited partner interests of
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our Operating Partnership are entitled to an incentive return
egual to 25% of the amount by which FFO plus certain’
accounting gains and losses (as defined in the amended and
restated partnership agreement of our Operating l
Partnership) exceed the product of our weighted average
stockholders equity (as defined in the amended and restated
partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership) multi-
plied by 9.5% (divided by 4 to adjust for quarterly caicyla-
tions). We will record any distributions on the Class B limited
partner interests as an incentive distribution expense in the
period when earned and when payments of such amounts
have become probable and reascnably estimable in ach:or-
dance with the partnership agreement. We incurred $7,609
and $2,276 with respect to such Class B limited partner inter-
ests for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.&

|
We are obligated to reimburse our Manager for its costs

incurred under an asset servicing agreement between {)ur
Manager and an affiliate of SL Green Operating Partnefship,
L.P. and a separate outsourcing agreement between ou‘r
Manager and SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P. The rasset
servicing agreement, which was amended and restated in
April 2006, provides for an annual fee payabte to SL Grfeen
Operating Partnership, L.P. by us of 0.05% of the book tvalue
of all credit tenant |ease assets and non-investment grade
bonds and 015% of the book value of all other assets. The
asset servicing fee is reduced by SL Green Operating |
Partnership, L.P. for fees paid directly to cutside servicers by
us. The outsourcing agreement currently provides for an
annual fee payable by us, which fee is currently $1,326 ber
year, increasing 3% annually over the prior year on the |
anniversary date of the outsourcing agreement in Augu;st of
each year. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and; 2005
and the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) throughl
December 31, 2004, we realized expense of $1,304, $1,266
and $521, respectively, to our Manager under the outsomi.lrcing




agreement. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005 and the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through
December 31, 2004, we realized expense of $2,349, $1,037
and $95, respectively, to our Manager under the asset
servicing agreement.

In connection with the closing of our first CDO in July 2005,
the issuer, Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2005-1 Ltd., entered
into a collateral management agreement with our Manager.
Pursuant to the collateral management agreement, our
Manager has agreed to provide certain advisory and adminis-
trative services in relation to the collateral debt securities
and other eligible investments securing the CDO notes. The
collateral management agreement provides for a senior
collateral management fee, payable quarterly in accordance
with the priority of payments as set forth in the indenture,
equal to 0.15% per annum of the net outstanding portfolio
balance, and a subordinate coliateral management fee, payable
quarterly in accordance with the priority of payments as set
forth in the indenture, equal to 0.25% per annum of the net
outstanding portfolio balance. Net outstanding portfolio
balance is the sum of the (i} aggregate principal balance of
the collateral debt securities, excluding defaulted securities,
(ii) aggregate principal balance of all principal proceeds held
as cash and eligible investments in certain accounts, and

(iii) with respect to the defaulted securities, the calculation
amount of such defaulted securities. As compensation for
the performance of its obligations as collateral manager
under the first CDO, our Board of Directors has allocated

to our Manager the subordinate collateral management fee
paid on securities not held by us. At December 31, 2006

we owned all of the non-investment grade bonds, preferred
equity and equity in both CDQOs. The senior collateral
management fee and balance of the subordinate collateral
management fee is allocated to us. For the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, we realized expense of $2,065
and $944, respectively, to our Manager under such collateral
management agreement.

Collateral manager fees paid on our CDO that closed in
August 2006 are governed by the amended and restated
management agreament as a "transitional managed” CDOQ,
as defined in the amended and restated management agree-
ment, consisting primarily of debt investments secured by
non-stabilized real estate. The amended and restated
management agreement provides that in connection with
formations of collateralized debt obligations or other securi-
tization vehicles after the execution of the amended and
restated management agreement, if a collateral manager is
retained, our Manager or an affiliate will be the collateral
manager and will receive the following fees: (i) 0.25% per
annum of the book value of the assets owned for “transition-
al managed"” CDOs, (i) 0.15% per annum of the book value of

the assets owned for “non-transitional managed” CDOs, (iii)
0.10% per annum of the book value of the assets owned for
static CDOs that own primarily non-investment grade bonds,
and (iv) 0.05% per annum of the book value of the assets
owned for static CDOs that own primarily investment grade
bonds; limited in each instance by the fees that are paid to
the collateral manager. The balance of the fees paid by the
CDOs for collateral management services are paid to us, For
the year ended December 31, 2006 we realized expense of
$803 to our Manager under this agreement.

In connection with the 5,500,000 shares of common stock
that were sold on December 3, 2004 and settled on
December 31, 2004 and January 3, 2005 in a private place-
ment, we agreed to pay our Manager a fee of $1,000 as
compensation for financial advisory, structuring and costs
incurred on our behaif. This fee was recorded as a reduction
in the proceeds of the private placement. Apart from legal
fees and stock clearing charges totaling $245, no other fees
were paid by us to an investment bank, broker/dealer or
other financial advisor in connection with the private place-
ment, resulting in total costs of 1.3% of total gross proceeds.

On April 29, 2005, we closed on a $57,503 initial investmerit
in a joint venture with SL Green to acquire, own and operate
the South Building located at One Madison Avenue, New
York, New York, or the South Building. The joint venture,
which was created to acquire, own and operate the South
Building, is owned 45% by a wholly-owned subsidiary of us
and 55% by a wholly-owned subsidiary of SL Green. The joint
venture interests are pari passu. Also on April 29, 2005, the
joint venture completed the acquisition of the South Building
from Metropolitan Life Insurance Company for the purchas=2
price of approximately $802,800 plus closing costs, financed
in part through a $690,000 first mortgage loan on the

South Building. The South Building comprises approximately
1.2 millien square feet and is almost entirely net leased to

CS pursuant to a lease with a 15-year remaining term.

On June 7, 2006, we closed on the acquisition of a 49.75%
TIC interest in 55 Corporate Drive, located in Bridgewater,
New Jersey with a 0.25% interest to be acquired in the
future. The remaining 50% of the property is owned as a TIC
interest by an affiliate of SL Green Operating Partnership, LL.P.
The property is comprised of three buildings totaling approx-
imately six hundred and seventy thousand square feet which
is 100% net leased to an entity whose obligations are guaran-
teed by Sanofi-aventis Group through April 2023, The
transaction was valued at $236,000 and was financed with

a $190,000, 10-year, fixed-rate first mortgage loan,

Commencing May 1, 2005 we are party to a lease agreement
with SLG Graybar Sublease LLC, an affiliate of SL Green, for
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our corporate offices at 420 Lexington Avenue, New York,
New York. The lease is for approximately five thousand
square feet with an option to lease an additional approxi-
mately two thousand square feet and carries a term of ten
years with rents on the entire seven thousand square feet of
approximately $249 per annum for year one rising to $315
per annum in year ten. For the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, we paid $252 and $90 under this

lease, respectively.

Bright Star Couriers LLC, or Bright Star, provides messenger
services to us. Bright Star is owned by Gary Green, a son of
Stephen L. Green, our Chairman. The aggregate amount of
fees paid by us for such services for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the period from April 12,
2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004 was $7, $3
and less than $1, respectively.

SL Green QOperating Partnership, L.P. is an equity holder in
the joint venture that is the borrower on an investment with
a book value of $29,026 as of December 31, 2005. This
investment was repaid in August 20086.

On July 14, 2005, we closed on the purchase from an SL
Green affiliate of a $40,000 mezzanine loan which bears
interest at 11.20%. As part of that sale, the seller retained an
interest-only participation. We have determined that the
yield on our mezzanine loan after giving effect to the
interest-only participation retained by the seller is at market.
The mezzanine loan is secured by the equity interests in an
office property in New York, New York.

On February 27, 2006, we closed on the purchase of a
$90,000 whole loan, which bears interest at one-manth
LIBOR plus 2.15%, to a joint venture in which SL Green is an
equity holder. The loan is secured by 55 Corporate Drive in
Bridgewater, New Jersey. The loan was repaid in full in June
2006 with the proceeds from new mortgage financing
obtained in connection with the sale of the property, 49.75%
of which is now owned by us through a TIC structure.

On March 17, 2006, we closed on the purchase of a $25,000
mezzanine loan, which bears interest at one-month LIBOR
plus 8.00%, to a joint venture in which SL Green is an equity
helder. The loan was repaid in full on May 9, 2006, when

we originated a $90,287 whole loan, which bears interest

at one-month LIBOR plus 2.75%, to the joint venture. The
loan is secured by office and industrial properties in northern
New Jersey and has a book value of 330,049 as of
December 31, 2006.

On August 1, 20086, we acquired from a financial institution a
50% pari-passu interest in a $65,000 preferred equity invest-
ment secured by an office property in New York, New York.
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An affiliate of SL Green simultaneously acquired and owns the
other 50% pari-passu interest. The investment bears interest
at a blended fixed rate of 10.52%. [

On December 20, 20086, we acquired from a financial ilﬁlstitU'
tion a pari-passu interest of $125,000 in a $200,000 mezza-
nine loan, which bears interest at 6.384% and is secured by a
multi-family portfolio in New York, New York. An affiliat:e of SL
Green simultaneously acquired the remaining $75,000 pari-
passuy interest in the mezzanine loan.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we earned Ifet-:-s of
$163 from SL Green representing SL Green's proportioﬁate
share of fees for financing and structural advisory services
related to a specific potential transaction.

12. DEFERRED COSTS
Deferred costs at December 31, 2006 and December 31‘. 2005
consisted of the following:

|
I
I
|

2006 I 2005

Deferred financing $35103 $£0.553
Deferred acquisition 2,195 12,210
37,298 22,763

Less accumulated amortization (8,571) (3.381)
$28,727 $19,382

Deferred financing costs relate to our existing repurchase
facilities with Wachovia and Goldman, our unsecured
revolving credit facility with KeyBank, our CDOs and the trust
preferred securities. These costs are amortized on a str?ight-
line basis to interest expense based on the remaining term of

the related financing.

Deferred acquisition costs consist of fees and direct cos'ts
incurred to originate our investments and are amortized
using the effective yield method over the related term éf
the investment. i

13. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS |

The following discussion of fair value was determined by our
Manager, using available market information and appropriate
valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is necessary
to interpret market data and develop estimated fair value.
Accordingly, fair values are not necessarily indicative of'the
amounts we could realize on disposition of the financial
instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or
estimation methodologies may have a material effect on
estimated fair value amounts. !

Cash equivalents, accrued interest, and accounts payablje
bafances reasonably approximate their fair values due to the
short maturities of these items. The carrying value of ou.ir
CDOQs, repurchase facilities and unsecured revolving creﬁit
facility approximate fair value because they bear interes:t at

|
|




floating rates, which we believe, for facilities with a similar
risk profile, reasonably approximate market rates. Our junior
subordinated debentures reasonably approximate fair value
based upon the amount at which similarly issued instruments
would be issued in the current market. Based on the borrow-
ing rates currently available to the Company for bank loans
with similar terms and average maturities, the fair value of
our fixed rate mortgage payable approximates its carrying
vaiue. Loans are carried at amounts, which reasonably
approximate their fair value as determined by our Manager.

The fair value of our fixed-rate debt investments as deter-
mined by our Manager in consultation with market dealers of
such instruments as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:

Carrying Fair
Value Value
Fixed-rate debt investments $351,585 $351,585

Disclosure about fair value of financial instruments is based
on pertinent information available to us at December 31,
2006, Although we are not aware of any factors that would
significantly affect the reasonable fair value amounts, such
amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for
purposes of these financial statements since that date and
current estimates of fair value may differ significantly from
the amounts presented herein.

14. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 125,000,000 shares,
$0.001 par value, of which we have authorized the issuance
of up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par
value per share, and 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock,
par value $0.001 per share.

As of the date of our formation, April 12, 2004, we had
500,000 shares of common stock outstanding valued at
approximately $200. On August 2, 2004 we completed our
initial public offering of 12,500,000 shares of common stock
resulting in net proceeds of approximately $172,900, which
was used to fund investments and commence our operations.
As of December 31, 2006, 350,000 restricted shares had also
been issued under our 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, or the
Equity tncentive Plan. These shares have a vesting period of
three to four years and are not entitled to receive distribu-
tions declared by us on our common stock until such time as
the shares have vested, or the shares have been designated
to receive dividends by the Compensation Committee of our
Board of Directors.

On December 3, 2004, we sold 5,500,000 shares of our
common stock, at a price of $17.27 per share, resulting in net

proceeds of approximately $93,740 under a private place-
ment exemption from the registration requirements of
Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We
subsequently registered the resale of these shares under the
Securities Act in August 2005, A total of 4,225,000 shares
were sold to various institutional investors and an additional
1,275,000 shares were scld to SL Green Operating Parther-
ship, L.P. pursuant to its contractual right to choose to main-
tain a 25% ownership interest in the outstanding shares of
our common stock. Of the 5,500,000 shares sold, 2,000,000
shares were settled on December 31, 2004 and the remaining
3,500,000 shares were settled on January 3, 2005.

On September 14, 2005, we sold 3,833,333 shares of our
common stock, at a price of $25.80 per share, resulting in net
praceeds of approximately $97.830. A total of 2,875,000
shares were sold through a public offering and an additional
958,333 shares were sold to SL Green Operating Partnership,
L.P. pursuant to its contractual right to choose to maintain a
25% ownership interest in our outstanding shares of common
stock. Net proceeds were used for loan acquisitions and
originations, repayment of outstanding principal under one
of our repurchase facilities and general corporate purposes.

On May 16, 2006, we sold 3,000,000 shares of our common
stock, at a price of $26.75 per share, resulting in net
proceeds of approximately $79,787. A total of 2,250,000
shares were sold through a public offering and an additional
750,000 shares were sold to SL Green Operating Partnership,
L.P. pursuant to its contractual right to choose to maintain

a 25% ownership interest in the outstanding shares of our
common stock. After this offering, SL Green Operating
Partnership, L.P. owned 6,418,333 shares of our commaon
stock. Net proceeds were used for loan acquisitions and
originations, repayment of outstanding principal under our
repurchase facilities and general corporate purposes.

In August 2005 our $350,000 shelf registration statement
was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC. This registration statement provides us
with the ability to issue common and preferred stock, deposi-
tory shares and warrants. We currently have $170,850 avail-
able under the shelf.

As of December 31, 2006, 25,878,391 shares of our common
stock and no shares of our preferred stock were issued
and outstanding.

Equity Incentive Plan

As part of our initial public offering, we instituted our Equity
incentive Plan. The Equity Incentive Plan, as amended,
authorizes (i) the grant of stock options that qualify as incen-
tive stock options under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, or ISOs, (ii) the grant of stock
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options that do not qualify, or NQSQs, (iii) the grant of stock
options in lieu of cash directors' fees and (iv) grants of
shares of restricted and unrestricted common stock. The
exercise price of stock options will be determined by the
compensation committee, but may not be less than 100% of
the fair market value of the shares of commeon stock on the
date of grant. At December 31, 2006, approximately 1,212,840
shares of common stock were available for issuance under
the Equity Incentive Plan.

Management and outsourcing fees paid to our Manager and
SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P. are sufficient to reim-
burse our Manager and SL Green Operating Partnership, L.P.
for the applicable compensation, inctuding payroll taxes, of
the employees who provide services to Gramercy pursuant to
the confirmatory addendum to the Management Agreement
between Gramercy, our Manager and our Operating Partner-
ship. These awardees are considered co-leased employees.
Options granted under the Equity incentive Plan to recipients
who are co-leased employees of Gramercy are exercisable at
the fair market value on the date of grant and, subject to
termination of employment, expire ten years from the date of

|
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grant, are not transferable other than on death, and are exer-
cisable in three to four annual installments commencing one
year from the date of grant. in some instances, Option.‘f\ may
be granted under the Equity Incentive Plan to persons who
provide significant services to us or our affiliates, but ére not

considered co-leased employees because compensation for
their services is not covered by our management agreément
or outsourcing agreement. Options granted to recipieﬁts that
are not co-leased employees have the same terms as fhose
issued to co-leased employees except as it relates to any
performance-based provisions within the grant. To the extent
there are performance provisions associated with a grént

to a recipient who is not a co-leased employee, an estgmated
expense related to these options is recognized over the
vesting period and the final expense is reconciled at the
point performance has been met, or the measurement}date.
If no performance based provision exists, the fair value of

the options is calculated on a quarterly basis and the r%elated
expense is recognized over the vesting period. !

f
A summary of the status of our stock options as of Delcem-
ber 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 are presented be{low:

|
I

2006 2005
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Optlons Exercise Options f.xerclse
Outstanding Price Qutstanding , Price
Balance at beginning of year 733,584 $16.47 640,500 £$15.05
Granted 197500 $23.49 236,000 1$19.62
Exercised (63,749) $ 15.95 (131,249) f$15.01
Lapsed or cancelled (37,334) $ 2018 (11,667) [$18.20
Balance at end of period 830,01 $18.02 733,584 1$16.47

All options were granted within a price range of $15.00 to
$26.79. The remaining weighted average contractual life of
the options was 8.10 years. Compensation expense of $432
will be recorded over the course of the next 15 months, rep-
resenting the remaining weighted average vesting period of
the option awards as of December 31, 2006. Compensation
expense of $324, $172 and $23 was recorded for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for the period from
April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004,
respectively, related to the issuance of stock options.

Through December 31, 2006, 350,000 restricted shares had
been issued under the Equity Incentive Plan, of which 62%
have vested. The unvested shares are not currently entitled
to receive distributions declared by us on cur common stock
until such time as the shares have vested. Unvested shares
may be entitled to receive dividends at the discretion of the
Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors. Holders
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of restricted shares are prohibited from selling such shtares
until they vest but are provided the ability to vote such
shares beginning on the date of grant. Compensation
expense of $163 will be recorded over the course of the next
9 months, representing the remaining weighted average
vesting period of the restricted stock awards as of December
31, 2006. Compensation expense of $1,669, $1,577 andF$381
was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2006 [and
2005 and for the period from April 12, 2004 (formation)
through December 31, 2004, respectively, related to the

issuance of restricted shares. L
|
[
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Outperformance Plan
in June 2005, the compensation committee of our board
of directors approved a long-term incentive compensation
program, the 2005 Qutperformance Plan. Participants in
the 2005 Qutperformance Plan, all of whom are co-leased
employees, will share in a “performance pool” if our to}al




return to stockholders for the period from June 1, 2005
through May 31, 2008 exceeds a cumulative total return to
stockholders of 30% during the measurement period over a
base share price of $20.21 per share. The size of the pool wiil
be 10% of the outperformance amount in excess of the 30%
benchmark, subject to a maximum limit equal to the lesser of
4% of our outstanding shares and units of limited partnership
interest as of the end of the performance pericd, or
1,200,000 shares. If our total return to stockholders from
June 1, 2005 to any subsequent date exceeds 80% and
remains at that level or higher for 30 consecutive days, then
a minimum performance pool will be established. in the
event the potential performance pool reaches the maximum
dilution cap before May 31, 2008 and remains at that level or
higher for 30 consecutive days, the performance period will
end early and the pool will be formed on the last day of such
30-day perlod, Each participant’s award under the 2005
Qutperformance Plan is designated as a specified percentage
of the aggregate performance pool to be allocated to such
participant assuming the 30% benchmark is achieved.
individual awards under the 2005 Qutperformance Plan

will be made in the form of partnership units, or LTIP Units,
that may ultimately become exchangeable for shares of

our common stock or cash, at our election. Under the 2005
Outperformance Plan, LTIP Units have been granted and
additional LTIP Units may be granted in the future prior to
the determination of the performance pool; however, these
LTIP Units will only vest upon satisfaction of performance
and other thresholds, and will not be entitled to distributions
until after the performance pool, or minimum performance
pool, is established. The 2005 Qutperformance Plan provides
that if a pool is established, each participant will also be
entitled to the distributions that would have been paid on
the number of LTIP Units earned, had they been issued at the
beginning of the performance period. Those distributions will
be paid in the form of additional LTIP Units. Once a perform-

ance pool has been established, the earned LTIP Units will
receive regular quarterly distributions on a per unit basis
equal to the dividends per share paid on our common stock,
whether or not they are vested. Any LTIP Units that are not
earned upon the establishment of the performance pool will
be automatically forfeited, and the LTIP Units that are earned
will be subject to time-based vesting, with 50% of the LTIP
Units earned vesting in May 2009 and the balance vesting
one year later based on continued employment with our
Manager or SL Green. We will record the expense of the
restricted stock award in accordance with FASB Statement
No. 123(R). Compensation expense of $1174 was recorded fcr
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 related to the
2005 Qutperformance Plan.

Deferred Stock Compensation Plan for Directors

Under our Independent Diraector's Deferral Program, which
commenced April 2005, our independent directors may elect
to defer up to 100% of their annual retainer fee, chairman
fees and meeting fees. Unless otherwise elected by a partici-
pant, fees deferred under the program shall be credited in
the form of phantom stock units. The phantom stock units
are convertible into an equal number of shares of common
stock upon such directors’ termination of service from the
Board of Directors or a change in control by us, as defined
by the program. Phantom stock units are credited to each
independent director quarterly using the closing price of our
common stock on the applicable dividend record date for the
respective quarter. Each participating independent director
who elects to receive fees in the form of phantom stock units
has the option to have their account credited for an equiva-
lent amount of phantom stock units based on the dividend
rate for each guarter or have dividends paid in cash.

As of December 31, 2006, there were approximately 15,301
phantom stock units outstanding, of which 1,301 units
are vested.

81

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. 2006 Annual Report




88

Earnings per Share
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Earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for the period from April 12, 2004 (format|on)

through December 31, 2004 is computed as follows:

For thL period
from April 12, 2004
(formation)through
December 31, 2004

For the
Year Ended
December 31, 2006

For the
Year Ended
December 31, 2005

Numerator (Income)
Basic Earnings:

t

I
Net incone available to common stockholders $55,902 $31,371 1$2,052
Effect of dilutive securities - - i -

Diluted Earnings: '
Net income available to common stockholders $55,902 $31.371 }$2,052

Denominator (Weighted Average Shares) i

Basic |
Shares available to common stockholders 24,722 20,027 "13,348

Effect of Diluted Securities: l
Stock-based compensation plans 1,272 752 ! 63
Phantom stock units 15 2 | —
Diluted Shares 26,009 20,781 13,411

|

[
1S. BENEFIT PLANS Operating
We do not maintain a defined benefit pension plan, post- ‘t Lease
retirement health and welfare plan, 401(k} plan or other 2007 § 256
benefits plans as we do not have any employees. These 2008 P 261
benefits are provided to its employees by our Manager, a 2009 I 265
majority-owned subsidiary of SL Green. 2010 { 283
201 297
16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES Thereafter { 1054
We and our Operating Partnership are not presently involved Total minimum iease payments $2,416

in any material litigation nor, to our knowledge, is any
material litigation threatened against us or our investments,
other than routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of
business. Management believes the costs, if any, incurred by
our Qperating Partnership and us related to litigation will
not materially affect our financial position, operating results
or liquidity.

Qur corporate offices at 420 Lexington Avenue, New York,
New York are subject to an operating lease agreement with
SLG Graybar Sublease LLC, an affiliate of SL Green, effective
May 1, 2005. The lease is for approximately five thousand
square feet with an option to lease an additional approxi-
mately two thousand square feet and carries a term of ten
years with rents on the entire seven thousand square feet of
approximately $249 per annum for year one rising to $31%
per annum in year ten.

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease

payments under our operating lease as of December 31, 2006.
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DERIVATIVES AND

HEDGING ¢
FASB No. 133, or SFAS 133, "Accounting for Derivative E
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which became efﬁective
January 1, 2001, requires Gramercy 1o recognize all deriva-
tives on the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are
not hedges must be adjusted to fair value through incqme.

If a derivative is a hedge, depending on the nature of the
hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative will either
be offset against the change in fair value of the hedgeld
asset, liability, or firm commitment through earnings, or
recognized in other comprehensive income until the he;dged
item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion 6f a
derivative’s change in fair value will be immediately reclog-
nized in earnings. SFAS 133 may increase or decrease |
reported net income and stockholders' equity prospectively,
depending on future levels of LIBOR interest rates and other
variables affecting the fair values of derivative instrumgnts
and hedged items, but will have no effect on cash flows,
provided the contract is carried through to full term.




The following table summarizes the notional and fair value of

our derivative financial instrument at December 31, 2006. The

notional value is an indication of the extent of our involve-

ment in this instrument at that time, but does not represent
exposure to credit, interest rate or market risks:

Notlonal Strike Effective Explration Fair

Benchmark Rate Value Rate Date Date value

Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR % 168,300 4.973% 1/2007 1/2017 $ 836
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 64,076 4.990% 1/2007 1/2017 248
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 42,718 4.990% 1/2007 /2017 162
interest Rate Swap 3 month LIBOR 39,683 4.420% 7/2005 2/2014 1,262
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 36,500 4.837% 12/2006 1N/2009 120
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 31,686 3.855% 7/2005 11/2009 943
interest Rate Swap 3 month LIBOR 24,940 5.445% 8/2006 7/2016 (728
Interest Rate Cap 3 month LIBOR 23,713 5.700% 1/2005 12/2007 2
Interest Rate Cap 1 month LIBOR 20,000 6.000% 4/2006 4/2007 —
Interest Rate Swap 3 month LIBOR 12,000 9.850% 8/2006 8/201 (93)
Basis Swap 1 month PRIME 9,363 722 bps 8/2006 12/2007 29
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 6,339 4,760% 1/2006 3/2015 a7
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 3,960 4.959% 12/2005 12/2015 16
Interest Rate Swap 1 month LIBOR 3,465 4.280% 7/2005 12/2009 64
Interest Rate Swap 3 month LIBOR 3,465 5178% 4/2006 3/2010 (20
Total $490,208 $2.810

At December 31, 2006, derivative instruments were reported
at their fair value as assets of $3,782 and liabilities of $872.
Offsetting adjustments are represented as deferred gains in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income of $2,890. For
the year ended December 31, 2006 we recognized in interest
expense $1 attributable to the ineffective component of our
derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges. For
the same period we reclassified through earnings (i) $1.815
representing the gains and losses previously reported in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, which were
reclassified into earnings at the same time that the fore-
casted transactions affect earnings, and (ii) a $994 reduction
in earnings representing the change in value of undesignated
derivatives which are not speculative for economic purposes.
Currently, all derivative instruments are designated as cash
flow hedging instruments with the exception of a $20,000
notional cap, a $9,363 notional Prime-LIBOR basis swap,

and a $168,300 notional swap, which are effective economic
hedges but have not been designated. Over time, the
realized and unrealized gains and losses held in Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income will be reclassified into
earnings in the same periods in which the hedged interest
payments affect earnings. We estimate that approximately
$943 of the current balance held in Accumnulated Other
Comprehensive income will be reclassified into earnings
within the next 12 months.

We are hedging exposure to variability in future interest
payments on our debt facilities and cash flows for future

transactions except in the case of swaps we may enter inte
from time to time, including TROR swaps, which are intended
to hedge our exposure to variability in the rate of return in
excess of anticipated future interest payments on that
portion of our debt facilities used to fund fixed rate
mortgage loan assets held as available for sale.

18. INCOME TAXES

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT, under Sections 856
through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code beginning with
our taxable year ending December 31, 2004, To qualify as a
REIT, we must meet certain organizational and operational
requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least
90% of our ordinary taxable income to stockholders. As a
REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax
on taxable income that we distribute to our stockholders, If
we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will then
be subject to federal income taxes on our taxable income at
regular corporate rates and we will not be permitted to
qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax
purposes for four years following the year during which qual-
ification is lost unless the Internal Revenue Service grants us
relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could
materially adversely affect our net income and net cash avail-
able for distributions to stockholders. However, we believe
that we are organized and will operate in such a manner as
to qualify for treatment as a REIT and we intend to operate
in the foreseeable future in such a manner so that we will
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qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. We may,
however, be subject to certain state and local taxes.

For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we
recorded $1,808 and $900 of income tax expense, respec-
tively, in income from continuing operations for income
attributable to our wholly-owned taxable REIT subsidiaries.
We have assumed an effective tax rate for the year ended
December 31, 2006 of 48% taking into consideration the
anticipated applicabie U.5. federal statutory tax rate at
December 31, 2006 of 34% and state and iocal taxes.

19. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Our management believes we are in compliance in all
material respects with applicable Federal, state and local
ordinances and regulations regarding environmental issues.
Qur management is not aware of any environmental liability
that it believes would have a materially adverse impact on
our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

20. SEGMENT REPORTING

|
|
|

entities report information about operating segments in their
annual financial statements, We are a REIT focused primarily
on originating and acquiring loans and securities relatelad to
real estate and under the provisions of SFAS No. 131 currently
operate in only one segment.

21. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH
INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES |
Following the conversion of the entity that owns 200 [
Franklin Square Drive into a DST, we sold approximate;ly 75%
of our security interests in the DST to a third party, reducing
our final ownership interest to 25.0%. We received total cash
consideration of $12,800 for these interests and the bilyer
assumed 75% of the DST's underlying mortgage debt.lAs a
result of the transaction, the property is no longer consoli-
dated onto our balance sheet, but instead is accounted for as

an equity method investment. !

|
The following table represents non-cash activities reco;gnized
in other comprehensive income: i

2006 2005 ! 2004
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 131, or Deferred gains on l
SFAS No. 131,” establishes standards for the way that public derivative instruments $237 $2.569 ' 4282
i
|
|
22. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) I
Quarterly data for the last two years is presented below (in thousands). |
20086 Quarter Ended December 31 September 30 June 30 I?-Iarch 31
Total revenues $67.264 $50,455 $43,505 3;:36,990
income from continuing operations before equity in net )
loss of unconsoclidated joint ventures and provision for taxes 19,4985 16,065 13,782 11,328
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated joint ventures (870} (734) (630) 27
income from continuing operations before provision for '
taxes and GKK formation costs 18,625 15,331 13,152 [ 10,601
Provision / (recovery) for taxes (630) (795) (335) | a7
Net income available to common stockholders $ 17995 $ 14,536 $ 12817 $10,554
Net income per common share—Basic $ 070 $ 056 $ 053 $ 046
Net income per common share—Diluted $ 066 $ 054 $ 050 $ 044
2005 Quarter Ended December 31 September 30 June 30 lLIarch 3
Total revenues $32,045 $26,592 $ 18,758 $f 10,690
Income from continuing operations before equity in net |
loss of unconsolidated joint ventures and provision for taxes 11,247 9,587 8,361 . 4,566
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated joint ventures (575) {510) (404> I —
Income from continuing operations before provision for
taxes and GKK formation costs 10,672 9,077 7.957 | 4,566
Provision / (recovery) for taxes 100 (500 (500) ! -
Net income available to commoen stockholders $10,772 $ 8577 $ 7457 $ 4,566
Net income per common share—Basic $ 047 $ 044 $ 040 $ 024
Net income per common share—Diluted $ 045 $ o4 $ 039 $ 024
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23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 10, 2007 we originated two mezzanine loans
totaling $169,700, which bear interest at one-month LIBOR
plus 600 basis points. The mezzanine loan with a principal
amount of $42,400 is secured by interests in an office
building in New York, New York. The first mortgage on this
property was defeased in February 2007, at which time our

SCHEDULE IV—MORTGAGE LOANS ON REAL ESTATE

Daecember 31, 2006
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

investment was converted to a first mortgage lien. The
mezzanine loan with a principal amount of $127,300 is
secured by interests in a residential property portfolio with
locations primarily in the northeast United States. An affiliate
of SL Green simultanecusly originated pari-passu interests in
the mezzanine loans of $30,300.

Final Periodic Face Carrying
Maturity Payment Prior Amount Amount of
Description Location Interest Rate Date Terms Liens of Loans Loans'®
Whole Loans:
Office Washington, DC LIBOR + 2.50% Juky 2008 Interest only  $§ — % 163,000 % 162,250
Retail Cupertino, CA LIBOR + 4.10% June 2008 Interest only - 118,790 117,328
Office Various cities, NJ LIBOR + 2.75% May 2008 Interest only - 90,287 90,048
Multi-family New York, NY LIBOR + 3.50%  February 2008 interest only - 84,735 84,519
Multi-family Various cities, FL LIBOR + 3.00% September 2008 Interest only - 77,478 76,709
Hotel Las Vegas, NV LIBOR + 2.60% June 2008 Interest only — 67,529 67,519
B.57%-14.95%  January 2007-
Whole loans < 3% Various LIBOR + 1.50%-6.00% October 2009 - 824,007 816,304
- 1,425,826 1,414,692
Subordinate interests Various 5.00%-1314%  January 2007-
in who'e loans < 3% LIBOR + 1.06%-12.50% September 2016 1,641,503 291,588 285,077
Mezzanine Loans:
Multi-family< New York, NY 6.384% December 2016 interest only 4,200 125,000 106,832
B.47%-13.24% April 2007-
Mezzanine loans < 3% Various LIBOR + 4.25%-10.00% July 2016 2,001,589 335,878 336,059
2,005,789 460,878 442,891
10.18%-10.87% July 2007-
Preferred equity < 3% Various LIBOR + 9.00% August 201 B75,686 44,500 44,222
$4,522,978  $2,222,792 $2186,£84

(1 All variable-rate loans are based on cne-month LIBOR and reprice manthly.

(2} Reflects the initial maturity of the investment and does not consider any options to extend that are at the discretion of

the borrower.

(3) Mo mortgage loans are delinguent with respect to principal or interest.

(4) An 5L Green affiliate holds a pari-passu interest in the investment.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS
WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None,

ITEM 8A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS

AND PROCEDURES

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure based closely on the definition of
“disclosure controls and procedures” in Rule 13a-15(e). In
designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and
procedures, management recognized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
cantrol abjectives, and management necessarily was required
to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit
relationship of possible controls and procedures. Also, we
have investments in certain unconsolidated entities. As we do
not control these entities, our disclosure controls and
procedures with respect to such entities are necessarily
substantially more limited than those we maintain with
respect to our consolidated subsidiaries.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, we
carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded

that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as-

of the end of the period covered by this report.

MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining
adeguate internal contral over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f).
Under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006 based on the framework in Internal
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Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COS5Q). Based on that evaluation, we concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effective fas of
December 31, 2006,

|
Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20|06 has
been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report
which is included elsewhere herein. !

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER '
FINANCIAL REPORTING .
There have been no significant changes in our internal
control over financial reporting during the year ended
December 31, 2006 that has materially affected, or is '
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reports. i

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None. i




PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF
THE REGISTRANT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by Item 10 will be set forth in our
Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, prior
to April 30, 2006 (the “2007 Proxy Statement”), and is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The information required by ltem 11 will be set forth in the
2007 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein

by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by ltem 12 will be set forth

in the 2007 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein
by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by Item 13 will be set forth

in the 2007 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein
by reference.

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES

AND SERVICES

The information regarding principal accounting fees and
services and the audit committee's pre-approval policies
and procedures required by this Item 14 is incorporated

herein by reference to the 2007 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements
GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ... i e B3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 : 65

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and !
the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004 . ... i it i it i ana 66

]
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2006 and F
2005 and the period from Aprit 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31,2004 .....................cvieeee. )., BT

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yvears ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and |
|

the period from April 12, 2004 (formation) through December 31, 2004 . . ... | ...68

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .« . . . L e e e e e e : ...69
{a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules 1‘
|

Schedule IV-Mortgage Loans on Real Estate as of December 31,2006 .. ... ... . i R [

Schedules other than those listed are omitted as they are not applicable or the required or equivalent information has Been
included in the financial statements or notes thereto. !

(a)(3) Exhibits

See Index to Exhibits on following page
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit
No.

33

3.2

41

101

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

1010

Description

Articles of incorporation of the Company, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (No. 333-114673), declared effective by the Commission on July 27, 2004,

Bylaws of the Company, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
{No. 333-114673), declared effective by the Commission on July 27, 2004.

Specimen Common Stock Certificate, incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (No. 333-114673), declared effective by the Commission on July 27, 2004,

Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of GKK Capital LP, dated April 19, 2006,
incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated April 19, 2006, filed with the
Commission on April 20, 2006,

Form of Amended and Restated Management Agreement by and between the Company and GKK Manager LLC,
incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated April 19, 2006, filed with the
Commission on April 20, 2006.

Form of Amended and Restated Origination Agreement by and between the Company and SL Green Realty Corp.,
incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated April 19, 2006, filed with the
Commission on April 20, 2006.

Form of Amended and Restated Asset Servicing Agreement by and between GKK Manager LLC and SLG Gramercy
Services LLC, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated April 18, 2008, filed
with the Commission on April 20, 2006.

Form of Amended and Restated Qutsource Agreement by and between GKK Manager LLC and SLG Operating
Partnership, L..P, incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended March 31, 2006.

Form of Collateral Management Agreement by and between Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2005-1, Ltd., as issuer and
GKK Manager LLC, as collateral manager, incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2005,

Collateral Management Agreement, dated as of August 24, 2006, by and between Gramercy Real Estate CDO
2006-1, Ltd., as issuer and GKK Manager LLC, as collateral manager, incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2006.

Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of Qctober 13, 2006, by and among Gramercy
Warehouse Funding Il LLC, GKK Trading Warehouse H LLC and Goldman Sachs Mortgage Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 101 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated October 13, 2006, filed with the
Commission on October 19, 2006.

Annex | to Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of QOctober 13, 2006, by and among
Gramercy Warehouse Funding Il LLC, GKK Trading Warehouse |l LLC and Goldman Sachs Mortgage Company,
incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated October 13, 2006, filed with the
Commission on October 19, 2006.

Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of October 13, 2006, by and among Gramercy
Warehouse Funding | LLC, GKK Trading Warehouse | LLC, GKK 450 LEX LLC, and the additionat sellers from time to
time parties thereto, the buyers from time to time parties thereto, Wachovia Bank, National Association, as agent,
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10.41

1012

1013

10,14

1015

10,16

1017

1018

1019

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

9%

and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, as the sole lead arranger, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Cufrrent
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on October 19, 2006.

Form of Credit Agreement, by and between the Company and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-114673), declared effective by the
Commission on July 27, 2004,

Form of Indenture by and among Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2005-1, Ltd., as issuer, Gramercy Real Estate CDO
200%-1 LLC, as co-issuer, GKK Liquidity LLC, as advancing agent and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
trustee, paying agent, calculation agent, transfer agent, custodial securities intermediary, backup advancing agent,
notes registrar, incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-G for the fiscal quarter
ended June 30, 2005, '

Form of 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on |
Form S-11 (No. 333-114673), declared effective by the Commission on July 27, 2004,

Form of Gramercy Capital Corp. Director's Deferral Program, incorporated by reference to the Company’s qurterly

Report on Form 10-Q/A for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2005. t
!

Form of Gramercy Capital Corp. 2005 Long-Term Outperformance Program Award Agreement, incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Form 8-K, dated December 14, 2005, filed with the Commission on December 20, 2005.

Form of Employment Agreement by and between Hugh Hali and GKK Manager LLC, incorporated by reference to
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, :

Forrn of Employment Agreement by and between Robert R. Foley and GKK Manager LLC, incorporated by reference
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004,

Form of Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement by and between the Company and SL Green
Operating Partnership, L.P., incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K, dated April 19, 2006, filed \.Lvith

the Commission on April 20, 2006.

Form of Registration Rights Agreement, by and between various holders of the Company's common stock and the
Company. incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 8-K, dated December 9, 2004, filed with the

Commission on December 9, 2004, |

Form of Purchase Agreement, by and among the Company and various investors in the Company’s common stock,
incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K, dated December 3, 2004 filed with the Commission on
December 3, 2004. ‘

Form of Amended and Restated Trust Agreement by and among GKK Capital LP, as depositor, JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association, as property trustee, Chase Bank USA, National Association, as Delaware trustee, an‘.d the
administrative trustees named therein, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2005.

Form of Junior Subordinated Indenture between GKK Capital LP and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as
trustee, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
June 30, 2005. |

Form of Amended and Restated Trust Agreement among GKK Capital LP, as depositor, JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association, as property trustee, Chase Bank USA, National Association, as Delaware trustee, and the
administrative trustees named therein, incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-G
for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2005. [

Form of Junior Subordinated Indenture between GKK Capital LP and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as
trustee, incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2005.
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10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

211

231

241

31

31.2

321

32.2

Form of Amended and Restated Trust Agreement among GKK Capital LP, as depositor, JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association, as property trustee, Chase Bank USA, National Association, as Delaware trustee, and the
administrative trustees named therein, dated January 27, 20086, incorporated by reference to the Company’'s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

Form of Junior Subordinated Indenture between GKK Capital LP and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as
trustee, dated January 27, 2006, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

Indenture, dated as of August 24, 2008, by and among Gramercy Real Estate CDO 2006-1, Ltd,, as issuer, Gramercy
Real Estate CDO 2006-1 LLC, as co-issuer, GKK Liquidity LLC, as advancing agent, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as trustee, paying agent, calculation agent, transfer agent, custodial securities intermediary, backup
advancing agent and notes registrar, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2006.

Form of Underwriting Agreement among Gramercy Capital Corp., GKK Capital LP, GKK Manager LLC and Wachovia
Capital Markets, LLC, as underwriter, dated May 11, 2006, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K,
dated May 16, 2006, filed with the Commission on May 17, 2006.

Form of LLC Agreement, by and between GKK Madison Investment LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and SLG Madison Investment LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of SL Green Realty Corp., incorporated by reference to
the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2005.

Form of Sales Agreement, dated May 10, 2006, by and among the Company, GKK Capital LP, GKK Manager LLC and
Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended March 31, 2006.

Form of Sales Agreement, dated May 10, 20086, by and among the Company, GKK Capital LP and Merrill Lynch & Cc.,
Merrill Lynch, Pierce Fenner & Smith Incorporated, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal guarter ended March 31, 2006.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant, fited herewith.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, filed herewith.
Power of Attorney (included on signature page).

Certification by the Chief Executive Qfficer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed
herewith.

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed
herewith,

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES f

|
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly cau§ed this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunte duly authorized. '

|

|

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP.

Dated: March 1, 2007 By: /s/ Robert R. Foley

Robert R. Foley

Chief Financial Officer
|
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, the undersigned officers and directors of Gramercy Capital Corp. hereby

severally constitute Marc Holliday and Robert R. Foley, and each of them singly, cur true and lawful attorneys and with ;full
power to them, and each of them singly, to sign for us and in our names in the capacities indicated below, the Annual Report on
Form 10-K/A filed herewith and any and all amendments to said Annual Report on Form 10-K/A, and generally to do all such
things in our names and in our capacities as officers and directors to enable Gramercy Capital Corp. to comply with the
provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and all requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby
ratifying and confirming our signatures as they may be signed by our said attorneys, or any of them, to said Annual Report on
Form 10-K/A and any and all amendments thereto. i

4

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

|

l

/s/ Stephen L. Green Chairman of the Board of Directors March 1, 2007

Stephen L. Green i
[

Slgnatures Title Date

/s/ Marc Holliday Chief Executive Officer, President March 1, 2007
Marc Holliday and Director :

[
/s/ Robert R. Foley Chief Financial Officer March 1, 2007

i
Robert R, Foley

/s/ Hugh F. Hall Chief Operating Officer and Director March 1, 2007
I

Hugh Hall i

/s/ Ailan J. Baum Director March 1, 2007

Allan J. Baum

'
I
|

/s/ Jeffrey E. Kelter Director March 1, 2007
Jeffrey E. Kelter

I
|
/s/ Paul J. Konigsberg Director March 12007

Paul J. Konigsberg !

[
/s/ Charles 5. Laven Director March 1, 2007

Charles 5. Laven
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EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP.

ENTITY JURISDICTION
LT 24 -1 1 -1 I 8 T R Delaware
L] T = o 1= T+ 1+ T Delaware
Gramercy INVEStMENt TrUSt . it e e e Maryland
Gramercy Warehouse Funding FLLC .. ... ittt Delaware
Gramercy Warehouse Funding L LLC .. .. .. i Delaware
LT =T T2 I 9+ « T R Delaware

9

GRAMERCY CAPITAL CORP. 2006 Annual Report




EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent t0 the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form $-3 No. 333-126938 and No. 333-128013)
and in the refated Prospectuses and the Registration Statement (Form $-8 No. 333-121051) pertaining to the Gramercy ‘Capital
Corp. Equity Incentive Plan of our reports dated February 28, 2007 with respect to the consolidated financial statemer!ts and
schedule of Gramercy Capital Corp., Gramercy Capital Corp. management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal.control
over financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Gramercy Capital Corp., included in
this Annual Report (Form 10-K/A) for the year ended December 31, 2006.

/s/ Ernst and Young LLP

New York, New York
March 1, 2007
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EXHIBIT 311

CERTIFICATION

I, Marc Holliday, Chief Executive Officer, certify that:

1.

2,

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Gramercy Capital Corp. (the "registrant”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a 15(f) and 15(d)—15(f) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(by Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controis and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2007

/s/ Marc Holliday

Name: Marc Holliday
Title: Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert R. Foley, Chief Financial Officer, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Gramercy Capital Corp. (the “registrant”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial staternents, and other financial information included in this report, fairlyL
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as|of,
and for, the periods presented in this report:

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and rmaintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e}) and internal control over financial repor;ting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a 15(f) and 15(d)—15(f) for the registrant and have: |

(8) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared:

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally !
accepted accounting principles;

{c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurrecj!
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evatuation of internal contro!
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions): '

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. !

Date: March 1, 2007

/s/ Robert R. Foley

Name; Robert R. Foley
Title: Chief Financtal Officer
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EXHIBIT 321

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.5.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Gramercy Capital Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K/A as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report”), |, Marc Holliday, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9086 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d). as applicable, of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/s/ Marc Holliday

Name: Marc Holliday
Title: Chief Executive Officer

March 1, 2007
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 1
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 t

In connection with the Annual Report of Gramercy Capital Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K/A as filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report™), I, Robert R. Foley, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby
I

certify, pursuant to 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d}, as applicable, of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and \

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

f
!
!

/s/ Robert R. Foley .
Name: Reobert R. Foley '
I

|

|

|

\

Title: Chief Financial Officer

March 1, 2007

v

b
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New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, on
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Quarter Ended High Low Dividends
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December 31 $31.15 $24.70 $0.56

We submitted a Section 12(a) CEO Certification to the NYSE in 2006, In addition, we have filed with
the SEC the CEQ/CFO certification required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as an exhibit
to our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 20086.
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